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ABOUT US






AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

about us !

THE AUTHORITY

Profile

Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago (‘the Authority”) is a statutory body
established by the Airports Authority Act, no 49 of 1979. It falls under the
portfolio of the Ministry of Transport. '

The mandate of the Authority is to develop and manage its airport estates,
including the development, maintenance and improvement of its facilities, so as

to ensure the availability of efficient, secure and safe aviation services as well as

commercial viability.

The islands’ two international airports, Piarco International Airport, Trinidad and
ANR Robinson International Airport, Crown Point, Tobago, are managed and

operated by the Authority.

The Authority’s strategic focus continues to be one of delivering high quality
customer service and airside facilities. Whilst the existing systems and
infrastructure at both Piarco and Crown Point are being upgraded, the AATT is

also involved in bringing runway and airside facilities to international standards.

Vision Core Values

To be the leader of diverse and ¢ Professionalism & Integrity
innovative aviation driven business in . Respect

the region. o Optimizing opportunities

e Diversity

Mission ¢ Understanding our Business

« Customer Centric

Committed to being customer centric, » Transparency & Accountability
while stimulating innovation and ¢« Innovation
economic growth in the aviation e Valuing and Embracing People

business. * Equality
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AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Competitive Statement

Our airports are strategically located in an ideal two-in-one destination for business and pleasure. We
pride ourselves in the skills of our people, our long standing safety record and our commitment to
innovate business development.

Critical Success Factors

* Delivery of quality services and customer care

* Properly qualified, competent staff complimented with the appropriate resources

* Proactive, fully networked and technologically advanced security, business and safety systems
e Improved development and maintained infrastructure

¢ Quality internal operational systems & business processes

e Efficient, effective and transparent financial system and processes

* Maximizing opportunities for development of non-aeronautical revenues

¢ Innovative financial mobilization, project preparation and implementation.

Strategic Goals
The following strategic goals will be pursued by the Authority:

Core Business

Goal 1 Improve Infrastructure and ensure operational efficiency/ performance on airport estates to
facilitate and attract new business.

Business Development/ Resource Mobilisation
Goal2 Maximise aeronautical and non-aeronautical revenue through superior business processes,
systems, tools and people.

Customer service/ stakeholder relations (service delivery excellence)

Goal 3 Achieve excellence in customer service and stakeholder relations.

Internal Business processes and systems
Goal4 Upgrade airport safety, security and operations to the highest standards through enhanced
systems and processes.

Learning and growth environment

Goal5 Ensure the highest and most transparent and effective governance system.

Goal 6 Continuous improvement by developing strategic human resource management system and
processes leading to the transformation to a performance driven culture.
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AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Strategy Map

Vision:
To be the leader of diverse and innovative
aviation business in the region

Improve infrastructure and ensure operational efficienc y/Pperformance on Airport Estates to facilitate and attract new business

. 1 Operational Initiatives S. Departure Lounge at PIA for Tobago
Core Business 2.ANR Robinson Tobago upgrade 6. Multi-storey carpark
3.Security Checkpoint 7.Improve infrastructure on Airport Estates

4 Taxiway 8. Improved maintenance and planned upgrading systems and practice

Business Development/
Resource Mobilization-

Management
ST S SR 1
Achieve excellence in customer service and stakeholder relations
: 1.Create an airport council 4. Improved and more structured relationship with immediate
Customer SEW"':E/ 2 Improved industrial relations (Staff, Union, Government) community, tenants etc
Stakeholder Relations 3.Improved and more targeted internal/external 5. Strengthen focused stakeholder relations capabilities (Civil Aviation
communication capability and practice Regulations, Air Guard, Airlines et
Upgrade Airport Safety, Security, and Operations to the highest standards through enhanced sys ems ana
. 1.5treamline standards (ISO, MQS, performance standards) . Integrated Reporting Systems e.g. Point of Sales
Internal Business 2.Compliance with all regulatory bodies 6. Emergency preparedness e.g natural, manmade =~
Processes & Systems 3.Environmental compliance > 7.Improve Business Continuity Planning and Implementation
4.Continue Risk Assessments processes and practices 8. More effective deployment of intelligence and ICT throughout our

‘systemsand processes.

Ensure the highest and most transparent and effective Continuous Improvement by developing Strategic Human
corporate governance system Resource Management System and Processes leading to a
performance-driven culture

1.Review and update governance policies that strengthen
transparency, honesty, accountability, sustainability, social  1Build an aligned Performance Management System
responsibility etc 2 Customer-centric Organization
2.Revise and further develop the legal framework for 3.Develop Culture Change/Transformation plans to move AATT
corporate governance of AATT towards a perfoermance-driven culture
4.Improve the Training and Development and Succession Planning
system and processes
5.Improve the Reward and Recognition System
6.Build and strengthen organizational systems and capability

Learning & Growth

Professionalism & Integrity, Respect,.Oq_ﬁmizing Opportunities, Diversity,

Core Values (PRODUCTIVE):  Understanding our Business, Customer Centric, Transparency & Accountability, Innovation,
Valuing & Embracing People and Equality
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AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Organisational Structure

Structure and Function

The Authority is divided into six (6) Divisions as follows:

* General Manager Office

e Corporate Services

e Estate Planning and Business Development

¢ Airport Operations - Piarco International Airport

e Airport Operations - ANR Robinson International Airport
s Security

The General Manager reports to the Board of Directors. The Office of the General Manager is
responsible for the Audit Department, Communications Department and Legal Department.

The Corporate Services Division is the key service support Division of the Authority and is responsible
for ensuring that the core departments under this division are provided with the institutional
capability, infrastructure and administrative support services needed to perform their functions
effectively and efficiently. This Division consists of the following departments:

* Finance

* Human Resources

¢ Information and Records

e Legal

¢ Administration and Logistics

e Aviation Training Centre

The Estates Planning and Business Development Division is responsible for ensuring the continuous
development of the Authority's estate into an economically viable commercial business centre. This
Division is also responsible for researching, sourcing, identifying and implementing projects to make
maximum commercial use of all available land, buildings or space on the estate. The Division consists of
the following departments

¢ Marketing

« Engineering

« Property

¢ Project Management

The Airport Operations at the Piarco International Airport and the ANR Robinson International Airport
are primarily responsible for ensuring the safe, efficient and continuous use of airport runways,
taxiways and terminal buildings and that all activities are carried out in accordance with internationally
established standards. Some activities include security and airport management and emergency

preparedness co-ordination.

The Security Division is responsible for coordinating and implementing security mechanisms according
to international standards and regulations. This Division is also responsible for passengers and staff
screening, carrying out identification and vehicle checks, vehicular traffic control and law enforcement.






AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Organisational Structure

General Manager

Corporate Secretary

Internal Auditor  ——

DGM Estates Planning
and Business

DGM Operations-ANR DGM Corporate

DGM Operations-Piarco : :
x : Robinson International . ;
International Airport s Services /Legal Advisor Development
Maﬁégef!—‘écflitks, i Manager Airport Human R
Maintenance Operations - Resource F’!"’.P‘?FFY_.MBMQET
Manager
~ Senior
e T, " Legal — —L
Manager Aerodrome Manager Administrative = Counsel s e B g
Safety Services ‘ : Marketing Manager
: . i ‘Manager ——
— Information
Records
. PN 3 ) | Manager | :
Mar_:a_ge_r perations .Manager Facilities Aviation | Manager Projects
Services Maintenance | * Training | £
' Centre )
Manager
- ’ ; ~—Administration = : 7
Manager Airport ~and Logistics Manager Engineering
Quality Assurance =S ‘[ Services
Financial “
Controller
Protocol and
— Facilitation
Coordinator
Manager |
Information —
Technology
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AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Performance Accomplishments

Core Business

Infrastructural Works at ANRRIA
At the ANR Robinson International Airport (ANRRIA), there were major rehabilitation works and upgrades to the Terminal
infrastructure. Noteworthy improvements included new conveyor belts and the creation of a facility for a first class VIP
Lounge.

Signature Flight Support Launch

Signature Flight Support's services were officially launched at a cocktail function that was held at the south Terminal at
the Piarco International Airport on Thursday 27th April 2017. Signature is partnering with Airports Authority of Trinidad
and Tobago (“the Authority”) to manage the operations at the Executive Jet Centre and provide support for general
aviation services.

Launch of Piarco AeroPark

In 2017, the Piarco AeroPark was formally launched. The Piarco AeroPark follows the airport city concept - a new trend in
airport development that integrates an urban structure into the airport environment and allows for the expansion of
opportunities to earn non-aeronautical revenue; that is revenue which is not directly linked to aviation services. The
Piarco AeroPark will considerably bolster the revenue of the Authority and will also emerge as a site that contributes to
Trinidad and Tobago's burgeoning non-energy economic development through attracting investment and the creation of
new jobs in retail, manufacturing, and aviation related operations like cargo and aircraft repair.

Attendance at Route Conference
In 2017, a team of AATT executives attended the annual Routes Americas event, in Las Vegas, Nevada as part of a holistic

strategy towards air service development.

Thomas Cook's Inaugural Flight

In November 2017, the Authority welcomed the inaugural flight of Thomas Cook airlines to the ANR Robinson
International Airport from London. The newest addition to the airlines travelling to Tobago was set to boost visitor
arrivals from the European market to Tobago.

Customer Service/ Stakeholder Relations

Strategic Goal 3: Achieve excellence in customer service and stakeholder relations.

Skytrax Awards

Piarco International Airport placed first in the Caribbean in the Best Afrport Staff category of the Skytrax awards and
placed second in the category Best Airport Staff in Central America. The Piarco International Airport was also ranked 4th
Best Airport in the Caribbean and Central America region.
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AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Performance Accomplishments (cont'd)

Launch of the Ad Whisperer

In June 2017, the Ad Whisperer facility was installed in the Check-in Concourse at Piarco International Airport. The Ad
Whisperer is an audio innovation that provides an effective means of projecting sound in a highly directional manner. The
technology is able to beam messages to a specific 'listening zone'. Customers and airport users are able to hear messages
in specific places about directional instructions, travel tips, check-in process reminders and so forth.

The Opening of New Food Offerings at PIA

The opening of the Heroes’ restaurant and the Maria's bakery in the International Departure Lounge, new restaurant
offerings within the terminal building at Piarco International Airport, introduced greater variety and increase food
options for passengers, airport workers and airport users.

Airport Health and Safety Exhibition
The Authority held a Health and Safety Exhibition in the Atrium with a focus on the theme ‘Optimisation of the collection
and use of data’ in celebration of World Day for Health and Safety at Work 2017.

Launch of the Atrium

In August 2017, the Authority launched ‘The Atrium’, a sophisticated new service, a digital experience and comfortable
pubic airport lounge. The Atrium is a multifunctional platform, complete with charging stations and comfortable airport
seating.

Internal Business Processes and Systems

Strategic Goal 4:

h enhanced sys 2

Staging of Successful Emergency Drills
An Emergency Drill was successfully staged at Piarco International Airport and a Table top Exercise was held at ANR
Robinson International Airport.

Collaboration with Counter Trafficking Unit

Collaboration with the Counter Trafficking Unit of the Ministry of National Security for training and sensitisation of
airport staff with respect to identifying and stopping Human Trafficking at airports and the installation of airport signage
to increase public awareness.

Learning and Growth Environment

Strategic Goal 5: Ensure the highest and most 't[ans_parérit;a'nd effective governance system
Strategic Goal 6: ‘Continuous improvement by developing strategic human resource
management system and processes leading to the transformation to a
performance driven culture.
New Uniforms for Staff

The Authority formally launched new uniforms for the Customer Service Representatives and the employees in the
Maintenance / Task Force Department.

Launch of AATT Recommended Course at ACI

The Authority made recommendations to Airports Council International for the development and design of a new course
for airports internationally, the Aeronautical Studies and Risk Assessment Course.- ACI adopted this course and the
inaugural course was held at the Aviation Training Centre at the Piarco International Airport in 2017.

*
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REPORT OF THE AUDITOR GENERAL OF THE REPUBLIC OF TRINIDAD AND
TOBAGO ONTHE AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 315T DECEMBER 2017

OPINION

The accompanying Financial Statements of the Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago
for the year ended 31 December 2017 have been audited. The statements as set out on pages 2
to 32 comprise a Statement of Financial Position as at 31 December 2017, a Statement of Profit
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31% December 2017, a Statement
of Changes in Equity as at 31 December 201 7, and a Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31% December 2017 and Notes to the F inancial Statements numbered 1 to 23.

2. In my opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the financial position of the Alrports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago as at 31
December 2017 and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.

BASIS FOR OPINION

3. The audit was conducted in accordance with the principles and concepts of International
Standards of Supreme Audit Institutions (ISSATs). The Auditor General’s responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Financial Statements section of this report. The Auditor General is independent of the Airports
Authority of Trinidad and Tobago in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant
to the audit of the financial statements and other ethical responsibilities have been fulfiiled in
accordance with these requirements. It is my view that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for the above audit opinion.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF MANAGEMENT AND THOSE _CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. Management of the Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago (the Authority) is
responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with the Intemational Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud Or error.

5 In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the
Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends
to liquidate the Authority or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but %o do so.






© Evaluates the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

10.  The Auditor General communicates with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant andit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that were identified during the audit.

SUBMISSION OF REPORT

11. This Report is being submitted to the Speaker of the House of Representatives, the
President of the Senate and the Minister of Finance in accordance with the requirements of
sections 116 and 119 of the Constitution of the Republic of Trinidad and Tobago.

LﬁLY PUJADAS

AUDITOR GENERAL

315T JANUARY 2022
PORT OF SPAIN
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AIRPORTS ADMINISTRATION CENTRE TEL: 1 (BBE) BES-AATT (2288) PIARCO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT

SOUTH TERMINAL 1 (868) 668-4101-3 PIARCO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT (ADMINISTRATION CENTRE)
PIARCO INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT 1 (868) 639-8547, 639-8389 AN.R. RCBINSON INTERNATIONAL AIRPORT
GOLDEN GROVE ROAD FAX: 1 (868) 669-4705
FIARCO VEBSITE: www._inlgirports.com

Leader of Diverse and Innovarve Aviation Business

Airports
Authority

OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Statement of Management Responsibilities

Management is responsible for the following:

* Preparing and fairly presenting the accompanying financial statements of Airport Authority
of Trinidad and Tobago (The Authority), which com prise the statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2017, the statements of profit or loss or other comprehensive income,
changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information;

* Ensuring that The Authority keeps proper accounting records;
e Selecting appropriate accounting policies and applying them in a consistent manner;

* Implementing, monitoring and evaluating the system of internal control that assures security
of The Authority’s assets, detection/prevention of fraud, and the achievement of Authority

operational efficiencies;
¢ Ensuring that the system of intemal control operated effectively during the reporting period:

e Producing reliable financial reporting that comply with laws and regulations, including the
Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago Act Chap. 49:02; and

e Using reasonable and prudent judgement in the determination of estimates.

In preparing these audited financial statements, management utilised the International Financial
Reporting Standards, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and adopted
by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Trinidad and Tobago. Where International Financial
Reporting Standards presented alternative accounting treatments, management chose those
considered most appropriate in the circumstances.

Nothing has come to the attention of management to indicate that The Authority will not remain
a going concern for the next twelve months from the reporting date; or up to the date the
accompanying financial statements have been authorised for issue, if later.

Management affirms that it has carried out its responsibilities as outlined above.

General Manager (Ag Financial Controlier
Date: 23 September 2021 Date: 23 September 2021

Mz, James Philbert (Depury Chairman) Ms. Adana Bain, Ms. Savitree Seepersad, Mr. Mark Romany,
Ms, Dhanmartee Ramdarh, Mr. Christopher Alcazar, Dr. Jamil Sulaimari, Mr. Sean Quong Sing



Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Statement of Financial Position
(Presented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

As at
31 December
Notes 2017 2016
$’000 $'000
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 5 1,535,714 1,648,161
Held-to-maturity investment 6 -- 248,593
Defarred taxation asset 7 140,665 156,636
1,676,379 2,055,390
Current assets
Inventories 9,471 9,573
Trade and other receivables 8 100,765 98,237
Held-to-maturity investment 6 274,553 -
Restricted cash 9 56,258 56,204
Cash and cash equivalents 293,928 279,646
734,975 443,660
Total assets 2.411,354 2.499.050
Equity and liabilities
Capital and reserves
Capital fund 10 4,973,666 4,792,166
Accumulated deficit (3.673,754) (3,540,705)
Total equity 1,299,912 1,251,461
Non-current liabilitias
Borrowings 11 144,384 546,837
Deferred taxation liability 7 140,665 156,636
Deferred liability 12 11,000 11,000
Retirement benefit obligation 13 118.154 117.027
414,203 831,500
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 194,933 199,893
Provisions for other liabilities 15 89,241 83,377
Borrowings an 413.065 132,819
697.239 416,089
Total liabilities 1.111.442 1,247.589
Total equity and liabilities A e ) /'. 2.411.354 2.499.050

The notes on pages 6 to 32 are an integral part of these financial statements.

On September 23, 2021, the Board Members of Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago authorised
these financial statements for issue.

J "// o
= ees “’ZW Board Member @‘q_ﬁw—u) Board Member

(2)




Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
{Presanted in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Doflars}

Year ended
31 Decembher
Notes 2017 2016
$'000 $'000
Revenue
Aerodromsa 263,225 287,312
Rental 71,797 76,770
Parking 21,577 21,5694
Other 18 34,640 31.681
391,23¢ 417,357
Expenses
Ovperating 17 (189,307) (187,934}
Administrative 17 (128,081} (137,948}
Depreclation 17 (144,352) (133,245)
Finance cosis 17 {61,175} (69,255)
{522 805} (528,382)
Loss before faxation (131,858) {111,025)
Taxation 19 {2,997) 4755
Loss for the year {134,653) {108,270}
Other comprehensive income
ftems that wil not be reclassifiad fo profit or loss
Actuarial gain on retirament benefit obligation 13 2,139 34,386
Taxation on actuarlal gain 7 {535} {8,597)
Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of taxation 1,604 25,789
Total comprehensive loss for the year (133,049) (80,481)

The notes on pages 6 to 32 arz an integral part of these financial statements.
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Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Statement of Changes in Equity

{Presented in Thousands of Trinfdad and Tobago Dollars)

Balance as at 1 January 2016

Capital contributions
Governmeant subverttions

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Balance as at 31 December 2816
Balance as at 1 January 2017

Capital contributions
Government subventions

Total comprehensive loss for the year

Balance as at 31 December 2017

Capital Accumutated Total
fund deficit aquity
$'000 $'000 $°000

4,590,285 (3,480,224} 1,130,081
201,881 - 201,881

- (60,481} (80,481)
4792166 {3.540,705) 1.251.461
4,782,166 (3,540,705) 1,251,461

181,600 - 181,500

— (133,049) (133,048)

4,873.866 (3,673.754) 1,289.912

The notes onh pages 6 to 32 are an integral part of these financial statements,

{4)



Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Statement of Cash Flows
{Presented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollar)

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the vear bafore taxation

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Non-cash adjustment to preperty, plant and equipment
Non-cash retirement benefit expense
Finance costs
Finance Income

Operating profit before working capital changes

Decrease in Inventories

Incraase in trade and other receivables

Decrease in trade and other payables
Increase/{decrease) in provisions for other liakilties

Cash generated from operations
Taxatlon paid

interest received
tnterest paid

Cash (used in)/generated from operating acfivities
Cash flows from investing activities
Increase in restricted cash

Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Furchase of property, plant and equipment

Cash used in Investing activities
Cash flows from financing actlvities

Repayment of borrowings
Capiltal contributions

Cash provided hy financing activities

Net Increase in cash and cash squivalents
Cash and cash equivalents af beginning of vear
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Represented by:

Cash at bank and on hand
Shoit term deposits

Year ended
31 Decomber
2017 2016
$'000 000
(131,6586) (111,025}
144,352 133,245
27 34
- 24_\64‘4
3,265 8,785
61,175 65,255
- {27,561} {24.703)
40,603 101,218
102 034
{2,528) 2,117
{4,960} {11,258)
5,864 {450)
48,081 88,324
{3,632) {3,841y
2,601 2,013
(61,175) {69,256)
{14,025) 17.241
(54) (69)
52 -
{30,984) [62.931)
{30,956) (63.000)
(122,207) (125,776)
181,500 201,881
58,293 76,105
14,282 30,348
279,646 249,300
293,928 278 646
24,730 83,218
269,158 216,428
202,928 279,846

. The notes on pages 6 to 32 are an Integral part of these finariclg) statements.

(5)



Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago
Notes to the Financial Statements

31 December 2017
(Presented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

1

Incerporation and principal activity

Alrports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago (The Authority) was incorporated in the Republic of
Trinidad and Tobago under the Alrporis Autherity of Trinidad and Tobago Act No. 48 of 1979, By
Act No. 25 of 1987, the name of The Authority was changed from Alrports Authority to Alrports
Authority of Trinidad and Tobago. By Act No. 28 of 1993, the role and functions were expanded.
The Act was further amended by Act #30 of 2007.

The ragistered office of The Authorily Is located at North Bank Road, Piarco. The principal activity
of The Authority is to develop and manage the business of the airports of the Republic of Trinidad
and Tobago, including the development, maintenarice and/or impravement of the facllifies in & cost-
effactive manner, so as to ensure the avallabiflly of efficient, secure and safe avlation services to
the public at all times, as well as to ensure commercial viability.

Act No. 28 of 1893 also gave The Authority powers to form and to hold shares in companies and
joint ventures “or the purpose of Tacilitating the proper discharge of its functions”.

Currently, The Authority manages the Piarco International Airport and the Arthur Napolecn
Raymond Rebinson Airport (formerly Crown Polnt International Airport).

Summary of significant accounting policles

The principal accounting policles applied In the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These bolicles have been consistenty applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

a.  Basis of preparation

The financia! statements of The Authority have been prepared in accardance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRS Interpretations Commitiee -
{IFRS IC) interpretations applicable to entifies reporting under IFRS. The financial statements
have been prepared under the historical cost convention.

The preparation of flnanclal statements In conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. li also requires management to exercise its judgement in the
process of applying The Authority's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree
of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statemenis are disclosad In Nots 4.

D. Going concerh

Al 31 December 2017, The Authority incurred a foss for the year and had a significant
ascumulated deflcit.

The Government of the Republic of Trinidad and Tchago (BORTT) has guaranteed all of The
Authority's borrowings (Note 11) and provides financlal support to The Authority by way of
annual budgetary allocations and transfers of funds fo The Authority for repayments of
guaranteed loans, Thesae amounts are not repaid by The Autherity to GORTT.

(6)



Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Financial Statements (continiied)
31 December 2017
(Presented In Thousands of Trinidad antd Tobago Dollars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

b,

Golng concem (continusd)

For the year ended 31 December 2017, GORTT has indicated that they will not call upon The
Authority to repay any amounts transferred to them in the current or pricr years. These
amounts have been reflected as the Gapital Fund of The Authority, GORTT has also
confirmed that they will continue to transfer funds to The Autherity as the loan repayment
obligations fall due,

GORTT recently presented its National Budget for the 2021 financlal year and reconfirmed its
commitment to centinue supporting The Authority via transfer of funds for payment of the
guaranteed [oans as noted above,

On the basis of the continued support from GORTT, management Is satisfied with the
preparation of these financial statements on the going ¢oncern basis.

Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
()  New siandards, amendments and inferpretations adopted by The Authority

There were no new standards, amendments and Inferpretations which are effective for
the financlal year beginning on 1 January 2017 which are matarial to The Authority.

(i)  New slandards, amendments and interpretations not yet adoptad

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and interpretations are
effeciive for annual perlods beginning after 1 January 2017, and have not been applied
In preparing these findncial statements. None of these Is expected to have a significant
effect on the financlal statements of The Autherity, except the following set out below:

« IFRS 9, Financial instruments’, addrassas the classification, measurement and
recognition of financlal assets and financlal liabillities. The complete version of IFRS
S was Issued in July 2014. it replaces the guidance in I1AS 39 that relates to the
classification and measurament of financial insiruments. IFRS 9 retains but
simplifies the mixed measurement madel and estabiishes three primary
measurement categories for financlal assets: amorfised cost, fair value through
OCI and fair value through P&L. The basis of classification depends on the entity's
business model and the coniractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.
investments in equity instrumenis are required fo be measurad at fair value through
profit ar foss with the Irrevocable option at inception to present changes In fair
value in OCI not recyeling. There Is now a new expected credit losses model that
replaces the incusred loss impairmeni model used in 1AS 39. For financial liabilities
there were no changes fo classification and measurement except for the
recognition of changss in own cradit risk in other comprehensive income, for
liabilities designated at falr value through profit or loss. The standard Is effective for
accounting periods beginning or or after 1 January 2018. Early adoption is
permitied. The Authority Is assessing the impact of IFRS ©.

{7)
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Notes fo the Financial Statements (continued)
31 December 2017
{Presented in Thousands of Trinfdad and Tobago Doliars)

2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

¢.  Changes in accounting policy and disclosures {continued)

(i} New standards, amendments and inferpretations not yef adopted (contintied)

IFRS 15, ‘Ravenue from contracts with customers’ deals with revenue recognition
and establishes principles for reporting useful information to users of financial
statemnents about the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows arising from an enilty's contracts with custamers, Revenue is recognised
when a customer obtains control of a good or service and thus has the abllity to
direct the use and obtain the benefits from the good or service. The standard
replaces IAS 18 ‘Revenus’ and IAS 11 ‘Conslruction contracts’ and related
interpretations. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2018 and earlier application is permitted. The Authorlty is assessing the
impact of IFRS 15.

I[FRS 16 ‘f.eases’ replaces the current guidance in 1AS 17 and is a far-reaching
change in accounting by lessees in particular, Under IAS 17, lessees were required
to rake a distinction between a finance lease (on balance shest) and an operating
lease {off balance sheet). IFRS 16 how requires lessees to recognise a lease
lability reflecting future lease payments and a 'right-of-use asset’ for virtually all
lsase contracts, The IASB has included an optional exemption for cartain short-
term leases and leases of low-valus assels; howevar, this exemption can only be
applled by lessees. For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. However,
as the IASB has updated the guidance on the definition of a lease (as well as the
guidance on the combination and separation of contracts), lessors will also be
affected by the new standard. At the very leasf, the new accounting model for
lessees is expected fo impact negotiations between lessors and lessees, Under
IFRS 186, a conftract Is, or contains, a lease If the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a pericd of time in exchange for
conslderation, The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2019 and earlier application is permitted. The Authority is assessing the
impact of IFRS 16.

There are no other IFRSs or IFRIG interpretations that are not yet effective that would be
expectad to have a material impact on The Authority.

(8)
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Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

d.

Foreign currency translation
(i} Functlonal and presentation currency

ltems included In the financial siatements of The Authority are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which The Authority operates (‘the
inctional currency’). The financial statements are presented in Trinidad and Tobago
Doltars, which Is The Authority's functional and presentation currency.

{iy  Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the
exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are
re-measured. Forelgn exchange galns and losses resulting from the setflement of such
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets
and liabilities denominatad in foreign currencies are recognised in the Statement of
Profit or Loss and Other Comprehsnsive Income within ‘Gperating expensss’,

Property, plant and squipment

items of property, ptant and equipment are measured initially at cost. Property, plant and
equipment conttibuted to The Authority by GORTT are measured Inftially at cost by reference
to fair market values at the date of acquisition based on valuations conducted by independent
professicnal valuators. Subsequently, all property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation.

Historical cost includes expenditurs that is directly attributable to the acqulsition of the asset,
The cost of self-constructed assets Includes the cost of materials and direct labour, any other
costs dirsotly atfributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its Intended uss, and
the costs of dismantling and removing the items and restoring the site on which they ars
located. Furchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment Is
capitalised as part of that equipment. Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it Is probable that
fuiure economic benefits associatad with the item will flow to The Authority and the cost of
the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised.

All other repairs and maintsnance are charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Incoms within ‘Operating expenses’ during the financlal period In which they
are incurred.

Construction-in-progress represents work of a capital nature carried out on land and
buildings, the construction of which had not yst been compisted as at year-end.

Land and construction-In-progress are not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is
calculated using the straight-line methed to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings - &% Runways/aprons/pavemerts - 4%
Car parks - 20% Plant and machinary - 5%
Roads - 7% Office furnifure and fixtures - 15%
Fencing - 10% CamputerfOffice squipment - 265%
Motor vehlcles - 25% Specially equipment - 11%

(9)
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2 Summary of stghificant accounting policies {continuad}

8.

Properfy, plant and equipment {cenfintied)

The assets’ residud values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, al the
end of each repcrfing perfod.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the
assel’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2 f.).

Gains and losses on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment are determined by
comparing the proceeds from disposal with the carrying amount of proparty, plant and
equipment and are recognised net within “Other revenue’ In the Statement of Prefit or Loss
and Other Comprehensive income,

Impairment of non-financial assefs

Asssis that are subject to depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
Impairment [oss is recognised for the amount by which the assst’s carrying amount exceeds
Iis recoverables amount. The recoverable amount is ths higher of an asset's falr value less
costs of dispesal and valus In use. For the purpeses of assessing Impairment, assets are
grouped at the lowest levels for which there are largely indepsndent cash Inflows {cash-
generating uniis). Prior impairments of nen-fiinancial assets ars reviewed for pessible reversal
at each reporting date.

Financial assets
()  Classification

The Authority classifies its financial assats in the category ‘Loans and receivables'. The
classification depends on the purpose for which ths financlal assefs were acquired.
Management determines the classification of lts financial assets at initial recognition,

Loans and recsivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable
payments that are not guoted in an active market. They are Included In current asssis,
except for maturitles greater than 12 months afier the end of the reporting period.
These are classified as non-current assets, The Authority's loans and receivables
comprise 'Held-to-maturlty investment’ (Note 6), Trade and other receivables’ (Note 8),
‘Restricted cash’ (Note 9} and ‘Cash and cash equivalents’ in the Statement of
Financial Position.

(ity Recognition and measurement

Regutar purchases and sales of financial assefs are recognised on the trade-date - the
date on which The Authorlty commits to purchase or sell the asset, Financial assets are
derecognlsed when the rights 1o receive cash flows from the Investments have explred
or have besn transferred and The Authority has transferred substantially all risks and
rewards of ownership. Leans and recslvables are subsequently carried at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Interest on loans and recslvables is
racognised within ‘Other revenue’ In the Statement of Profit or Loss and Cther
Comprehensive ncome.
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2

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

g

h.

Financial essets (confinued)

(i)

Cifsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement
of Financlal Positien when there is a fegally enforceabls right to offset the recognised
amounts and there [s an Intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset and setils
the liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingsnt on
future events and must be enforceabls in the normal course of business.

tmpairment

The Authority assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or group of financial assets s impalred. A financial asset
or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if
there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that
oceurred after the Initial recognition of the asset {a loss event') and that loss event {or
svents} has an Impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financlal asset or group
of financial assets that can be rellably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may Include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors
fs experiencing significant financial difficulty, defauit or delinguency in interest or
principal payments, the probabllity that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that thers is 2 measurable
decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes In arrears or economic
conditions that correlate with defaulls.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the
differerice between the asset's carrying amount and the present value of estimaied
future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred)
discounted at the financial asset's origlnal effective Interest rate, The carrying amount
of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised In the Statement of
Prefit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. If a loan or held-to-maturity
investment has a variabte interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss Is the current effective Interest rate defermined under the contract. As a practical
expedient, The Authority may measure impairment an the basis of an Instrument’s fair
value using an observable markst price,

If, in @ subsequent period, the amount of the Impairment loss decreases and the
decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impalrment was
recognised (such as an Improvement in the debtor's credit rating), the reversal of the
previously recognised Impairment loss is recognised In the Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprehensivs Income,

Invenicries

Inventories are measured at the Jower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of
tnventoriss is based on the average cost, and Includes expanditure incurred in acquiring the
inventories and other casts inctirred in bringing them to their existing location and condition.

(1)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Trade receivebles

Trade recelvables are ameounts due from customers for sarvices performed in the ordinary
course of business. If callection Is expected In one year or less (or in the normal operating
cycle of the buslness If longer), they are classified as current assels. If not, they are
presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amoriised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment,

Cash and cash equivalents

In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits
held at calt with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of
three months or [aes and bank overdrafis. In the Statemaent of Flnancial Pasition, bank
overdrafis are shown within borrowings in current lisbilities,

Reslricted cash

Restricted cash Includes deposits at banks which are restricted in such a manner that they
are not avaitable to meet short-lerm cash commitments. These funds are not included as
‘Cash and cash equivalents’ in the Statement of Cash Flows.

Capital fund

Contributions from GORTT which are non-reciprocal in nature are included in the capital
fund.

Trade payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired In the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current Habliities
if payment s due within one year or less {or in the normal operating cycle of the business if
longer). If not, thay are presented as non-current labilities.

Trade payzbles are recognised Initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest methad,

Borrewings

Borrowings ere recognised initially at fair value, net of transastion costs Incurred. Borrowings
ara subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of
transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised In the Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comprenensive lncome aver the period of the borrawings using the effective
interest method.

Fees paid on the ostablishment of loan facilities are recognised as transaction costs of the
loan to the extent that it [s probable that some or afl of the facility will be drawn down, In this
case, the fee fs deferred until the draw-down oocurs. To the extent there [s no evidence that it
is probable that some or ali of ths facillty will be drawn down, the fee Is capitalised as a pre-
payment for liquidity services and amortised over the pericd of the facllity to which it relates.
(12)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies {continued)

0.

Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necesserily take a substantial period of
titme fo get ready for their intended use or sele, are added to the cost of those assets, unti
such fime as the assets are substantially ready for thelr infended uge or sale,

All other borrowing costs are recognised In the Statement of Profit or Loss and Qther
Comprehenslive Income in the period in which they are Incurred.

Current and defarred income taxes

The taxation expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax Is recognised in
profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates 1o ftems recoghised in other comprehensive
income or directly In equity, In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive
incoms or directly in equity, respectively,

The current income tax charge is caloulated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or
substantively enacted at the Statement of Financial Position datle in the country whete The
Authority operates and generates taxable income — Trinldad and Tobago. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with raspect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where
appropriate on the basis of amounis expected to be pald fo the tax authcritles.

Dsferrad incomne tax is recognised on temporary differences arising betwsen the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and thelr carrying amounts in the financial statements, Deferred income
tax Is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted
by the Statement of Financlal Position date and are expected to apply when the related
deferred income tax asset Is reallsed or the deferred income tax liability [s settled.

Deferred Income tax assels are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future
taxabie profit will be avallable against which the temporary differsnces can be utilised.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there iz g legally enforceable right
fo offset current tax assets against current tax fiabllites and when the deferred income taxes
assets and labilities relate fo Income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on efther the
sarme taxable entity or where there is an Intentlon to settle the balances on a net basls,

Employee benefils
() Rstirsment banefit obligations

The Authority operates a defined benefit pension plan ‘The Airports Authority Pension
Fund Plan’ (the Plan), the asasts of which are held in separate frustes~-administared
funds. The Plan is funded by payments from employses and by The Authority, taking
account of the recommendations of independent qualified actuaries.

The Authority's net obligatiors in respact of the Plan is calculated by estimating the
amount of future benefit that employees have earned In refurn for thelr service in the
current and prior perfods; that benefit is discounted to datermine its present value and
the fair value of any plan assets are deducted.

(13)
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2 Summary of significant accounting peficies (continued)

q.  Employee benefils {coniinued)

{i

(i)

Retirament benafit obligations {continued)

The discount rate Js the yield at the reporting date on GORTT bends that have maturity
dates approximaling the terms of The Autharity's obligations and that denominated in
tha same currency In which the benefits are expected to be paid.

A full valuation is performed every three years by a qualified Actuary using the
projected unit credit method, In the intervening period the Actuary exfrapolates the
calculation to the end of each reporting period. The last full valuation of the plan was
conducted as at 31 December 2017 which revealed a past service deflcit of $66.5m (31
Decernber 2014 - defickt of $36.4m). The next valuation report is due as at 31
December 2020,

The current sarvice cost of the Plan, recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income within ‘Administrative expenses’, except where included
i the cost of an asset, reflects the increase in the defined benefit obligation resulting
from employes service in the current year, benefit changes curtaiiments and
setllements.

Past-service costs are recognised Immediately in income.

The net interest cost is calculated by applylng the discount rate to the net balance of
the defined benefit obligation and the fair value of plan assets. This cost is included In
in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income within
‘Administrafive expenses’,

Actuzrial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in
aciuarial assumptions are chargad or credited to ‘Other Comprehensive Income’ in the
Statament of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income in the peried in which
they arise.

Short-term obligations

Lizhillties for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits and accumulating
vacation Jeave that ars expected to be setiled wholly within 12 months after the end of
the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised Inrespect
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting pericd and are measured at the
amounts expscted to be paid when the llabllities are seftled. The liahilities are
presented within ‘Trade and other payables' I the Statement of Financial Position,

r. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when The Authority has a present legal or constructive obligation
as a rasult of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be
requirad to settle the obligation and the amount has been rellably estimated.

The amount recognised as a provislon is the best sstimate of the consideration required to
setfle the present obligation at the reporting date, taking Into account the tisks and
uncertalnties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision Is measursd using the cash flows
esiimated to setile the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those
cash flows. {14}
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued}

S.

Revente recognifion

Revenue is measured at the fair vaiue of the consideration received or receivable, and
represents amounts recelvahle for services rendered, stated net of discounts, and value
added taxes. The Authority recognises ravenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably
maasured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will fiow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of The Authority’s activities, as deseribed below,

{y  Asrodromas
Revsnue generated from passenger and aircraft movements are recognised In the
Statemert of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income when the service is
rendered,

{i} Rental
Rental revenue is earned from operating leases In which The Authority Is the lessor
(Note 2 t.(i)).

(i) Parking
Parking revenue is earned for time-based charges from the operation m.r ear parking
services, Revenue is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other
Comprehensive Income when the service is renderad.

(v} Other
Other inceme is recognised on the acorual basis.

Leases

) The Authorily is the lessor
The Authority has entered into leases of property, plant and equipment and has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
that It retains alf the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these assets and
accounts for the contracts as operafing leases. Leass Income from operating leases is
recognised in the Statement of Profif or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on a
straight-line basls over the [ease ferm. The respective leasad assets are Included In
'Property, plant and equipment’ on the Statement of Financial Position.
The Authority Is the lessee

@

Leases In which & significant portlon of the risks and rewards of ownership are not
transferred to The Authority as lessee are classified as operating leases. Payments
mads under operating leases (net of any Incentives recelved from the lessor) are
charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income on a
straight-line basis over the period of the leases.

(16)
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2 Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

U

Finance Income and cosls

Financs Income comprises interest Income con The Authority's financial assets. Interest
income Is recognisad as It accrues within ‘Other revenua’ in the Statement of Profit or Loss
and Other Comarehenslive Income using the effective interest method.

Finance costs comprise interest expense on The Authority’s financial liabilities. Interest
expenses are recognised In the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive
incoms using the effsctive interest method.

Fair value hierarchy

Judgements and estimates are made in detormining the falr values for items measured at falr
value in the finangial statements. The valuation methods used by management were
classified into the following levels:

Leve! 1 - Quoted prices (unad]usted} in active markets for identical assets or [labilitles.

Level 2 - Inputs other than guoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the
asset or llabillty, elther directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3 - Inputs for the asset or liabllity that ars not based on observable markst data (that is,
unchservable Inpuis),

(16)
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3 Financial risk management

a,

Financial risk factors

The Authority's activities expose i to a variety of financial risks: market risk {including
currency risk and falr value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. There is no
significant concentration of market risk arfsing from cash flow interest rate risk and price risk.
The Authority's overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on The Autherity's financial
performance. Maragement is responsible for risk management. There have baen no
changes to policies and procedures in managing the financial risk factors described below.

(0

(1)

Market risk
Ctlrrehcy risk

The Authority is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from currency axposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollar. Forelgn exchangs risk arises from futurs
commeartsial transactions and recognised assots and liabilities.

Forelgn exchange risk arises when future commercial fransactions or recognises
assets or liabilities are denominated In a currency that is not the entity’s functional
currancy.

At 31 December 2017, if the TT dollar had weakened/sirengthensd by 10%, with all
other variables held constant, the loss for the year would have bsen $34.7m (2016:
$28.1m} highet/lower as a resuit of forelgn exchange losses/gains an cash and cash
equivalents, restricted cash and borrowings denominated in US dollars.

Falr value inferest refe risk

The Autherity's interest rate risk arises from its held-to-maturity Investment and long-
term botrowings, Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose The Authority to fair value
interest rate risk. During 2017 and 2018, alt of The Authority's borrowings and held-to-
maturity Investmant were fixed rate instruments.

Credit risk

Credit risk Is the risk of financial loss to The Authority if a customer or counterparty to a
financiat instrument fails to mest ts confractual obligations, and arises principally from
The Authorlty’s held-to-maturily Investment, cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash
as well as credit exposures o customers, Including outstanding frade recelvables and
cammitted transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only reputable financial
institutions are acceplted. For sales transactions, the credit quality of the customer is
assessed, taking into account its finansial pesition, past experience and other fastors.

Mo credit limits were exceeded during the reporting peried, and management does
not expect any losses from non-performance by thase counterparties,

(17}
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3 Financial risk management {continued)

a.  Financial risk factors (continued}

(i

{i)

Credit risk (continued)
Credit quality of financial assets

Trade recelvables

The credit quslity of financial assets that are neither past due nor Impaired can be
assessed by reference to historical information about counterparty default rates;
customers with aging of up to 3 months are nat considared past due or impaired. Sse
Note 8 for further disclostres on credi risk related io trade receivables,

2017 2018

5000 $°000
Group 1 — Up to 3 months 62,383 62,070
Group 2 — Qver 3 months 31,545 45746

93928 07,816

Group 1 — existing customers with no defaults in the past
Group 2 — existing customers {more than 6 months) with some defaults in the past, but
considered recoverable based on history of payments

Gash and cash eaulvalents, restricted cash and held-to-maturity investment
Reputable Trinidad and Tobage financlal institutions 624,739 585,443
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that The Authority will not be able to meet its financial
obligations as they fall due. On an annual basis, cash flow forecasting is performed by
management of The Authority. Management monifors rolling forecasts of The
Authorlty'’s liquidity requirements to ensure it has sufficient liquidity to meet its liabllities
when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without Incurring unacceptable
losses or risking damage to The Authority’s reputation. Such forecasting takes into
consideration the expecied capltal contributiens from GORTT as guarantor of all of The
Authority's berrowings.

Surplus cash held by The Autharity over and abovs balance required for working
capital managemsnt Is invested in accerdance with The Authorlty's internal policies,
choosing financlal Instruments with appropriate maturities or sufficient liquidity to
provide sufficient headroom as determined by the above-mentioned forecasts.

The tahle below analyses The Authorlty's non-derivative financial into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining peried at the Statement of Financlal Positich date fo
the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual
undiscounted cash flows.

(18)
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1 Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Finaricial Statements (continted)

3 Financial risk management {continued)

&  Flnancial risk factors {continued)
(ify Liquidity risk (continued)

At 31 December 2017

Borrowings
Trade and other paysbles
{excluding statufory payables)

At 31 December 2018

Borrowings
Trade and other payables
: (excluding statutory payables}

h. Capital rlsk management

Less than
1 year
$'000
465,664
184,354

Less than
1 year
5000
183,748

187,949

Betwean 1
and & years
$°000

157,431

Between 1
and 5 vears
$7000
609,574

[

Qver 5 years

$000

Over & years

$ 000

The Authotity Is not subject to externally imposad capltal requirements. Notwithstanding, this
management's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to sustain future development
of the business. Government guarantees and support are secured to maintain investors' ant

creditors’ confidence. The capital structure of the Authority cons

GORTT which comprises capital fund, and accumulatsd deficit.

ists of capital contributions by

The Authorlty monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net
debt divided by total capital. Net debt ls calculated zs total barrowings {Including ‘current and
non-current borrowings' as shown In the Statement of Financial Posltion} less cash and cash
equivalents. Total capltal is caleulated as Total equity’ as shown in the Statement of

Financial Position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2017 and 2016 wers as follows:

Total borrowings (Mote 1)
Less: cash and cash squivalents

Net debt
Total equity

Total capital

Gearing ratio

There were no changes in the policies and procedures for capital

with prior year.

2017 2016
$'0o0 $°060
557,440 679,656
(293,928) (279,648)
263,521 400,010
1,302,795 1,251,461
1,568,316 1,651,471
17% 24%,

risk management compared
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Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobage

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

31 December 2017
(Prasented In Thousands of THnidad and Tobago Dollars}

3

Financial risk management {continued)

o

Fair value estimatfon

The carrying value of short-term financizl assets and liabilitles comprising trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, restrictad cash, short-term portion of borrowings and
trade and other payables are a reasonable estimate of their fair values since the interest
payable is either close to current market rates or the instrumants are of a short-term nature.

Critical accounting estimates and judgments

Estimates and judgements ara continually evaluated and are based on histerical experience and
other factors, including expectations of future events, that are belleved to be reasonable under the
dlreumstances. The Authority makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. However,
actual results could differ from those estimates as the resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual resulis. The estimates and assumptions that have a
significant risk of causing a materlal adjustment to the camrylng amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

a.

Relirement benefif obligations

The cost of the Plan and the present value of the pension ebligation are determined using
actuarial valuations. An actuarial valuation involves making various assumptions. These
include the determination of the discount rate, future salary increases, mortality rates and
future pension increases. Due to the complexity of the valuation, the underlying assumpllons
and its long-tsrm nature, a defined benefit obligation is highly sensitive to changes in these
assumptions. -All agssumpticns are reviewed at each reporting date. Additional information on
key assumptlons Is disclosed in Note 13.

Legal contingencies
The Autherity Is party to litigations related to several legal matters. The outcome of these

matters may have a material effect on the financial position, results of operations of cash
flows of Tha Authority. Management regularly analyses current information about these

- matters and provides provislons for probable cash outflows, including the estimate of legal

expenses to resolve the matters. Internal and external lawyers are used for these
assessments. in making the decision regarding the need for provisions, managerment
cohsiders the degrae of probability of an unfavourable outcome and the ability to make a
sufficiently reliable estimate of the amount of loss. The filing of a sult o formal assertion of a
claim against The Authority or the disclosure of any such suit or assertien, does not
automatically indicate that & provision may be appropriate.

Frovision for impeirment of trade receivables
Management exsrcises judgement and estimation in determining the adeauacy of provisions
for trade recaivable balancss for which collections are considered doubtful. Judgement is

usad in the assessment of the extent of the recoverabllity of leng cutstanding batances.
Aciual outcomes may be materially different from the provision established by Management.

(25)
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Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
31 December 2017
(Presented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

4 Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued)
d. Uncertaln tax posiiions

Uncertalnties exist with respect to the interpretation of compiex tax regulations and the
amount and timing of future taxable income. As such, differences arlsing batween the actual
results and the assumptions made, or future changes 1o such assumptions, could necessitate
future adjustments to taxation already recorded. The Autherity establishes provisions, based
on reasonable estimates, for possible consequences of audits by the tax authority. The
amount of such provisions Is based on various factors, such as experience of previous tax
audits and diifering Interpretations of tax regulations.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for all unused tax losses to the extent that it s probable
that taxable profit will bs available against which the losses can be utilized, Significant
judgment is required to determine the amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognized,
baged upon the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits together with future tax
planning sfrategies.

e, Usetul lives of property, plant and equipment

The charge In respect of periodic depreciation is derived after determining an estimate of an
assel's expected useful life and the expected residual value at the end of its Iife. Increasing
an assel's expected life or its residual value would result in a reduced depreciation charge in
the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Incoms.

The useful lives of The Authority's assets are determined by managament at the time the
asset is acquired and reviewed at Jeast annually for appropriateness. The lives are based on
historical experlence with simllar assets as well as anticipation of future events, which may
impact their life; such as changes in technology.

(21)
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Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

31 December 2017
(Presented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dolfars)

&

Held-fo-maturity investment 2017 2016
$'000 $’000
Investment in sinking fund 274,553 249,503

In December 1998, The Authority established a sinking fund with Clticorp Trinidad and Tobago
Limited to settle The Authority’s borrowings with Citibank (Trinidad and Tobage) Limited (Note 11).
The sinking fund is for a period of 20 years commencing in 1998 and carries interest af a rate of
10% per annum. In 2018, the sinking fund matured, and proceeds were used to repay the
borrowings noted above.

Beforrad taxation
{Charge)/
Credit fo other credit to
comprehensive  profit or

2015 income loss 2017
$000 $°000 $'000 $'000
Defarred taxafion liabiliy
Accelerated tax depreciation {156,636} - 15,971 {14.0,665)
Defarred taxation asssf
Retirement benefit obligation 29,257 {535) 817 29,539
Other temporary difference —
acerued employee beneflis 21,415 - {334) 21,081
Tax losses 105,964 - {15.219) 90,045
156.636 {535) {15,436) 140,665
Net deferred taxatfon assef - {B38) 535 -
(Charge¥f

Credit fo other  credit to
comprehensive  profit or

2015 income foss 2015
$°000 $'000 $'000 $'a00
Deferred taxation lfabiiity
Accelerated tax depreciation (173.864) — 17.328 (156,6386)
Deferred laxation asset
Retirement henefit obligation 35412 {8,597} 2,442 29,257
Other temporary diffarence —
accrued employee benefits 24,369 - (2,954) 21,415
Tex josses 114,183 — (6,219 105,064
173,064 {8,587) {8,731) 156,636
Net deferred taxation asset - {8.507) 8,587 -

Deferrsd taxation assets are recognised to the extent of existing taxable temporary differences that are
likely to negate the effects of any deductible temporary differences or unused tax losses. The Authority did
not recognise deferred taxatlon assets of $200.0m (2016: $162.3m) In respect of losses amounting to
$800.1m (2016: $649.4m} that can be carried forward against future taxable incoma. Losses do not explre,

(23)



Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
31 December 2017
(Prasented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollers)

8 Trade and other recelvables

2017 2016
$'000 $°000
Trade recelvables ' 03,928 97,518
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables {38,958) (39.407)
Trade receivablas — net 54,870 58,409
Other receivables 13 6
Prepayments 14,220 8,020
Statutory receivables 19,436 16,955
Employee receivables 12,128 12.947
100,765 98,237
The ageing of trade receivables at the reporting date was:
Up to 3 months 52,383 52,070
Over 3 monihs 31,645 45,748
93,928 g7.818

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of $65.0m {2016: $52.0m) were fully performing.

As at 31 December 2017, trade receivables of $nil (2016: $6.3m} were past due but not impaired.
These relate to a number of cusfomers for whom there is no recent history of default. Management
expects the amount to be fully recavered. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is as
follows:

Over 3 months — 6,330

At 31 Decomber 2017, trade recelvables of $39.0m {2017: $39.4m) were Impalred and fully
provided for. The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to customers who are in
unaxpactedly difficult economic situations. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is
expected 1o be recovered. The ageing of these receivables is as follows:

Upio 3 months 7413 -
QOver 3 months 31,545 - 39.407
38,058 39,407

The movement in The Authority's provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

Balance as at 1 January 39,407 36,961
{Pecrease)Increase in provision (449) 2,446
Balance as at 31 December ‘ 38,058 39,407

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrylng amount cf each class of
raceivable mentioned above. The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain
Impaired assets. The Authority doss not hold any callateral as security.

(24)



Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

31 December 2017 _
(Presented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Doflars)

a Restricted cash 2017 2018
$'000 $'000
First Citizens Bank Limited 1,380 1,381
Central Bank of Trinidad and Tobago 54,878 54,823
56.258 66,204

Proceeds from borrowings with Trinidad and Tobago Unit Trust Corporation (Note 11) were

daposited with the Central Bank of Trnidad and Tobage and drawdowns from the Central

Bank of

Trinidad and Tobago were deposited with First Citizens Bank Limited. Funds from these two
accounts were restricted to be used for financing the construction of the New Terminal Building at

the Plarco international Alrport.

10 Capital fund

Balance zs at 1 January 4,792,166 4,590,285
Capital contributions 181,500 201,881
Balance as at 31 December 4.9736668 _ 4792166

Gapital contributicns are amounts recelved by The Autherity from GORTT's Public Sector
Investment Programme (PSIP) for capital expenditure as well as funds transferred to The
for the repayment of borrowings guaranieed by GORTT (Note 11).

11 Borrowings

Authorlty

Citibank (Trinidad and Tebago) Limited — Bond 300,000 300,000
Republic Finance and Merchant Bank Limited — Loan 50,000 60,000
Republic Finance and Merchant Bank Limited - Bonds 17,783 23,710
Trinldad and Tobago Unit Trust Corperation — Bond 26,486 33,108
RBTT Merchant Bank Limited — Loan - 15,620
First Citizens Bank Limited —~ Loan 1 32,167 45,033
ANSA Merchant Bank Limited — Bond 46,088 75,7894
First Cltizens Bank Limited — Loan 2 4,024 14,321
Scotia Trust and Merchant Bank of Trinidad and Tobago
Limited — Loan 80,000 112,000
557,449 679,656
Disclesed as: i
Current 413,065 132,810
Nen-current 144,384 546 837
B57. 449 E70.656
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Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

31 December 2017
(Presented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobage Dollars)

K

Borrowings (coniinued}

All of The Authority's borrowings are guaranteed by GORTT In addition to other securities disclosed
below: .

Citibank (Trinidad and Tobago) Limited - Bond

The long-term debt represents the proseeds of a band issue in favour of The Authority by Cifibank
(Trinidad and Tobago) Limited on 8 Decarmber 1998. Interest at 11.5% per annum Is payable semi-
annually in arrears. The bond financed the cansiruction of the New Terminal Bullding at the Piarco
international Alrport. The bond Is secured by the sinking fund (Note 6). The principal was liquidated
by a bullet payment on 8 December 2018 using the proceeds on maturity of the sinking fund.

Rapublic Finance and Merchant Bank Limfted - Loan

This long-term debt represents the proceeds of a loan in favour of the Authorlty by Republic Finance
and Merchant Bank Limited dated 17 December 1999. Interest is fixed at 11.5% per annum payable
semiannually in arrears, The pringipal amount is repayable by thirty equal semi-annual instalments
of $10m which commenced on 47 June 2005.The final instalment was repaid on 17 December 2018.
The loan financed the construction of the New Terminal Building at the Piarco International Alrport.

Repubiic Finence and Merchant Bank Lirnifed — Bonds

This long-term debt represents the proceeds of a three serles bond issue in favour of the Authority
by Republic Finance and Merchant Bank Limlted dated 18 Cclober 2000, These bonds financed the
construction of the New Terminal Building et the Piarco International Alrport.

Bond A — Fully repaid.
Bond B — Fully repaid.

Bond © — Interest is fixed at a rate of 12.25% and is payable semi-annually in arrears. The principal
amount, which is repayable by elghteen squal seml-annual instalments commenced on 4 June 2012
and ended on 4 December 2020, Interest accruing during the moratorium period of the first eighteen
manths will be capitalised and thereafter will be paid in sighteen (18} semi-annually in arrears.

Trinidad and Tobage Unit Trust Corporation — Bond

This long-term debt represents the proceeds of a bond in favour of The Authority by the Trinldad and
Tobago Unit Trust Corporation. Interest s fixed at a rate of 9.8% per annum and principal and
interest are payable semi-annually commencing 7 December 2002 and ending 7 December 2021.

RBTT Merchant Bank Limited —~ Loan

The long-term debt represents a loan granted by RBTT Merchant Bank Limited in the amount of
US$23m to finance the Piarco International Alrport Runway 10-28 Improvsmert Works 2005.
Interest is fixed at a rate of 5.90% per annum and princlpal and interest are repayable in twenty (20)
semi-annual payments commencing 28 March 2008. The loan was fully repald on

28 September 2017, -
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Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Financlal Statements {continued)

31 December 2017
(Presented in Thousands of Trinldad and Tobago Doffars)

11

12

13

Borrowings (continued)

First Citizens Bank Limitad — Loan 1

This long-term debt represents a loan granted by First Citizens Bank Limited in the smount of
TT$193m o refinance an existing bond. Interest is fixed at & rate of 5.75% per annum and principal
and Interest are payable in thirty (30) semi-annual payments commencing 25 July 2005, The loan
was fully repaid on 31 January 2020.

ANSA Merchant Bank Limitsd — Bond

The long-lerm dabt represents a loan granted by ANSA Merchant Bank Limited in the amount of
US$45.3 million to finance the Alrport Improvement Works 2009 on 22 April 2009. Inferest is fixad
ata rate of 7.00% per annum and principal and interest are repayabie In forty (40) quarterly
payments commenaing 22 July 2009. The bond was fully repaid on 22 Aprit 2019,

First Citizens Bank Limited — Loan 2

The represents a loan granted by First Citizens Bank Limited In the amount of TT$44.4m fo assist
with development werks at the Piarco and ANR Rebinson International Airports. Interest Is fixed at
3.96% per annum and principal and interest are repayable in ten (10) semi-annual payments
commencing 31 August 2013. The loan was fully repald on 28 February 2018,

Scotfa Trust and Merchant Bank of Trinidad and Tobago Limited — Loan

The long-term debt represents a loan granted by Scotia Trust and Merchant Bank of Trinidad and
Tobago Limited in the amount of TT$320m to finance the Infrastructural works at Plarco and Crown
Point International Airports. Interest Is fixed at a rate of 5.85% per anrum and principal and interest
are repayable in twenty {20) semi-annual payments which commenced on 25 November 2010 and
endad on 24 May 2020,

Deferred liability

This relates to a deferred payment to GORTT of $11m (2018: $1 1my) for acquisition of the Northern
Area of the Aerodrome property at the Plarco International Alrport.

Retirement benefif obligation 2017 2016
$°000 $'000
Net fiability In statement of financial position
Defined benefit obligation 444,158 410,858
Falr value of plan assets {326,004) (293.831
Net defined benefit liability 118154 117.027
Movement In present value of defined benefit obligation
Defined bensfit obligation at start of year 410,858 409,796
Service cost 17,306 19,668
Interast cosi 22,238 20,332
Members’ cortributions 7,013 6,767
Benefits pald {13,257) (6,396)
Actuarial gains from changes in financial assumptions - (38.307)
Defined beneft obligations at end of year | __444158 410,858

(27)



Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago

Notes to the Financial Statements {continued)

31 December 2017
(Prasented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Dollars)

13 Retirement benefit obligation {continued)

Movement in falr valie of plan assets

Fair value of plan assets af start of year

Interest income

Return on plan assets (excluding Interest income)
Authority’s confributions

Members' coniributions

Benefils pald

Expenses paid

Fair value of plan assets af end of year

ltems included in profit or loss within ‘Administrative expefises’

Current service cost
Net interest on defined benefit obligation
Administretion expenses

Reconcilfafion of nat iiability in statermnent of financial positfon

Net dafined benafit liability at start of year
Net pension cost

Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income

Autherity's contributions paid
‘Net definad benefit liablity at end of year

Remeasurement recognised in other comprehensive income

Experience gains

Assel aflocatioh

Locally listed equlties
Foraign equities
Government issued bonds
Caorporate bonds

Cash and cash equlvalents

Fair value of plan assets

2017 2016

$°000 $'000
293,831 268,148
16,527 13,822
2139 {4,921)
20,920 17,539
7,013 6,767
(13,257}  (6,396)
(1169} _ {1,128
326,004 _293.831
17,306 10,666
5711 6,510
1,169 1,128
24 186 27.304
117,027 141,648
24 188 27,304
(2,139) (34,386
(20.920) (17,639)
118,154 _117.027
. (2139) _(34.386)
84,687 77,879
57,816 51,744
143,047 139,116
21,256 -
18,298 24,992

306,004 293831

All asset valuas wers taken from the Plan’s year-end audlited financlal statements provided by the

Plan’s Trustee (First Citlzens Trustes Services Limited}, Forelgn equities have quoted prices in

active markets. Local equities also have quoted prices but the markel is relatively illiquid. The
Investment Manager (First Cltizens Asset Management Limited) calculates the fair value of the

Government bonds and corporate bonds by discounting expected future proceeds using &

sonstructed vield curve.

The majority of the Plan’s bonds were elther issued or guaranteed by GORTT.

The Plan's assets are invested In a strategy agreed with the Plan’s Trustee and Management
Committes, This sirategy Is largely dictated by statutory constraints (at least 80% of the assats
must be Invested in Trinidad & Tebago and no more than 50% in equities) and the availability of
sultable investments. There are no asset-iability matching strategles used by the Plan.
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31 December 2017
(Presented in Thousands of Trinidad and Tobago Doillars)

13 Retirement benefit obligation {continued)

Allccation of defied bensfit obligation
The defined benefit okligation is allocated betwean the Plan’s members as follows.

2017 2016
Actlve 88% 89%
Deferrad members 2% 2%
Pensioners 10% 9%
Welghted average duration of the defined benafit obligation In years . 204 204
Percentage of bensfits for active members that are vested 84% 84%
Percentage of defined benafit obligativns for active members
that is condiional on future salary increases 41% 41%
Summary of principal assumpfions
Discount rate 5.6% 5.6%
Selary Increases 5.0% 5.0%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published mortality tables. Tha life
expactancles underlying the value of the defined benefit obligation at the year-ends are as follows.

Life expectancy at age 60 for current pensioner in years

Male 21.0 21.0

Femals 25.1 251
L¥e expectancy at aga 80 for current members age 40 in years

Male 21.4 214

Female 254 254

ensitivity analysis

The calculation of the defined benefit obligation is sensitive to the assumptions used. The following
table summarises how the defined benefit obligation as at 31 December 2017 and 34 December
2016 would have changed as a result of a change in the assumptions used.

1% pa 1% pa
Increase decrease
31 Degember 2017 $'000 $000
Discount rate (73,328) 85,130
Fulure salary increases 48,160 {40,586
31 December 2016 $'000 $'000
Discount rats (66,905) 87,998

Fuiure szlary increasss 44,648 {37,813)

Anincrease of 1 year in the assumed fife expectancies shown above would increase the defined
benefit obiigation at 31 December 2017 by $6.5m (20186; $6.0m). Thess senslivitles were
calcuiated by re-calculating the defined benefit obligaticns using the revised assumptions.
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13 Retlrement benefit obligation {continued)

Funding

The Authority meets the balance of the cost of funding the defined benefit Penslen Plan and The
Authority must pay contibutions at least equal to those pald by members, which are fixed. The
funding requirements are based on regular {at least every 3 years) actuarial valuations of the Plan
and the assumptions used to determine the funding required may differ from those set out above,

The Authority pald $18.6m to the Penslon Plan during 2018.

14 Trade and other payables 2017 2016

$'000 $000
Accrued employee benefits 110,669 110,022
Due to GORTT - departurs taxes 44,763 44763
Accrued expenses 11,282 18,008
Statutory payables 10,579 11,943
Cther payables : g§,794 7,377
Accruad loan interast 2,181 6,077
Trade payables 2,359 2,307

Staff clearing account {604) (604)

194,933 196,893

15  Provisions for other liahilities

The amounts represent a provision for certaln legal claims brought against The Authority. The
provision charge is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Gemprehensive Income
within ‘Administrative expenses’, In management’s oplnlon, after taking agpmpria’:e legal advics,

' the outcome of these legal claims will not give rise to any significant loss
provided at 31 December 2017.

oyond the amounts

Balanece at 1 January 83,377 83,827
Amounts accrued during the year 5949 -
Amounts utillsed during the year (85) {450)
88,241 83.377
18  Other revenus
Interest income ‘ 27,581 24,703
Other income 7.078 6,878
34,640 31,681
17  Expenses by nature
Employee benefit expenses (Note 1 8) 214,654 219,853
Depraciation (Note 5) 144,362 133,245
Other 58,359 57,692
Finance costs 61,175 68,255
Repalrs and maintenance 22,308 20,178
Insurance 10,668 12,563
Utilitles 10,454 12,1567
Advertising end promotion 1,375 1,083
Provislon for impalrment of trade receivables (Note 8) {448) 2,446
522,835 28,382
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
31 December 2017

(Presenied in Thousanhds of Trinlded and Tobago Doifars)

18 Employee benefit expenses

Salaries, wages and cther short-term benefits
National insurance coniributions
Pension costs — defined benefit plan (Note 13)

19 Taxation

Green fund levy
Business levy
Deferred taxation credit

The taxation on The Authority’s loss before taxation differs fr

arise using the basic rate of tax as follows:
Loss before taxation
Taxation at rate of 25%

Expenses not allowable for tax

Exempt income and allowances not subjested 1o tax
Texatlon losses previously recognised, now derecognised
Taxatlon losses generated and unrecognised

Busiriess levy

Creen fund levy

Other difference

20 Related parties

Government-related entiiies

2017 2016
$'000 $'000
179,848 183,165
10,620 9,384
24,186 27,304
— 214664 _ 210,853
1,227 1,252
2,305 2,580
(535) (8,597}
2,997 (4.755)

om the theorefical armount that wouyld

(131,656)  (111,025) .

(32,814)  (27,756)
1,075 289
(6,241) (5,673)
15,019 —~
21,774 28,260
2,305 2,590
1,227 1,252

(145} (3.717)

2 697 (4.755)

The Authority was established by GORTT under Act No. 48 of 1979, Accordingly, The Authority has
related parly relationships with GORTT, GORTT agencies and ministries and with its executive
officers and board members. Significant transactions and balances with GORTT related entities
include capital contributions, banking relationships, statutory payables and recsivables and

customer/supplier recelvables/payables.

Key ranagement compensation

Key management includes executive officers and board members. The co

tnpensation paid to key

management is shown below and s included within ‘Employse benefit expenses’ (Note 18);

Executive salaries and cther short-term employes benefits
Board merabers’ fess
Fast-employment benefits

17,028 19,268
627 648
525 624

18,080 20,667
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21

22

23

Contingent Habilities

At 34 Decernbar 2047 there were & number of pending claims against The Authority. Claims for
which provisions have been mads are reflected in Note 15. For other cleims, no provision has been
recognised in these financlal statements, as legal advice indicates that it is not probable that a
significant liability will arise.

Commission of enquiry

In April 2002, GORTT esiablished a Commission of Enquiry into the “Plarco Alrport Devalopment
Project”. The terms of reference of the Commission were to enguire Into the Piarco Airport
Development Project and to make such observations and recommendations arsing out of its
deliberations as the Commission may deem appropriate. The Commission of Enquiry came to an
end on 4 July 2003 but the final report has not been made public. No provision has been made in
these financial statements In respect of any adiustments which may arise as a rasult of the
resommendations of the Commission.

Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not yet incurred amounted
to $§77.9m at 31 December 2017 (2016: $16.8m).

Subsequent events

Since the outhreak of COVID-19 in the first quarter of 2020, global financial markets have
experienced, and may continue to experience significant volatility and thers are significant
consequencas for the global and local economies from trave! and horder resirlctions, quarantines,
supply chaln disruptions, lower consumer demand and genera! markes uncertainty. The extent and
duration of the impact of COVID-19 on the global and local econemiss and the sectors in which The
Authority and is customers and suppliers cperate is uncertain at this ime, but It has the potential to
adversely affect the operations of The Authority. As of the date of authorisation of these financlal
statements, management was not aware of any significant adverse effects on the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 as a result of COVID-18. Management will
continue to monitor the situation and the impact on The Authority.

(32)
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1.0

AIRPORTS AUTORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Department: Finance =~

" | Area: Revenue Accounting

TITLE: Receivables {Collections) Policies & Procedures

Document #:

PURPOSE

Revision No: 00

The purpose of this document is to provide guidelines for the control of outstanding debts and the
collection of debts on behalf of AATT.

Collections are done at both Piarco and ANR Robinson International Airports. At Piarco, the
coliection of debt is performed by the AAlll (Collections) with the guidance of the RA. At ANRRIA,
the collection of debt is performed by the AAI with the guidance of the Tobago Accountant.
Oversight is provided by the FC.

20 SCOPE

The scope of these policies and procedures covers the following collection processes which AATT
are required to perform:

Receivables
{Collection)
Processes
I
f 1 T I | 1
. . Collections
o Performance Write off of Bad Delinquent Receivables
Billings Bonds Debts Debtors Committee Processes
icy: . . . Proced
Policy: 3.1 Policy: 3.2 Policy: 3.3 Policy: 3.4 Policy: 3.5 rocedure

| uth or:

Approver:

Al Approval Date;

Review Date:
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3.0

3.1

Billings

‘Collections Policies & Procedures -

RECEIVABLES (COLLECTIONS) POLICIES

are summarized in the table below:

Rev No: 00

3.1.1 AATT issues invoices on a monthly basis. The dispatch and due dates of AATT's invoices

Invoice . .

Basic Space Rent

10 working days prior to the end
of the relevant month

On or before the 1st working
day of each relevant month

Minimurn annual rent

10 working days prior to the end
of the relevant month

On or before the 1st working
day of each relevant month

Turnover Rent

6th day of the following month

25 days after the invoice date

Miscellaneous

6th day of the following month

25 days after the invoice date

Aerodrome

6th day of the following month

25 days after the invoice date

Passenger Service Charge

Included on passenger tickets

IATA responsible for collection

(IATA Remittance Advice is
submitied to the airlines and the
funds are collected via the
Billing Settlement Plan (BSP),
these sums are remitted to the
AATT 6-8 weeks after the billing
period)

Concourse and Common Use
Electronic Service

Included on passenger tickets

IATA responsible for collection
(IATA Remittance Advice is
submitted to the airlines and the
funds are collected via the
Billing Settiement Plan (BSP),
these sums are remitted to the
AATT 6-8 weeks after the billing
period)

3.1

| Author: -

.2 Basic Rent invoices include but are not limited to the following categories:

Utility Charge
Bonded Warehouse

. Office Rent

. Land Rent

. Ground Handling
. Hangar Rent

. Commuted Rent

Approver:

' Approval

Date:

Review Date:
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3.1.3 Categories of tenants include but are not limited to-

Duty Free Concessionaires:

o Alcohol

o  Perfume

o Tobacco

o Jewelry
Car Rentals
Retail Concessionaires:

o Clothing
Telecommunications
Eyewear
Music
Bookshop
Spices
Cosmetics
Snacks
Flowers
Periodicals
Financials
Food & Beverage
Left Luggage
Car Rentals
Food and Beverage Concessionaires
Alrlines/Agents/Private Operators
Ground Handlers

0000000000 O0C0

3.2 Performance Bonds

3.2.1 A Performance Bond is required from tenants, (land tenants, concessionaires, agents,
ground handlers and airlines) under certain circumstances as listed below. These may
be in the form of: letter of credit, cash deposits and/or insurance bonds.

3.22 New Tenants will be required to furnish a performance bond equivalent to three (3) months
basic space rent plus minimum annual rent or average aeronautical activity (Passenger
Service Charge/Aerodrome/Concourse and Common Use Electronic Service).

3.2.3 Existing Tenants will be assessed on their payment history and amounts outstanding over
a period of three (3) years. The Performance Bond requirements are as follows:

¢ For tenants who have kept their account within 0 to 30 days for the past 3 years and
have been in operation at the airports over ten (10) years — this requirement is waived.

f Auho: ' - Approver:

l| Approval Date: Review Date:
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3.2.4

3.2.5

3.2.6

3.2.7

3.2.8

3.2.9

Author:

| Colections Policies & Procedures Rev No: 00

» For tenants who have kept their account within 0 to 30 days for the past 3 years and
have been in operation at the airports between five(5) to ten (10) years — 1 month’s
basic space rent plus minimum annual rent or average aeronautical activity.

» For tenants who have kept their account within 0 to 30 days for the past 3 years and
have been in operation at the airports for less than five (5) years — 2 month’s basic
space rent plus minimum annuai rent or average aeronautical activity.

» Fortenants who are over 30 days - 3 month’s basic space rent plus minimum annual
rent or average aeronautical activity.

This bond must be signed prior to the commencement of operations.

The General Manager at his/her discretion may vary these requirements for long standing
tenants.

All original Performance Bonds will be held by the Legal Department, with copies being
provided to the Marketing, Property and Finance Departments.

The Legal Department must provide written notice three (3) months prior to the expiry date
of a Performance Bond to the Tenant/Airline. (The Finance/Property Department must be
informed).

Requests for advanced payments on account to be made in place of a Performance Bond
or areduced Performance Bond may be granted at the discretion of the General Manager.

Moratoriums or Discounts on Rent may be granted upon approval by the General Manager
and/or the Board due to:

sdelayed commencement of operations as a result of the non-receipt of
permits/licenses/etc, or,

eother issues that may have affected operations as a result of actions or
inaction by the Authority, such as repairs.

The quantum will be dependent upon assessments made by Management of the losses
claimed by the Tenant.

All refunds must be authorized by the FC and applied to outstanding balances on the
Debior's account; payment will be advanced to Debtor should there be any balance
remaining on the account.

Approver:

Approval Date: Review Date:
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3.3 Write off of Bad Debts/Expected Credit Losses

3.3.1 Write-offs will be recommended by the Property Manager and the RA to the FC for
approval. These will be based on the following:

1 Bankruptcy

2 Tenants that were evicted or ceased operations where legal action is being
taken

3 Debt that is deemed statute barred, that is, older than four (4) years

4  Where attempts to collect arrears of revenus will be uneconomical

All write-offs must be approved by the Board.

3.3.2 In accordance with the Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago Act No. 26 of 1987,
Section 23, bad debts may only be written off after final approval has been by the line
Ministry.

3.3.3 The Expected Credit Losses must be adjusted yearly as follows:

1 In accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 9
(Financial Instruments) the provision is calculated based on the default rates for
debts that are not settled after ninety (90) days, (default rates are calculated
based on the ageing profile of past debt);

2 100% provision is made for debts that are statute barred, that is, older than four
(4) years, and debts where legal action is being taken.

34 Delinquent Debtors

3.4.1 A monthly Aged Accounts Receivable listing must be prepared and submitted by the RA
to the FC within 10 days of the following month. On a monthly basis, the FC must inform
the Deputy General Manager - Corporate Services and the General Manager of all issues
affecting the receivables/debt recovery.

3.4.2 Debtor statements shall be issued on a monthly basis. Reminder letters are sent

to/meetings are held with debtors whose invoices have past 30 days. (As stipulated by
the Ministry of Works & Transport — all debts must be settled within 30 days).

Approver:

3 Approval Date: Review Date:
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3.4.3

3.4.4

3.4.5

3.4.6

3.4.7

3.4.8
3.5

3.5.1

3.5.2

I Author:

Coliections Policies-& Procedures " |'Rev No: 00

Failure to settle debt within 60 days will result in the issuance of a demand letter to the
debtor by the Legal Department. Demand Letters must stipulate that full payment of ali
outstanding debts is received within fourteen (14) days. The list of Demand Letters {o be
issued will be provided by the Receivables Committee, following which the Property
Manager will seek the relevant Executive approvals.

Upon failure to comply with the terms of the Demand Letter, a Notice to Quit will be issued
14 days after receipt of the Demand Letter by the debtor.

After the Notice to Quit is issued, should the debtor request a meeting to discuss their
issues and a way forward, the Authority may comply with this request. If an amicable
position cannot be met, the Authority will then take legal action against the debtor.

Interest shall be payable by Debtors on accounts in arrears as follows:

. Debtors other than Alrlines and Ground Handlers shall be subject to an interest at
the basic prime rate on the rents or other sums in arrears from the due date to the
date on which it was paid (and such interest where itis in respect of arrears of rents,
may be recovered as if rent in arrears).

. Airlines and Ground Handlers shall be subject to an interest at the basic prime rate
plus two percent on the rents or other sums in arrears from the due date to the date
on which it was paid (and such interest where itis in respect of arrears of rents, may
be recovered as if rent in arrears).

. Interest will not be levied on debtors with payment plans.

Debtors whose cheques are returned “Refer to Drawer” will be required to make future
payments strictly on a cash or certified cheque basis or ACH (automated clearing house).

Alllegal costs incurred in the pursuit of outstanding debts must be borne by the debior.
Receivables Commiittee

A Receivables Committee shall be established for the purpose of reviewing and resolving
any issues with the tenant in the interest of both parties.

The Receivables Committee shall comprise of the following members or their
altemate/representative:

Deputy General Manager — Corporate Services
Property Manager

FC

Marketing Manager

Legal Advisor

Approver:

1l Approval Date: Review Date:
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RA
AA Il

Rev No: 00 |

3.5.3. The FC is the designated Chairperson of the Receivables Committee and the RA is the
designated Secretary of the Receivables Committee. The Receivables Committee shall:

Meet every two (2) months.

Consist of a quorum as follows:
o At least two (2) Senior Managers/alternates
o The Revenue Accountant/alternate
o Legal Advisor/Alternate

Review reports submitted by the Revenue Section in relation to Debtors’ issues,
highlighting background information and details of the outstanding amounts

Attempt to resolve the issues in the interest of both parties

Submit recommendations based on their findings and investigations to the General
Manager or Deputy General Manager - Corporate Services for advice and/or approval

as required.
The General Manager based upon the advice of the Deput
Corporate Services may provide details to the Board of Dir

y General Manager -
ectors of any arrears

outstanding for more than thirty (30) days and shall state what action js being taken to

collect the arrears.

3.5.4 The RAwill be responsible for arranging monthly mestings of the Receivables Committee.

3.5.5 The decisions of the Committees shall be by a majority of votes and for that purpose the
Chairman shall have both an original and a casting vote.

3.5.6 Minutes of the meeting of the Committees shall be recorded and circulated at the next
ensuing meeting for confirmation/certification.

3.5.7 In cases where the General Manager based upon the advice of the Deputy General
Manager - Corporate Services and/or the FC is of the opinion that further attempts to
collect arrears of revenue will be unsuccessful or uneconomical, they shall apply to the
Ministry of Works and Transport for the arrears to be written off; and all such applications
shall be supported with full details.

Author:

Approver:;

¥ Approval Date:

Review Date:
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4.0 RECEIVABLES (COLLECTIONS) PROCEDURES

4.1

411

41.2

4.1.3
4.1.4

41.5

4.1.7

41.8

Author:

Aged Debtor Management

Atter the financial close-off of Billings and Receipts, the AAIH will print the Aging Report
from the operating finance system. This will be used to prepare the Coltections Report by
the 6th of the month (or the next working day following the 6% day).

The RA and AAIIl will review the réport, Any errors/discrepancies noted shall be
investigated and resolved by the AAIlL.

The Aging Report will then be forwarded by the RA to the FG for review.
The AAlIt will generate and reconcile Debtors Statements (as required).

Once the Debtor Statements have been reconciled, the AAlll will emailffax the Statements
to the Debtors.

The RA and the AAIll are responsible for calling Debtors to notify them of payments that
are due. If required, the RA will seek the assistance of the Property or Marketing
Department for Debtors that are not clearing their accounts in a timely manner.

The RA must inform the FC of Debtor accounts that are more than two (2) months
overdue.

The RA is also responsible for arranging and holding meetings with Debtors whose
accounts are more than two (2) months overdue.

Approver:

Approval Date:

Review Datea:
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1.0

2.0

AIRPORTS AUTHORITY OF TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO

Department: Finance | Area: Revenue Accounting
TITLE: Investment Policies & Procedures

Revision No: 00

Document #:

PURPOSE

The purpose of this document is to provide standard guidelines for investment of AATT funds by
the Finance Department.

Day-to-day activities relating to Investments are performed by the AAIIl within the Finance
Department. Oversight is provided by the RA and the FC.

SCOPE

‘The scope of this procedure covers the following Investment processes which AATT are required
o perform

Investments Policy

New Investments Restricted Cash Recurrent Cash
Policy: 3.1 Policy: 3.2 Policy: 3.3
Procedures: ' Procedures: Procedures:

41&46 42,43,45846 42,448 46

Approver:

Approval Date; Review Date:
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3.0 INVESTMENT POLICIES

3.1

3.1.1

3.1.3

3.1.4

3.1.5

3.1.6

3.1.7

3.1.8

3.1.9

3.1.10

_‘ Ator:

New Investments
New Investments can fall under the following categories:

i.  Restricted cash
il Recurreni cash

AATT’s aim is to maximize returns whilst maintaining the security of the Authority’s funds
at ali times. Funds should be placed in low or low io medium risk investments that allow
for capital appreciation and preservation.

Funds should be invested in Fixed Deposits, Money Market Funds or Repurchase
Agreements depending on the quantum of the investment.

The quantum and the time period of the investment will be dependent upon the availability
of funds after the careful timing/scheduling of payments.

Funds that are needed in the short term, thus requiring flexibility, are invested for three
(3) months using Fixed Deposits or Money Market Fund Accounts. Other funds that may
be invested for six (6) months to one (1) year are invested using Fixed Deposits or
Repurchase Agreements.

Upon maturity the RA will advise the bank if the investment should be renewed after
confirmation with the FC.

The RA must ensure thata confirmation/acknowledgement letter is received from the bank
advising of the completion of any transaction/investment. ‘

Interest Received

The value of interest received on investments shall be verified by the AAIll to ensure that
the correct amount has been recsived.

If there are any differences between these figures, the discrepancy/error must be resolved
by the RA with the relevant bank.

Maturity

Investments are only closed or rolled over upon maturity so that interest income will be
maximized. '

Approver:

1 Approval Date: Review Date:
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3.2

3.2.1

322

3.2.3

3.2.4

3.3

3.3.1

3.3.2

3.3.3

3.3.4

" [ TAuthor:

Investment Policies & Procedures Rev No: 00

Restricted cash

Restricted cash is cash that is set aside to be used for certain projects or activities. This
includes:

Loan funds for specific projects
Interest on loan funds

Project funds

Interest on project funds
Refundable tender deposits
Performance bonds

® & & & @ o0

The FC will determine, based on cash flow requirements, if funds should be placed on a
Fixed Deposit, Money Market Fund, Abercrombie Bank Account or a Repurchase
Agreement (Repo).

For restricted funds, interest generated on the principal investment must be accounted for
and managed separately from the principal. The interest generated on restricted ¢ash
investments may be used to cover project overruns or other costs related to the project
upon approval by the Board, and, after written notification o the Line Ministry.

Investments of project funds may be broken if the funds are needed for urgent payments
before the maturity date.

Recurrent Cash

Any excess/surplus TT$ or US$ funds held in current accounts by AATT that are not
currently required for payments should be placed in investment accounts. The quantum
and the time period of the investment will be dependent upon the availability of funds after
the careful timing/scheduling of payments.

The security of the Authority’s recurrent cash is priority; as such, any investment of
surplus/excess funds should be placed in low risk investments or low to medium risk
investments that allow for capital appreciation and preservation,

The FC may instruct the RA to transfer funds from the TT$/US$ investment account to the
TT$ main account to cover operating expenses as required.

In the case of the transfer of funds from the US$ accounts, the buying rate from the bank
will prevalil, i.e. First Citizens Bank.

Apprver:

I! Approval Date: Review Date:
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4.0 INVESTMENT PROCEDURES
4.1 New Investments

4.1.1 The FC will inform the RA of the availability of funds for investment, such as:
* Recurrent
o Surplus working capital

» Resfricted

o Project Funds
o Tender security/performance bonds

4.1.2  The FC will inform the RA of the tenures and type of investment to be made.

4.1.3  The RA or the AAIIl will liaise with the bank to obtain interest rates for the required tenure
of investment.

4.1.4  Approval for investments will follow the approval limits as stated below:
. $20,000 or below — Financial Controller

. $20,001 to 50,000 — Deputy General Manager-Corporate
Services '

. $50,001 to $200,000 — General Manager
. $200,001 to $300,000 — Management Tenders Committee
. $300,001 and above - Board -

4.1.5 The AAIl will prepare and submit bank letters for review by the RA. All ietters will be
forwarded for signing in accordance with the approved levels of delegated financial
authority.

4.1.6  The AAlIl will prepare journal vouchers to account for new investments. These journal
vouchers shall be approved by the RA and forwarded to Final Accounts for posting.

4.1.7 The AAlll will update the Investment Schedule with the details of the new investments
such as;

. Account Number
. Institution where the investment is held

| Approver:

1 Approval Date: Review Date:
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Investment Policies & Procedures Rev No: 00

Source of Funds

Purpose of the Investment

Interest Rate

Currency

Investment Amount

Deposit Date

Maturity date

Rationale for selecting the investment

4.1.8 The AAIl is responsible for checking the investments as follows:

Verifying the CD Interest Income
* General Ledger entries
* Electronic bank statement (efirst)

The AAIN will inform the RA of any discrepancies/errors in the Investment Schedule. The
RA will be responsible for investigating and resolving any issues noted.

4.1.9 The RA will review and approve the Investment Schedule. The RA shall be responsible
for preparing and finalizing of the Refundable Deposit Schedules.

4,2 Current Investments

4.2.1 The RA will communicate investments that are due for maturity to the FC. The FC will
inform the RA of the tenure and value of funds to reinvest or to close-off,

4.2.2 The RA or the AAIl will liaise with the bank to obtain interest rates for the required tenures
if it is fo be renewed or for the final interest amount if the investment is to closed.

4.2.3 The AAlll will prepare the relevant bank letters for revisw by the RA for submission to the
bank. All letters will be forwarded for signing in accordance with approved levels of
delegated financial authority.

4.2.4 The AAIlt will prepare journal vouchers to account for interest received on investments
and/or the close-off of the investment account. These journal vouchers shall be approved
by the RA and forwarded to Final Accounts for posting.

4.2.5 The AAlll will update the Investment Schedule with the details of the investments such as
interest received, date investment closed and the bank account to which the investment
was transferrad.

4.2.6  The AAIl will inform the RA of discrepancies/errors (if any). The RA will be responsible
for investigating and resolving any issues noted. [f required, the FC will be consulted.

{ Author: Approver:

I Approval Date: Review Date:
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4.2.7

4.3

4.3.1

43.2

43.3

4.3.4

4.3.5

43.6

' Autho:

Investment Policies & Procedures

The RA will review and approve the investment schedule, audit schedules and
reconciliations. The RA shall be responsible for preparing and finalizing of the Refundable
Deposit Schedules.

Non-renewal of Investments/Tender Securities

The RA will update the Corporate Secretary about investments related to tender securities
on a quarterly basis. The Corporate Secretary will indicate which tender securities may
be released. Tender Securities are normally released when the contract has been
awarded, the project is completed (with satisfaction) or when a tender has to be re-issued.

The RA will release funds based on instructions received from the Corporate Secretary
by the FC.

The AAIIL will prepare the bank authorization letter to close the investment account,
prepare journal vouchers and update the Investment Scheduie with the details of the
investment.

The RA will instruct the Payables Section to prepare the cheque for refund of tender
security.

The AAIIl will inform the RA of discrepancies/errors (if any). The RA will be responsible
for investigating and resolving any issues. If required the FC will be consulted.

The RA shall be responsible for preparing and reconciling of the Refundable Deposit
Schedules with the Investment Schedules.

Approver:

| Approval Date:

Review Date:
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4.4

4.4.1

442

443

4.4.4

4.5

4.51

452

453

4.6
4.6.1

4.6.2

4.6.3

¥ Author:

Investment Policies & Procedures

Monitoring of Recurrent Funds for Investment

The AAII will forward bank balances on a daily basis 1o the RA, FC and General Manager.
The FC will instruct the RA to transfer funds from the TT$ and/or US$ bank accounts to
the Main TT$ and/or Paria US$ accounts to ensure that there are sufficient funds for
payments or to invest recurrent funds.

The AAIll will prepare the bank letter for the transfer between accounts and prepare the
relevant journal vouchers.

The AAlI will inform the RA of any discrepancies/errors. The RA will be responsible for
investigating and resolving any issues noted. If necessary the FC will be consulted.

Monitoring of Restricted Funds for Investment

Upon receipt of payment certificates from Engineering/Facilities Maintenance/information
Technology Departments, the FC will instruct the RA of the sum to transfer to the main
TT$ bank account to make project payments.

The AAIL will prepare the bank authorization letter, verifying the status of transfers
between accounts and prepare journal vouchers.

The AAlll will inform the RA of discrepancies/errors (if any). The RA will be responsible
for investigating and resolving any issues.

General
The AAIl shall verify that the transfer was made by reviewing the efirst bank statements.

The AAlll is responsible for filing documents, sending investment certificates for stamping,
keeping track of maturity dates, ensuring that funds transfers, etc., are completed.

The AAIl will reconcile the Investment Schedules and interest income with the general

ledger on a monthly basis for preparation of reconciliations/audit schedules for review by
RA and approval by the FC.

Approver:

i Approval Date: Review Date:
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INTRODUCTION

Corporate Profile/History
The Airports Authority cf Trinidad and Tobago was established in 1979 by an Act of Parliament

to ensure the provision of efficient, secure and safe aviation services. In line with is Vision and
Missicn, the Alrports Authority works 10 develop and maintain an integrated set of Airpon
Services in pursuit of goals in the following strategic priority areas:

» Airport Operations

- Alrport Safety and Security

» Business Development — Aviation and Non-Aviation

» Financial Management

» Customer Services and Corporate Image

- Organisational Development

» Human Resources
The Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago (AATT) manages two airports which are major
hubs for the movement of people and cargo in the Caribbean area.

Piarco Intsmational Airport
Piarco International Airport has been the major air transporiation facility serving Trinidad and

Tobago and the southern Caribbean since 1831 | ocated 15 miles east of Port of Spain, Piarco
International Airport is the largest in the Caribbean. Currently, 11 international airlines,
comprising scheduled and chartered, and 7 cargo Carviers
that serve 26 international destinations operate out of the airport. Piarcois the primary hub and
operating base of Caribbean Airlines Limited, the national airline of Trinidad and Tobago.
Piarco International Airport facilitated more than 1.5 million international passengers and over

51,000 tonnes of freight last year. There are thirty-

two shops at this Airport.

Crown Point International Airport
ns on the island of Tobago in 1940. The Airport

Crown Point International Adrport began operatio
s located on the southwestern tip of the island of Tobago and is located within walking distance
of some of the region’s most beautifut beaches and minutes from Tobago's famous underwater

coral garden Buccoo Reef. There are eleven shops st the airport.

Mission Statement
To develop and manage safe, secur
ancillary business in a sustainable man

e, efficient and customer oriented airport estates and
ner by optimising returns on ail employable assets.

Vision
To be a premier provider of aviation driven business.

Core Values
Trust, Integrity, Fairness, Respect, Empathy and Professionalism.

iii
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HUMAN RESOURCE PHILOSOPHY

The Alrports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago is committed to the highest moral and sthica
siandards in carrying out #s business. The Authority will cbey all the laws of the country, be a
good corporate citizen and willingly assuma its shara of the responsibilities where the Adtharity
operates at home and abroad and will conduct its affairs at all times in a capable and
trustworthy manner.

The AATT will maintain a high level of employee morale by fostering an atmosphere of hard
work, by recognising the dignity of each individual in treating each person in the Company with
respect and courtesy, by providing opportunities for all employees fo develop and advancs io
the utmost of their Ccapabilities, by paying adequate compensation which compares favourably
with other Companies in the industry and by providing a safe and healthy environment in which

to work.

The AATT wiil be financially sound and viable by motivating a record of productivity and profits
which will enable the Company to continua to grow and expand ifs earning capacity and will
strive o be the most highly respected Company in the country through inspired leadership and

effective teamwork.

The AATT will deliver to all its stakeholders products of proven high quality, wili maintain free
and open channels of communication between management, employees, customers and trade
Lnions and will work In a constructive manner towards securing public understanding and
acceptance of the Company’s goals and objectives.

The Human Resource Philosophy of the AATT as enunciated above is intended to create an
atmosphere of cordiality and congeniality in the work environment so as to enable ali
Company's human resources to give maximum production at all times.

CHAIRMAN

v
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RELEASE OF INFORMATION
AND CONFIDENTIALITY POLICY

Policy Number: HR: C000 Revision Number: 001

Respensible Officer: HR Manager Date Revised: Octoker 11, 2010
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RELEASE OF INFORMATION
AND CONFIDENTIALITY POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 001
Responsible Cfficar: Hit Manager Date Revised: October 11, 2010
POLICY STATEMENT

P

To ensure that employees are fully aware that the release of information is done through the
Corporate Communications Depariment and that the Authority's information must be treated as
confidential.

RELEASE OF INFORMATION

The Corporate Communications Depariment manages the Authority's image. As such, the
department is responsible for coordinating the release of information when the need arises.
Employees are disaliowed from giving or making statements to the media/public.

CONFIDENTIALITY
1. The Authority expects ail employess to held the confidentiafity of records and information
of the Authority enfrusted to their care as sacrosanct, as such, employses will be
required to sign a Confidentiality Daclaraticn to that effect, {(Form aftached).

2. Employees should refrain from discussing confidential Authority business with others,
including AATT employees, who do not have 5 legitimate need to have the information.

3. The Authority reserves the right to investigate all alleged breaches of confidentiality and
to take appropriate action where necessary.

Dzte of First Issus; January 2004 (Braft HR Poliey Manual)
Page 3
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Policy Number; HR: 0C00 Revision Number: 001
Responsible Officer: Corporate Secretary/ Date Revised; Qctober 11, 2010
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CONTENTS
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CONFLICT OF INTEREST AND
CONTRACTUAL RELATIONS POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 06C0 Revision Numbet: 001

Corporate Secratary/ Date Revised: October 11, 2010

Legal Advisor

[

POLICY STATEMENT
This policy is intended to guide empioy

of interest.

CONFLICT OF INTERESTICONTRACTUAL RELATIONS

1~ Eull time permanent employees shall not engage in employment outside the Authority

without the prior writien approval of the General Manager if in his/her opinion such
hority’s interest.

employment is not prejudicial to the Aut

Responsible Ofiicer:

ees in avoiding situations which may arise from conflicts

2. Authority WOrK requirements, including overtims, wiil have preference over any outside

employment.

n behalf of ihe Authority with any supplier,
ntity whose business they have any interest
pecial relationship.

3. Employees must not iransact business 0
customer, contractor of other person or €
direcily or indirectly of with whom they have as

erfere with employess’

clude activities which substantially int
business relationships

+heir contribution to the Authority; and
te with the Authority.

4. Other confiicts of interest in
performance and uliimately
which may or may not compe

or business interest, you are advised o inform the General

5. if unsure of any refationship
| conflicts so that guidance could be given.

Manager in writing of potentia

Date of First [ssue: January 2004 (Draft HR Policy Manual)
Page 6
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Frepared by Compiled by Msuresn Mc Lean
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PROFESSIONAL INTEGRITY POLICY

Policy Number:

Responsible Cificer:

HR: 0000 Revision Number: 001

Corporate Secratary/ Date Revised: Octeber 11, 2010
Legal Advisor

CONTERTS

....................................................................................................

l...zg

o 8

Date of First Issue:

January 2004 (Draft HR Policy Manuai) J
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PROFESSIONAL INTEGRITY POLICY

Policy Numbsr: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 001

Responsible Cfficar: Corporate Sacretary/ Date Revised: Octeber 11, 2010

Legal Advisor

POLICY STATEMENT

Consistent with our opsrating principles, employees should strive to conduct all business
dealings and relationships with integrity, honesty and respect for others. Employees should
loyally and faithfully serve our principles and always deal fairly and honestly with customers and
others with whom we do business. No employee should knowingly permit any fransaction to
occur through his or her offices that is not fair to the Authority and customers alike.

FRAUD

1.

N

The Authority does not psrmit or condone fraud of any kind. This includes bribes,
kickbacks, or any other illegal, secret, or improper payments, {ransfers or receipts. This
prohibition applies to both the giving and the receiving of payments or gifts.

All payments and transfers or other items of value to employees of the other business
entities or to such entities themselves shall be made openly and must be disclosed and
authorised in advance by the principal, the beneficiary and the Authority.

No employee shall offer, give or transfer any money or anything else of vaiue for the

personal benefit of any employee or agent of another business entity for the purpose of:

= Obtaining or retaining any business that the businass entity itself would not otherwise
provide,

o Receiving any kind of favoured treatment that the business entity itself would not
otherwise provide.

o Inducing or assisting such employee or agent to violate any duty to his employer or
to violate any law.

No employee shall assist in the misuse of suppliers’ or the Authority’s funds, including,
without fimitation, the misappropriation of such funds for the personal benefit of
employees cf the suppiier, the Authority or customers.

No outside agent of any kind shall be used to circumvent the prohibition against bribes,
kickbacks and other illegal secret or improper payments. Fees, commissions and
expenses paid to outside agents must be based upon proper billings, accurate record-
keeping and reasonable standards for services rendered.

Date of First Issue: January 2004 (Draft HR Policy Manual)

Page 8

A d B



Policy Number:

Respensible Officer: Corporate Secretary/

PROFESSIONAL INTEGRITY POLICY

HR: 0000 Revision Number: 004

Date Revised: October 11, 2010
Legal Advisor

GIFTS AND ENTERTAINMEN

1.

Date of Firstissue!

Except in connaction with and specifically pursuant to programs officially authorised by
the Authority, employses may not accept, directly or indirectly, any money, objects of
value from any person or company thet has or is doing or secking business with the

Authority.

Providing excessive gifts of entertainment to others who may represent potential

husiness is prohibited.

eals, entertainment, gifts or favours

Employess may accept only husiness-related m
valie involved is niot significant and

when authorised by Management and when the
clearly will not create an obligation to the donor.

January 2004 (Drait HR Policy Manual)
Page 10
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POLICY FOR THE USE OF

COMPANY PROPERTY
Palicy Number: HR: 0000 nevision Number: 001
Responsible Officer: WMianager - Administration  Date Revised: October 11, 2010
CONTENTS
BOLICY STATEMENT cvvvmssmsmrersssss st s s s 13
LJSE OF COMPANY VEHIGLES 1oeevvesaeserreecsssssscrssasmsss s s s s e 13
USE OF COMPANY EQUIPMENT ooovieevesemms e v im0 14
(telephone, zacsimile machines, computers and photocopiets)
Date of First Issuel January 2004 (Draft HR Palicy Manual}
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POLICY FOR THE USE OF

COMPANY PROPERTY
Policy Nurmber: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 001
Responsible Officer: Manager - Administraicn ~ Date Revised: October 11, 2010

POLICY STATEMENT E
This policy is intended to guids employees on the usage of the Alrports Authority's property.

USE OF COMPANY VEHICLES

1. Company vehicles are to be used in conducting the Authority’s business only.
2. Users of company vehicles are limited to AATT em ployees only.

3. Drivers are not alfowed to carry any unauthorized persons (eg. hitchhikers) in the
company vehicle.

4. A vehicle may ba assignad where the employee may experience a degree of difficulty in
psiforming the dutiess without readily available transportation or transportation is
frequently required to do thelr jobs within nomal working hours.

5. All drivers must have a valid driver's permit in the relevant class for the vehicie that they
are required to drive.

6. Seat belts must be worn at ail times whilst driving the vehicle and it is the driver's
responsibility to ensure that all passengers are using their seat belts.

7. Drivers must not be under the influence of drugs (illegal and/or prescribed) or alcohol
when using company vehicles.

8. Cellutar telephone use while driving is strongly discouraged. To take a call, drivers must
be guided by the legislation, that is, they must use a headset. Notwithstanding, the

driver should move the vehicle to the road side and come to a compleie hait fo take a
call if has become necessary o do so as weli as to make calls.

9. Smoking is strictly prohibited in company vehicles.
10. Drivers must not drive if exhausted o the point that it affects thelr ability to react.

11. Vehicles must be secured properly when left unattended, that is, windows up and doors
locked.

12. After use of a company vehicle, drivers must remove all waste/trash if any.

Date of First Issue: January 2004 (Draft HR Policy Manual)

Page 13
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POLICY FOR THE USE OF

COMPANY PROPERTY
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Nurnber. 001
Responsible Officer: Manager - Administration Date Revised: Octoper 11, 2010

13. If drivers experience any difficulties with a vehicle, on retumn the problem must be
reporied.

14. Drivers should ensure that the vehicle is in sound working order before embarking on a

irip.

USE OF COMPANY EQUIPMENT
Equipment covers telephones, computers, photocopiers, sacsimile machines and any other

equipment owned by ihe Authority but not specifically mentioned in this policy.

1. The Authority’s equipment is meant for carrying out the work of the Authority only:

The telephones and fax machines are provided for conducting ihe Authority’s
business. Therefore, personal use should be limited to urgent or emergency
situations. Overseas calis or faxing are not permitted.

o Computers are provided to employees to aid them in achieving their work goals.
Howaver, employees who are studying may seek approval from their Department
Head to use the computers to facilitate work on siudy assignments during their

braaks or afier working hours.

d for the reproduction of the Authority’s documents.

Priar approval from the Depariment Head must be given if employess need to make
copies for their personal use. Department Heads must use their discretion in
granting approval which would take into consideration the number of copies to be

made.

« The photocopiers are provide

Diats of First lssue January 2004 (Draft HR Policy Manual)
Page 14



EMALIL USAGE POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000

Responsiblzs Officer: KManager - Corporate Date Revised: October 22, 2010
Communications

POLICY STATEMENT ,

The purpose of the Email Usage Policy is to ensure the appropriate use of the Authority’s email
system efficiently and productively and to ensure all users are aware of what the Authority
considers to be acceptable and unacceptable use of its email system, to prevent tamishing the
public image of the Authority. The policy defines the standards of use for the Authority’s email
system.

USAGE
1. All email accounts maintained on the Authority's email systems are the properly of the
Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago. The primary purpose of the email system is
for legitimate business use.

2. The Authority reserves the rights to monitor messages that are stored, sent, or received
on the organisation’s email system without prior notice to ensure proper use and
cempliance to this and other related policies.

3. Any employee who violates this policy may be subject {o disciplinary action, up to and
Including termination of employment.

GUIDELINES FOR WRITING EMAIL

The email system is a communication tool provided by the Airports Authority of Trinidad and
Tobago (Authority) to its employees, consultants and other agents for the transmitting of digital
information, to support the functioning of the organisation and conducting the Authority’s
business. The email system aims to enhance productivity and efficient communication,
especially when using the following guidelines:

1. Wirite well-structured email and use proper spelling, grammar and punctuation. Users
must read and spell check all email before sending.

2. Signatures must include the sender's name, job fitle, company name and contact
numbers. A corporate disclaimer will be added underneath the signature (see Email
Disclaimer).

3. Do nct send unnecessary attachments or large attachments.

4. Be polite. Do not write email in upper case as it is interpreted as shouting.

Messages should be addressed to those from whom an action or response is expected,
‘cer” or “bee:” should be used for other recipients for whom the message is for
information only.

o

8. Always enter a meaningfui title in the ‘subject’ field to help the reader.

Date of First Issue;
Page 17
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EMAIL USAGE POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 0000 mevision Number: 000
Responsible Officer. Manager - Corperate Date Revised: Cciober 22, 2010
Communications

10.
1.

12.

13.
14.
15.
The Authorily considers email as &
significance of appropriate email con

and delivering good customer gervice. Users
they would for any other correspendence sut

If you forward mail, state clearly what action you expect the recipient to take.

send sensitive information via email.
played on a public notice board.
der rephrasing the emai or.

Be careful what content is shared in email; do nat
Only send email of which the content could be dis
they cannot be displayed publicly in their current state, consi
using cther means of communication.

Only mark email as important if they are really urgent or important.

When you reply or try to unsuhscribe to spam you

Do not reply to spam or junk email.
4ive’. Spam should be deleted.

are confirming your email address is

Users need io request permission from their Supervisor/Manager before subscribing to a

newsletter or news group.

Delete any emall messages that you do not need a copy.

t-of-Office option when they are away for three days (3) or

Emplioyees must set the Ou
k-related matiers.

more stating an a_!temative contact for wor

E-mail should be checked regularly; once a day is an absolute minimum. Depending on
the nature of the post, e-mail may need checking on a more regular basis.

Empioyees must seek permission from their Department Manager or Communications
Department to use ‘reply all' and distribution lists must be used with caution. When using
distribution lists ensure the intended recipients are listed. Limiting the number of
recipients reduces the risk of sending messages {0 the wrong people.

n important means of communication and recognizes the
tent and timely replies in conveying a professional image
should take the same care in drafting an email as
h as memos and letters.

Nate of First lssue!
Page 18



=MANL USAGE POLICY

Policy Number: HR: GG0O Revision NMumber: 000

o Responsible Officer: Manager - Corporate Date Revised: October 22, 2010

Communications

PROHIBITED USE

The Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago's email system shall not to be used for the
following purposes:

1.

10.

The creation or transmission of any disruptive, or offensive messages, including
discriminatory comments about race, gender, disabilities, age, sexual orientation,
pornography, religion, political beliefs, or nationality. Employees who receive any emails
with this content from any Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago employee should
report the matter immediately to the Depariment Manager.

Advertising or promote any private business, product or activity.
Sending chain letiers or junk email.

The intentional or negligent distribution of computer viruses, worms, malicious codes or
other items of a destructive or deceptive nature.

The unauthorized dissemination of sensitive (e.g. confidential) information to external
sources without approval from Department Manager. The Authority reserves the right to
investigate ali alleged breaches of confidentiality and fo take appropriate action where

necessary.
The sending of mass mailing that does not meet the mass mailing requirements.

The sharing of the Authority's electronic email list to any external parson without
approval from the Department Manager. '

The disguising or misrepresenting your identity when sending mail.

Using or attempling to use the email accounts of other employess without their
permission.

The forwarding of messages or attachments belonging to another user without
permission from the originator.

Date of First Issue;

Page 19
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EMAIL USAGE POLICY

Policy Number:

Responsible Cfiicer.

HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Manager - Corporate Date Revised: October 22, 2010
Communications

DEFINITIONS

Chain letters

An email sent to successive people. Typically the body of the
massage has direction {o send out multiple copies of the message
and promises fortune if the direction is followed.

Electronic Email List

List of e-mail addresses.

Fmail Address

Is an identified electronic location for the delivery of messages such
as communications@tntairports.com

Email System

The electronic transmission of information through a mail protacol.

Junk Email

Also know as email spam is advertisements for products or services
mailed indiscriminately to a large distribution.

Sensitive information

Information or knowledge that might result in loss of an advantage
or level of security if disclosed to others who might have low or
unknown trust ability and/or indeterminable or hostile intentions.

\irus

A virus is a program designed to copy itself. infect and petentially
damage files on a computer that receives it

Date of First Issue:

Page 20
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DRESS CODE/ UNIFORRM

POLICY
Palicy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 002
Respensible Officer: HRO — Employee Date Revised: April 26, 2013

Fslations

POLICY STATEMENT

The following dress code is intended to serve as a guide {o help define appropriate business
wear for all employees of the Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago.

The primary objective of this code is to have employees project a professional image while
taking advantage of more casual and comfortable business attire. The code should also help to
set the parameters for proper business wear and aflow employees to make intelligent judgments
about items that are not specifically addressed.

DRESS CODE

1.

Each employee’s dress should be appropriate to the work situation as they are expected
at all times to present a professional, businessiike image to customers, prospects and

the public.

Oifice staff should not wear fo work, suggestive and/or tight attire, athletic clothing,
sleeveless attire, leggingsttights, shorts, | jeans, t-shirts, tank tops, sandals, slippers, flip
flops, novelty buttons, caps and similar items of casual aftire that do not represent g
businesslike appearance. (Jeans and t-shirts would be acceptable for some employees
due to the nature of their work).

Jewelry shouid be conservative; the nature. of your job must also be taken into
consideration in selecting appropriate jewelry and accessories.

Head wear will be acceptable if worn for religious purposes only.

Employees who are visiting the office whilst off duty are reminded that their dress should
be appropriate for the office environment. ltems of clothing as outlined in 2 above are
not appropriate for the office.

GROONING

1.

Hair should be clean, combed and neatly trimmed or arranged. Shagay, unkempt hair is
not permissible regardless of length.

Sideburns, moustaches and beards must be neatly trimmed.

Tattoos and body piercings (cther than earrings) must not be visible,

Date of First ssue: Cclober 15, 2007 {Draft)

Page 23

Arrrsiad bas



DRESS CODE/ UNIFORM

POLICY
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Reavision Number: 002
Responsible Officer: HRO — Employee Date Revised: April 26, 2013

Relations

UNIFORMS
The Authority will provide uniforms as follows:

Male (Adminisirative)
s Long/short sleeve shiris
Ties (optional, depending on nature of duties)
Slacks (appropriate colours, pearing in mind business weaar)
Footwear - shoes and socks appropriate for dress
Jackets (for these required o wear them).

e B 0 @

Female (Administrative)
« Business dress, suits, skirts, slacks and/or shirts

o Foctwear — safe, sensible, smart, and in good or
safety.

der, tzking into consideration health and

Male (Field)

. Coveralls or other appropriate industrial type aitire.
o Footwear — safety shoes as provided by the Authority.

Female (Figld

= Coveralis or other appropriate industrial type attire.
» Footwear — safety shoes as provided by the Authority
Note: Adminstrative Staff going into the field should be provided with safety shoes.

1. All employees who are required to wear uniforms at work must wear them.

2. Uniforms must not be altared in such a way as o change the appearance, for example,
no other pieces of clothing must be substituied or added.

3. The uniforms are expected io be clzan, neat and ironed and should show no significant
signs of wear and tear 0 as to disrespact the Authority or its customers.

4. Uniforms will be provided by the Authorily (svery 2 years) (0 specific employess and
would be replaced after normal wear and tear. Howsver, if replacement is warranied
due to the employee’s negligence the cost of replacement will be bome by the

empioyee.

Date of First issue: October 15, 2007 (Draft)
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DRESS CODE/ UNIFORM

POLICY
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 002
Responsible Officer: HRO - Employee Date Revised: April 26, 2013

Relations

5. Any emgloyee who presents himselffherself for work without the prescribed uniform and
does not have a valid reason will be required to take corrective action which may include

l=aving the premises.

CORPORATE CASUAL UNIFORM FOR DRESS DOWN
At its discretion, the Authority would allow employees to dress in a more casual fashion than
normally required. However, those occasions would be specified by the Authority.
e A Corporate Shirt would be issued for use on such occasions.
o  All slacks/skirts to accompany the Corporate Shirt must be black.

ATTIRE FOR NATIONAL FESTIVALS
1. On the occasions of national festivals, employees will be allowed to wear attire that is

associated with the respective festivals.

2. Employees who do not wish to dress for national festivals are expecied to be in uniforms
or appropriate business wear for employees who have not been issued with uniforms.

MATERNITY UNIFORM (SECURITY STAFF)
Based on the Collective Agreement and memorandum dated July 1, 2009 (ref: 1890-07/0%

HRD) the following will apply to our female Security Officers:

1. A pregnant Officer will be entitled to three (3) maternity uniforms.
2. Alireceipts for reimbursement must be presented.

3. The Authority will reimburse in full. However, uniforms exceeding $700.00 must have
approval from the Human Resource Manager.

Date of First Issus: Qctober 15, 2007 (Draft)
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DRESS CODE/ UNIFORM

POLICY o
Policy Number: HR: 000D Revision Number: 002
Responsible Oificer: HRO — Employee Date Revised: April 28, 2013

Relations }
|

CONSEQUENCES FOR BREACH OF CODE

1. Any employse who does not meet the standards of this code will be required fo take .
corrective action, which may include leaving the premises. o

2. Employees will not be compensated for any work time missed because of failure to ‘
comply with this policy. ‘

3. First violation of non-compliance with the policy would resuft in verbal warning and
progressive disciplinary action will be taken for further violations.

Date of First [ssuel October 15, 2007 (Drail) ;
Page 26 ,,f
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IDENTIFICATION PASS POLICY

Policy Numbker: HR: 0000 Revision Number; 000

Responsible Officer: Assistant Superintendent  Date Revised:
- Administration

PCOLICY STATEMENT
Employees are required to comply with security regulations regarding their Passes and
cooperate with security personnel as they execute their functions regarding same.

POLICY

Identification Passes
This is adopted from the Aerodrome Operator Security Programme.

1. All airport employees and visitors are required to wear and display their Passes whilst on
duty and/or when in a restricted area.

2. Passes must be clearly displayed on the outer garment and above the waistline of the
bearer.

3. Passes shall be used for official purposes oniy.

4. Passes are the property of the Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago and are not
transferable.

5. All expired Passes must be returned to the AASD for records and disposal.

8. All authorised Pass-holders are obligated to chalienge other persons not displaying valid
Passes whilst in a restricted area.

Renewal of Passes
1. Renewal of passes will be done only after employees have attended the Security
Awareness Programme.

2. Once selected for the Authority's Security Awareness Programme attendance is
mandatory.

Staif members are required to co-operate with Security perscnnel and to abide by any
instructions they may issue from time to time.

Date of First Issus: Qctober 19, 2010
Page 28
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SMOKING POLICY
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revisicn Number: 000
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SROKING POLICY

Revision Number: 000

Policy Number: HR: 0000
Responsible Officer: HR Manager Date Revised:
POLICY STATEMENT

This policy is derived from legislation, namely, The Tobacco Control Act, 2009.

POLICY
1. Section_12 (1) of the Act states:
“No person shall smoke or hold a lighted tobacco product in any encloged public place,
enclosed workplace, or public conveyance including wut not limited to any place listed in

the Second Schedule.”

2. Any employse found 1o be in violation would be subject to disciplinary action.

DEFIMITIONS

e e i

t or work

Means any place used by perscns during their employmen
and includes vehicles, common areas, any other area which is
generally used during the course of employment or work, but does
ot include private residences of private vehicles.

Workplace

Second Schedule This is a listing of 'No Smoking Areas’ with () listed as workplaces.

Nete of First Issue:
Page 32
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RECRUITMENT AND RETIREMENT

POLICY
Policy Mumber: HR: 0600 _ Revision Number: 000
Rasponsible Officer: HRO — Recruitment and Date Reavisaed: December 30, 2010
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RECRUITMENT AND RETIREMENT
POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 000 Revision Number: 000

HRO — Recruitmentand ~ Date Revised: December 390, 2010

Responsible Officer.
Planning

POLICY STATERENT
The Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago will establish and maintain a worldorce of the

highest quality which can contribute to the achievement of the organisation’s mission and goals.
The organization in pursuit of excellence at all times, wil establish and maintain employment
practices which are non-discriminating and which will afford equal opportunity 10 all citizens on

the basis of their qualifications, experience and ability.

Agreements for noth the Public Services
the decision making procsss.

This policy includes articles from the Collective
Association and the Estate Poiice Association to aid

RECRUITMENT PROCESS
The number and categories of employees required by the organization will be specified in the

recruitment programme which iz derived from the human resources plan. [n addition, there will
pe constant demands for replacements or new jobs to be filled. However, before any action is
taken, these demands must be checked to ensure that they are justified. Requirements for all

pasitions will be set out in Job Descripticns and Job Specifications.

The following should be noted:

{. The organization will recruit externally where it has been determined that no suitable

candidates for a vacant position are avsilable internally.
2. Applications from suitably qualified external candidates will normally be sought through
. appropriate public adveriisements.

s#orded to nationals and residents of Trinidad and
t the reguirements and who qualify for the grant of a
d for employment where no suitable qualified national

3. Priority of employment wil be &
Tobago. \on-nationals, who mee
work permit, will only be considere
or resident is identified.

SELECTION

The sclection of candidates will be based on interviews, compstency tests and pre-employment
medicals hefore a final selection decision is made and a final assessment made based on their
qualifications, interpersonal skills, training and experience and the reguirements of the joh as

determined by the Job Descriptions and Job Specifications.

DCate of First tssue! January 2004 (Drait HR Policy Manual)

2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agresment Page 35
5005 TC 2008 EPA Collective Agreement =8



RECRUITMENT AND RETIREMENT

POLICY
Policy Number: HI: 0600 Revision Number; 000
Responsible Officer: HRO - Recruitrent and Date Revised: December 30, 2010
Flanning
EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES

't is the policy of the AATT to be non-discriminating in its employment practices. However,
where the employment of relatives of employees of the organisation is concemed, the following
guidelines must be adhsred fo:

1. Employees and their relatives must not be placed in positions where one is direcily or
indirectly involved in the assessment of the performance of the other or where there is a
fikelihood that they could take action to subvert the organisation’s systems and controls.

2. Situations in which the employment of relatives may constitute or be perceived as
constituting favouritism or inequity must be avoided at all times.

ORIENTATION

An orientation is conducted for nsw employsas to familiarice them with their colleagues, the
snvironment and the operations of the Authority. The orientation is a collaboration between the
Planning and Recruitment and Training and Development units.

RECRUITMENT AND RETIREMENT - MONTHLY PAID STAFF (Article 2, Collective
Agreement) '

1. Minimum age of recruitment shall be 17 years.

2. (a} An Officer shall normally be required to retire from the Authority comptlsory on
attaining the age of sixty (60) years. However, an employee shall have the option of
early retirement between the ages of fifty five (55) and sixty (60) years.

(b) Notwithstanding 2(a) above, the Authority, having regard to its operational
requirements, may proceed to hire or retain in its employ any person above the
compulsory retirement age. However, the person must be a specialist in his field and
shail be hired after consultation with the Association.

(c) The maximum age of recruitment shall be foriy five (45) years.

' RETIREMENT — SECURITY (Article 18, Collective Agresment)

The retirement of an Estate Police Officer shall be compulsory at age sixty (50) years.
However, retirement shall be optional between the ages of fifty five {55) and sixty (60) years and
fiity (60) with-the approval of the Authority.- : :

Date of First Issue: January 2004 (Drait HR Policy Manual)
2008 TO 2010 PSA Callective Agresment Page 35
2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement g
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POLICY
FOR FILLING VACANCEES

Policy Number: HR: 00co Revision Number: 000

Responsible Officer: HRO - Recruitment and Date Revised: December 30, 2010
Flanning

POLICY STATEMENT

This policy has been reviewed and updated to cater for tha relevant Articles of the Collective
Agreements for both the Public Services Association and the Estate Police Association.

VACANCIES - INTERNAL
The Recruitment and Planning Section, on recelving a Request to Fill Vacancy Form, shall
circulate an internal advertisement to all Staif.
In the event that eligible/suitable candidates are available, internal recruitment shall take place
in the form of either:
(i) PROMOTIONAL
A promotion is the advancement of an employeg’s position or rank in the organisational
hierarchy system.

{ii) CAREER ADVANCEMENT
Career Advancement (upward or lateral) refers to the development of an employee in
the organisation along their chosen vocation.

Eefore promoting / appointing an employee 1o a particular position, fo ensure that the candidate
is able to handle the added responsibilities, the employee must be screened through an
Interview process.

The following factors shall be given consideration for Promotions or Career Advancement:-

{a) Performance:
Where there has been a satisfactory level as determined
under the Performance Appraisal System.

(b) Potential:
Where there is indication that the candidate has the ability to
perform at a higher level, even though his/her performance at
the time is not at a high level, but being incumbent in the
position would assist in the realisation of his/her potential.

{c) Qualifications and Experience:
Where the qualifications and experience of the candidate are
up to the standard required in accordance with the Job
Specification,

Date of First Issue: August 14, 1984
Page 39
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POLICY
FOR FILLING VACANCIES

S e

Policy Number: HR: 00C0 Qevicion Number: 000
Respensible Cfficer. LRO — Recruitmentand  Date Revised: December 30, 2010
Planning

I

Procedure:

1. Upon receipt of the eligible/suiiable applications, the Authority shall consider the said
applications and short list candidates for interviews and shall notify those applicants not
isted why they were not considered suitable for the position.

2 After inferviewing the internal candidates, the Authority shall appoint / promoté such
person(s) it considers eligible. ,

3. All appointments / promotions shall be made in writing.

4, Unsuitable/unsuccessiul candidates shall be notified in writing.

5. \Where two of moré employees are equally suitable for consideration for a promotion of
career advancement, seniority shali be the deciding factor.

6. \Where an employee iS appointed / promoted, and piaced on probation ie. if employee
has not acted in position previous o appointment / promotion, such probationary period
shall not exceed six (6) months if he/she is found suitable.

7 \Where after internal advertisement, a vacancy cannot be filled from among existing
employees; it will be odvertised outside the Authority.

Date of First issug August 14, 1984
. Page 40
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POLICY

FOR FILLING VACANCIES
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revizion Number: 000
Responsible Gificer: HRO — Recruitment and Dale Revised: December 20, 2010
Planning

EXTERMAL RECRUITMENT

1.

The organization will recruit externally where it has been determined that no suitable
candidates for a vacant position are available internally.

Applications from suitably qualified external candidates will normally be sought through
appropriate public advertisements. External Advertisements can be done via:

o Advertisements (onfine, print medja);

e Recruitment Agencies.

Priority of employment will be afforded to nationals and residents of Trinidad and
Tobago. Non-nationals, who meet the requirements and who qualify for the grant of a
work permit, will only be considered for employment where no suitable qualified national
or resident is identified.

Procedure
1.

Based on consultation with the Manager, Human Resources, the Human Resources
Ofiicer-Recruitment and Planning would compife an advertisement for the post.

Al Advertisements shall include the Job Title, Salary Range, Job Summary and Job
Requirements of the post and shouid state that UNSUITABLE APPLICATIONS WOULD

NOT BE ACKNOWLEDGED.

The Advertisement would then be sent to the Deparimental Head (where the position
exists) for review.

The Advertisement is then approved by the Manager, Human Resources, the General
Manager, or the Board of Directors accordingly.

The Advertisement is forwarded {o the Corporate Communications Depariment with a
schedule of print dates. Advertisements should be open for 2-4 weeks allowing
candidates a reasonable time period to respond.

Receive and collate applications received in response to the advertisement.
Applications must then underge an initial shori-listing by the HRO-Recruitment and
Planning and the Manager, Human Resources.

Applicants who have not met the minimum qualifications and experience will be
excluded, the remaining applicants will be sent to the Departmentat Head (where the
position exists) with recommendations as fo the criteria that should be applied for further
short-listing and/or approval.

Date of First lssue: August 14, 1984

Page 41
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POLICY
FOR FILLING YACANCIES

ey

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number. 000

HRO — Recruitment and Date Revised: December 30, 2010

Planning

. -

t and Planning would then scresn the short-listed applicanis 10
i the short list which would then be

| approval.

Responsible Officer:

8. The HRO-Recruitmen
ensure that there has been consistency in arriving a

forwarded to the Manager, Human Resources for fina

9. The short listed persons are then contacted to attend an interview.

Date of First lssue. August 14, 1984
Page 42

e ] B Ra=rd of Direntnrs iR~mrd Proner 7182 Board Maatina 2RIA4Y



cem

POLICY

FOR FILLING VACANCIES
Policy Numbey; HR: 0G0 Revision Number: 000
Respensible Officer: HRO - Recruitment and Date Revised: December 30, 2010
Planning

EXAMINATIONITEST PROCEDURE

Some positions require testing candidates before the interview to determine their ability to
periorm the job. Tests may be developed and conducied by the Recruitment and Planning
section however, there will ba the option to cutsolrce depending on the type of testing reauired.
The following interview positions would be tested as follows:

Clerk |, Secretary |, 1l and i
1. Suitable applicants would be subjected to an in-house Microsoft Office Applications test
before the inferview (this can be on the day of the interview or before),

2. Successful candidates are then interviewed In accordance with the procedure laid out
under the Interview Section.

Security Personnel
1. Candidates must b= eligible to be precepied.

2. Security candidstes rnust first undergo screening to determine their suitability.
Candidate’s acadamic gualifications are verified, their height, weight, and health ars
taken into consideration to determine sultability.  Screening is managed by the
Recruitment and Selection section as well as the Security Department.

3. Successful applicants ars then assessed by undertaking Mathematics, Grammar and
Comprehension, Problem Solving, General Knowledge, Dictation and Composition Tests
administered by the Recruitment and Planning section.

4. Candidates who have been successfy] at Stage (ii) are then interviewed.

5. At this stage, the successful candidates are subjected to a Medical Fitness Examination
i.e. blood screening checking for cocaine, marijuana, alcohol, HIV and pregnancy
(female applicants) by a Medical Praciitioner selected by the Authority.

6. Successful interviewed candidates are then supjected to a psychometric assessment.

7. Reference and background checks are conducted by the Recruitment and Planning
section for candidates who are successful at this stage. Checks are facilitated by an

External Security Firm,

Date of First Issue: August 14, 1584
Page 43

Annmrmvad g Remed oF Diraeta=e 1mand Deomme T4 FOA ool B A tr v gem g o



POLICY
FOR FILLING VACANCIES

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000 .

Responsible Officer: HRO — Recruitment and Date Revised: December 30, 2010 o
Planning

# _‘

INTERVIEW PROCEDURE : _ :
j

The interview pracedure will apply to filing of both internal and external vacancies: o
1

i. The HRO-Recruitment and Planning arranges the interview(s) and co-opts an o
jate to the level of

Interviewing Pansl. This panel must include the following as approprl
the position as outlined below:-

RANGE PANEL :
HRO-Recruitment and _ Planning, Departmental Jl

1-3
Head, and one Neutral Party (selected from within e
the organisation).
4 Manager, Human Resources, Departmental Head u,_-.;
and one Neutral Party (selected from within the

organisation). a
J

5. After interviews have heen held, the Interviewing Panel should hold a discussion in order
to arfive at a decision.

.
and the HRO-Recruitment and Planning will then -
) and the discussions which were held. This
Human Resources with copies to |

3. The Panel would sign the score sheets
prepare a summary of the Interview(s

interview summary is o be submitted to the Manager,

the members of the interviewing Panel and 10 the relevant Departmental Head (ideally, il

the relevant Department Head should be a part of the Interview Panel). "

4. In cases where a Transfer is being initiated, a Change of Employment Status Form is o
prepared and sent to the Head of the recsiving Departmerit who signs indicating their
approval of the employee recommended by the Interviewing Panel (ideally, the relevant .
Depariment Head should be a part of the Interview Panel). At

5. \Where the selected person is @ NeW employee, a letler is sent to the Head of the
Depariment informing him/her of ihe selection and commencement date. i

6. The HRO-Recruitment and Planning then provides the Finance Department with the \'
relevant information regarding ihe remuneration of the naw employee. : =

aUel. August 14, 1984 |
Page 44 o
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POLICY

FOR FILLING VACANCIES
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO — Recruitment and Date Ravised: December 30, 2010
Planning

PROMOTION PROCEDURE ~ SECURITY STAFF (Article 29, Collective Agreement)

The Authority shall consider all eligible’ Estate Police Officers when filing any existing vacancy
on the following basis:

1.

:5“;-

On completion of five (5) years service an Estate Police Officer shall be eligible to sit the
promotional examination.

Alf Estate Police Officers shall be eligible for promotion providing that they obtain a pass
mark of at least 60% and above in each examination paper.

The Authority shall consider the following as the criteria for promotion — experiences,
performance, merit, ability, efficiency and suitably related to meeting the requirements of
the position.

The Authority shall appoint an Interviewing Committee comprising of a least three (3)

members which shall include the Human Resource Manager, the Head of Securify or his
delegate and an appointee from the Police Service above the rank of Assistznt

Superintendent.
Al eligible Officers must be intefviewed for the position.

The Authority shall give consideration subject to (1) above to an Estate Police Officers
devoted years of satisfactory service and seniority as criteria in determining his/her

suitability for promotion.
All appointments or promotions shall be made in writing.

The promotional examinations shall be held every three (3) years.

ACTING APPOINTMENTS

1.

Acting Appointments shall not be made solely as a result of an existing vacancy or
because a position has become temporarily vacant due to the incumbent being il or
proceeding on Vacation or Maternity Leave, but rather, they shall be:-

o  Only where there is a critical need for the vacancy to be filled and;

o There is an available employee who has the potentiai to perform the full scope of
duties of the higher post who, by being placed to act, would be afforded the
opportunity for experience and development. In this regard, the candidate must
satisfy all the criteria mentioned under Promotional / Career Advancament;

Date of First Issue: August 14, 1884

Page 45
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POLICY
FOR FILLING VAGANCIES

-

HR: 000D Revision Number: 000
December 30, 2010

Policy Number:

Responsible Officer. HRO - Recruitment and Date Revised:
Planning

-

Where the required duration neaded for cover of the duties is in excess of six (6)
weeks.

o

5 All acting appointmenis i the Authority shall be in wriing. Employees are not to
assume duties in any acting position unless and until informed in writing, except in cases
of emergency which must be confirmed later in writing to the employee.

3. Where fwo or more employees are found to be equally sujtable for consideration for an
Acting position, seniority shall be the deciding factor.

4. Where the employee is required to act in a higher position, he shall be paid at least the
minimum salary of the higher post in which he/she is acting provided that he has

assumed all the responsibilities of the post.

5. During the period of acting appointment, the employee shalt be antitled to all the benefits
accruing to the substantive holder of the position.

6. Where an Acting appointment is continuous for a year or more, the employee shall be
confirmed in the position within three (3) months sfer the completion of one. years
acting provided his/her performance assessment rating is very good.

7. I during the year of acting, the employee is found to be unsuitable, hefshe shall be

returned to his/her substantive position.

8. Confirmation in the position will not apply if the substantive holder of the post is on Study
Leave, Leave of Absence or any approved leave.

0. Acting Appointments should not, however, be interpreted as a promise of eventual

promotion.

10. All acting, except in vacant positions, shall take into consideration all eligible employees
serving either in Trinidad or in Tobago on a rotational basis.

ng) to positions which will be vacant for periods in

11. All appointments (temporary or act
endation from the Managef,

excess of one (1) year shall be filled by direct recomim
Human Resources.

The Authority may consuilt with the Association and may give due consideration to their
representations on the filling of vacancies within the bargaining unit.

Date of First Issuel August 14, 1984
Page 40

o L. R R o ot e Fie o e TAMOA T e [ PR LI T



POLICY

FOR FILLING VACANCIES
Policy Number: HR: 00C0 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO - Recruitment and Dats Revised: December 30, 2010
Planning

13.

14.

15.

18.

17.

18.

18.

Subject to the completion of preparation for the filling of a permanent vacancy in cases
of emergency, Article 12, item 4 should ba applied for a period of not more than twenty
eight (28) days.

Where an employee has acted continuously for a period of twelve (12) months in a
higher post and the employee continues to act in such higher post in excess of the
twelve (12) months, their period of acting, shall not be considered to have been broken if
the employee proceeds on annual leave including casual absences or ordinary sick
leave during the acting appointment.

If the employee in the higher post has not acted continuously for a period of twelve (12)
months and proceeds on annual leave including casual absences or ordinary sick leave
during the acting appointment, the period of acting shall be broken and the employee’s
salary will revert to their substantive.

Where an employee has been acting in a higher post for more than twelve (12) months
and is in receipt of the minimum salary and increment(s) in such a post, he/she shall
continue to receive such salary and increment(s) after a break in the acting appointment
if:

e Such employse resumed acting within six (6) months in the same post or another
post in the same salary range in which he/she was acting before such a break;

o The break was caused by his/her proceeding on leave of any type for a period not
exceeding one (1) year and the employee resumes duty in the higher post within six
(8) months of his/her resumption of duty.

Where an empioyee, having acted in a higher post for more than twelve (12) months and
in receipt of increment(s) in such post, resumes acting in the same post or another post
in the same salary range within six (6) months of a break in such acting appointmeni, the
incremental date of that employee in such higher post shall be set back only by the
unexpired period of the employee’s incremental year at the time such break occurred.

For example, if an employee in receipt of at least one increment in a higher post in which
he/she was acting had his/her acting appointment broken five (5) monihs after his/her
incremental date in such higher post and resumed acting in the same post or another
post in the same salary range within six (6) months of the break, his/her incremental
date in such higher post should fall seven (7) months after the date helshe resumed
acting in such post.

Where the post in which an employee is acting, is a traveiling post, he/she shall be
eligible for;

Date of First Issue:; August 14, 1984
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POLICY
FOR FILLING VACANCIES
—/———r”— [
Policy Number. HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000

HRO — Recruiiment and Date Revised: Dacember 30, 2010

Planning

. -

saciated with acting in

Responsible Officer.

20. Payment of travelling and allowance and any cther allowances as
the given higher position;
of a Motor Vehicle where the Authority certifies that such acting

21. A loan for the purchase
(6) months or more on a continuous basis.

will be for a period of six

ACTING APPOINTMENTS — SECURITY STAFF (Article 28, Collective Agreement)

appointed in wiiting to actin a position of & higher rank
hift cycle shall be paid a2 minimum salary of the post In
his substantive salary.

4. An Estate Pofice Officer who is
for more than one (1) rostered s
which heishe is acting, provided it is higher than

appointed to act as in (1) above shall he qualified for

2. An Estate Police Officer who is
t during any period of Annuzal Leave or

higher pay while on normal sick leave but no
Extended Sick Leave.

3. |f an Estate Police Officer's acting appoi

helshe will be entitled to Vacation Leave and Allowances in the higher rank.

4. Effective from 1 Ociober 2004, the following shall zpply for Acting Appointments:

i In order to qualify to act in a higher rank, the Officer mest pass a promotional

examination.
i,  Subjectto (i), where the acting period is less than three (3) months, the most Senior
#icer on the shift where the acting arises will be appointed to act in the higher
position.
ii.  In the event ihat the most senior officer if
must be given an explanation/reason in writing, stati
He/she must be made aware of any shoricoming that may have hindered his/her
opportunity to act and be given svery opportunity to correct these shortcomings.
y.  Subject o (i) above, where an aciing appointiment oCCUrS for a period exceeding
three (3) months the senior officer within the Department shail he considered for ihe

appointment.
vi.  Acting inthe
. gn promotion dates.

averlooked for whatever reason helshe
ng why he/she was overlooked.

position of [nspector and above shail be dstermined on seniority, based

Data of First issue August 14, 1684
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POLICY
FOR FILLING VACANCIES

Palicy Mumber: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 009
2spornzsible Officer: . HRO — Recruitment and Deata Revised: December 30, 2010
Planning

5. An Estate Police Officer having acted continuously in a higher rank for a period of one
(1) year shall be entitied to be appointed to such higher rank, provided that he/she is
aualified to be so appointed and provided further, that the position be deemed vacant.
Where the foregoing conditions are satisfied, the Head of Security shall recommend the
promotion of the Estate Police Officer subject to the powers of the Commissioner of
Police to authorize, determine and assign the rank of Estate Police Officer.

TRANSFER

Transfers for the purpose of this policy on Filling of Vacancies shall be defined as inter-or-infra
deparimental movements in which the Salary Range/Job Classification of the person being
moved remains the same.

The Authority from time fo time may move personnel in the interest of the organisation since
flexibility and redeployment are essential tools of any changing organisation.

Transfers may result
¥

® On a rotational basis for training and development purposes;

e As a resuit of requests made by employees for family, health or
personal reasons;

e For filling of temporary vacancies;
To work on special assignments/projects.

In all cases, Transfers shall be put into effect giving consideration {o:

Availability: Where Heads of both Departments agree to releass and accept the
transferred employee accordingly .

o Performance, Qualifications and Experience: In accordance with the guidelines
under the Promotional, Career Advancement section.

Procedure
1. An employse wishing to be fransferred should place stch request in writing to his/her
Manager/Supsrvisor stating the following:

°  Present position;

° Position desired and location (i.e. Depariment and Section);

o  Reasons for requesting transfer; ' o

o On arotational basis for training and development purposes.
Date of First Issue: August 14, 1984
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POLICY

FOR FILLING VACAMNCIES
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: RO — Recruitment and Date Revised: December 30, 2010
Planning

-

7 The Manager/Supervisor should consider the request and discuss it with the employee
in relation to the reasons stated by him/her.

along with the recommendations from

3. All requests for Transfers should be forwarded,
Planning Section, Human

the relevant Department Head to the Recruitment and
Rescurces.

4. The Recruitment and Planning Section shall consider all requests for Transfers based on
discussions with and recommendations from the Manager, Human Resources.

5. Based onthese discussions the Manzagsr, Human Resources shall determine whether or
not the transfer should be granted.

8. The Recruitment and Planning Section would then issue a lstter 0 the employee

informing him/her of the decision.

UNREQUESTED TRANSFERS (invoiving relocation) ‘
o iransfer an employee from one

There may be occasions when the Authority wishes i

Department to another and this may involve relocation. On such occasions, the Manager,
Human Resources should discuss the iransfer with the employee in relation to his/her personail
circumstances.

gard to Promotion, Career Advancement,
an selected to fill the vacancy of (in case
far, the following shall be the procedure:

After the necessary criteria have been catisfisd with re

Acting Appointments of Transfers, and a person has be
of transfers) a decision has heen taken to effect a Trans

1. A Change of Employment Status Eorm initiated by the Human Resources Officer
(HRO) shall be forwarded for the signature of the relevant Manager, of (in case of a
Transfer) for signatures of the Managers of both the donar and the receiving Manager.

Form is retumed to the Recruiiment and

2 When the Changs of Employment Status
Officer would complete the remnuneration

Planning Section, the Human Resources
seciion accordingly.

3. Where the post is below the level of the Departmental Manager, the form can be signed
by the Manager, Human Resources. However, where the vacant position is that of
Departmental Manager of General Manager, the Change of Employment Status Farm

would be signed by the Generat Manager or the Board respectively.

Digie of First ssue! August 14, 1984 :
Page 50
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POLICY

FOR FILLING VACANCIES
Pelicy Mumber: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO - Recruitment and Date Revisad: Deceniber 30, 2010
Planning

:5;

The Recruitment and Planning Section shall then issue a letter to the employse
informing of the Promotion, Career Advancement, Acting Appointment or Transfer as the
case may be,

The Recruitment and Planning Section shall be responsible for advising Finance and
Administration Division of the change of status and of any remuneration, which may be
involved.

Where_thare are no suitable candidates available internally, the Authority shall fill

vacancies in accordance with the procedures for External Recruitment.

OFFER OF EMPLOYMENT

1.

ha

The Recruitment and Planning section shali be responsible for drawing up all Terms and
Conditions of Employment.

Adl Otfers of Employment shail be subject to favourable replies from referees indicating
that the candidate is suitable for employment.

Al persons to be employed by the Authority must bs passed medically fit by a medical
dactor designated by the Authority.

4. Al monthly paid persons employed by the Authority shall undergo a probationary period

L for at least six (8) months. This probationary period may be subject to extension by the
- Department Head after discussions with the Manager, Human Resources with regard to

nacassary improvement in performance.

Procedura

1. The Recruitment and Planning section would contact the successful candidates
- informing them of their selection.
2. I the offeris accepted by the successful candidate, he/she would be required to sign the
- duplicate copy of the offer letter and return it to the Human Resources Department.
3. The HRO-Recruitment and Planning is then responsible for providing the Finance
5= Department with the relevant information and advising the remuneration for the selacted

person.
| Date of First Issue: August 14, 1984
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POLICY

FOR FILLING VACANCIES
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO — Recruitment 2nd Daie Revised: December 30, 2010
Planning

. -

4. The General Manager and the Board are fo be advised of all appointments made by the
. Human Resouices Department.

5. After a candidate has heen empioyed, an Orientation shall be arranged by the Training o
and Development section of the Human Resources Depariment.

ADDITIONAL DUTIES
Additional Duties will be paid where an employee ag

the higher post in addition to those in their substaniive position for a temporary period i.e. not

exceeding six (6) weeks).
1. The Authority sha
undertaking and the remune

reas to cover a proportion of the duties of

Il notify the empicyse in writing whét additional duties hefshe will be
ration that the additional duties wil attract.

5. The Recruitment and Planning section shall be responsible for advising Finance of the
change of status and of any remuneration, which may be involved.

PROBATIONARY APPOINTMENTS
1. An employee on first appointme
months.

nt is required to serve a probationary period of six {6)

e of the employee will be monitored to -

2. During the probationary period, the performanc
hich hel/she was engaged.

determine his/her suit ability for the position forw

3. Atthe end of the probationary peried, the employeg’s performance will be evaluated by i
hisfher Supervisor and provided that the employse has met the required standards, ‘
helshe will be confirmed in the position as a8 permanent employee.

n promoticn to an ofice in which hefshe

4. Where however, an employee is appointed ©
the period of

has acted satisfactorily for more than six (6) rmonths continuously,
probation shall be waived. B
5. The foliowing principies shah ba observed for the treatment of an employee during
his/her period of probation: )

» Halshe shall be given an opportunity to learm hisfher work and be tested as {o histher

suitability;

s Helshe shall be accordad all possible facilities for acquiring expetience N his/her
duties; '
Data of First lssue! August 14, 1984 _
Page 52
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FOLICY
FOR FILLING YACARNCGIES

Paticy Mumber: HR: 0000 Ravision Number, 000
Responsible Ofiesr RO ~ Recruitmant and Date Revised: Desember 30, 2010
Elanning

e efsive shall be subject io continual and sympathatic supervision;

s if at any time during his/her period of probaiion he/she shall exhibit iendencies which
render it in any way doubiful that he/she is likely fo become it for confirmation in
his/her appointiment, these shall at once be drawn to his/her attention in writing by
his/her Supervisor and hefshe shall be given such assistance as may bs possible 1o
anable him/her o correct hisfhar imperfections.

8. If the new employee’s performance is assessed as unsuitzble, then the embloysa’s

probationary period may be exdended to allow for further evalua Lmn.
Where an exiension of the probationary period is to be served by the employes, ihe
tha

probationer must be notified in writing of the lengih of the extension not later than |
commencement of the exiended period. In any event, the exiended psried should not
axceed fwo (2) months,

7. The Head of the Division shail submit to the Human Resources Division, two (2)
performance evaluation reports on the employse on probation, one (1) in the middle of
the period and the other (final report), one (1) month before the expiratiory of the period.

8. The final periormance evaluslion report should maske one of the following
recommendations:

@

The employes confirmad in the appointmeni;
e The pericd of probation sxiendasd up fo a minimum of 2ix (8) months with relevam
iraining whsre riecessary;
The employea reveris {0 his/her former offics;
The service of the employss isrminated.

Subject (o @ (b} end (¢}, the Human Rsasources Depariment ehall within seven (7)
working days of receipt of the Pearformance Evaluation Repor, inform the employes of
this recommendsation and of the spacific reason thereof and shall invite the employes to
submit 2ny represenisiions hefshe may wish to make.

Lol

10. Where the period of probation has been exiended and the employee is subsequently
confirmed in his/her appointment, the Authority may direct that the employee’s increment
ha pald:

Date of First [ssue; August 14, 1984
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Balicy Muraber: HR: 0000 zavision Number: 000
fesponsible Oficsr: HRO ~ Recruitment and Date Reviged: Necember 30, 2010

Planning

s With effect from the date Tollowing that on which the extended period of probaticn
expired which would then, become his/her incremental date.

11. Where within two (2) years immediately preceding hisfher promotioniappointmeni, an
+hs or more fo which hefshe

employee has acted sai:is_factorﬂy in ¢he office for six {6) mon
i& subseduently promoted/appointed, such period of aggregate service shall be used to
offset hisfer probationary period.

o
[

. Vilhére an smployee is promoted before hefshe has compieied the full period of
orobation in the lower office, the un-ssivad portion of that period of probation shall be
deemmed to be waived and the employee deemed o be confirmed in that appointment.

MARY PERIOD — SECURITY STAFF (Ariicle 7. Collective Agreement]

PROBATION,
1. The probation period shell be for one (1) vear. Upon satisfactary completion of this

period, such Ectsie Police Officer shall recsive & letter of eppointment within one {1}
month, and the Authority shall tnarators tekes steps to have him/her precepiad.

2 The Authority may consider an exiension of this period up ¢ a8 further fwo (2} monihs
where it wishes to give the probationsr &n coporiunity to improve.

3. Where an exiension of the orobation period is 1o e served, the Probatiener shall be =0
me f nded pericd.

nofifiad in writing not later then the comi encsment of the exter

Fate of First issug: AUGUET
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Planning
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SEPARATION POLICY

Policy Number; HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000

Responsikle Officer: HRO — Recruitment and Date Revised: January 3, 2011
Planning -

POLICY STATEMENT

This policy was compiled using Articles taken from the Collective Agreements of the Public
Services Association and the Estate Police Association as well as memoranda or coniracis.

MONTHLY PAID STAFF

Termination/Resignation (Individual Appointment Letters)
Employees are required to give their resignation in writing giving one (1) month’s notice or one
(1) month's salary in lieu of notice.

Abandonment (Memorandum dated November 2, 2607)
Where an employee is absent from duty for more than five (5) days without reason, the Human
Resource Department must be informed immadiately.

Redundancy and Severance (Collective Agreement, Article 27)
1. Where for any reason, the Authority decides that an employee’s post is redundant, it

shall consuit with the employee and with the Association in order to deterrine:

o Whether or not the post is redundant

o [f the post is redundant, whether the employee could be redeployed into any other
post within the Authority taking into account the employee’s qualifications, age and

-+ experience

e The possibifity of retraining the employee for any other position that exists or may
arise with the Authority

« A period of forty-five (45) days notice shall be given to an employee whsre the post
he fills has become redundant.

2. The formula for paying Severance Pay due to redundancy shall be as folléws:

o 1-5 years service - % month’s salary for each year of service

e 8-10 years of sefvice - 1 month's salary for each year of service

e 11-15years of service - 1 % month’s salary for each year of service
o Over 15 years service - 1 Yamonth's salary for each year of service

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Coilective Agreement
2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement
Memorandum 02/11/07 Notification of Abandonment of Job Page 57
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SEPARATION POLICY

-

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000

HRO — Recruitment and Date Revised: January 3, 2011

Planning

-

SECURITY STAFE

Responsible Oificer:

ective Agreemeant, Article 23)

TerminationfResiﬂnatinn {Cofi
erminate his employment with £

an Estate Police Officer may i
month's notice in writing.

he Authority by giving one (1)

Abandonment Coliectévs Agareement Article 22 '
for a period of ten (10)

Where an Estate Police Officer is absent from duty without leave
continuous working days without notifying or communicating with the Authority, that Estate
Police Officer should be deemed to have abandoned his position.

= Agreement, Arficle 20) -
son, the Authority decides that an Estate Police Officers post is
the Association in order 10 determine:

Severance Pay (Collectiv
1. Where for any rea

redundant, it shall consult with the Officer and with
» \Whather or not the post is redundant
nether the Officer could be redeployed into any other post

s [fthe postis redundant, W
within the Authority taking into account the
experience

o The possibility of retraining the Estate P
or may arise with the Authority

» A period of forty-five (45) days no
fills has become redundant.

Officer's qualifications, age and

olice Officer for any other position that gxists

tice shall be given 10 an Officer where the post he

9. The formula for paying Severance Pay due o redundancy shall be as follows:
1-5 years service - 3 month’s salary for each year of service

6-10 years of service - 4 monih’s salary for each year of service
11-15 years of service - 1 % month’s salary for each year of service
Over 15 years service - 4 % monih’s salary for gach year of service

-]

8 @ @

Redundancwﬁetrenchment {Collective Acreement, Article 21)

1. The Authority will not lay-off or retrench any Estate Police Officer without first discussing

such a situation with the Estate Police Association.

9 In the event it becomes necessary to abolish any position of number of positions due io
redundancy, the Authority shall give forty-five (45) days notice in writing o the Estate
Dolice Association and shall at ine Csiste Police Association’s reguest, meet is

representatives t5 discuss the necessity for such redundancy.

3. The Authority shall take into account whethe

redeploymerit.

2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement

2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement
Memorandum 02/11/07 Notification of Abandonment of Job Page 58
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SEPARATION POLICY

Paolicy Number: HRE: 0000 Revision Numberr 000
Responsible Cfficar: HRO - Recruitment znd Date Revisad: Jznuary 3, 2011
Planning

N

SEPARATION PROCEDURE

Once employment with the Authority has ceased the Recruument and Planning section would
do the following:

1.
2.

Acknowledgement letter to the empioyee if necessary.
Advices sent to ASP, Operations, Financial Controller and Pian Administrator,

Exit interview conducted if necessary.

The identification, proximity, car park access and group health cards must be returned to
the Human Resource Department via the Department Head or Supervisor along with an
itemized record of any kits or company property returned.

The igentification, proximity and car part access cards to be forwarded to Pass Office
while the group haalth card would be forwardad to the Plan Administrator.

Data of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement

2008 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement
Memorandum 02/11/07 Motification of Abandonment of Job Page 59
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ATTENDANCE AND ABSENCE

POLICY
Policy Number: HR: 0000 " Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO — Employes Bensfiis  Date Revised: December 2, 2010

and Services

POLICY STATEMENT

in order for the Authority to carry out its mission effectively and achieve its stated objectives,
each employee is required to attend work regularly and punctuaily and to contribute to a full
day's work every day. Therefore, each employee is required to be on the job on all normal
working days from the appointed starting time and to work diligently during the course of the
work day except when on authorised leave of abssnce.

SHIFTS
The airport runs twenty four (24) hours seven (7) days a week. As a result, there is a
combination of regular and shift hours as follows:

8am —4pm;
Gam — 2pm;
Z2pm— 10pm;
10pm to 6am;
7am —-3pm;
10pm - 7am.

TTENDANCE REGISTER;'T IMRE CARDS
The Authority must control late coming and absentesism at all times. In an effort to reduce this
type of conduct the following must be observed:

1. The Authority requires all its employees (except Senior Officers and Managers) {o sign
an attendance register or clock time cards to show accurately when the employees
came to work and/or if they left work.

2. Employees are required to sign or clock out if, during the course of the work day, they
leave the Authority’'s compound for any reason.

3. Disciplinary action would resuit in breachss of this policy.

HOURS OF WORK AND WORK WEEK (MONTHLY PAID STAFF)

Davlight Employees
With the exception of shift employees normal hours of work shall be for a period of eight (8)
hours inclusive of lunch (of one hour) between 8.00am and 4.00pm per day from Monday to

Friday sach week of each calendar month (this would vary for employses on Flexible Time

Schedule — see Fiexible Time Policy for hours).

Date of First Issua: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreeament
2008 TO 2008 EPA Colleciive Agreemant Page 62
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ATTENDANCE AND ABSENCE

POLICY
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO — Employee Benefits  Date Revised. December 2, 2010

and Services

Shift Employess
The normal hours of work for employees who work on shift basis shall be those hours defined in
a thirty (30) minute meal

the duty shift roster not exceeding eight (8) hours per day including
break.

Telephong Operators
The Telephone Operator shall perform operating duties between the hours of 8.00am o 12.00

noon and shall proceed on one (1) hour lunch break from 12.00noon to 1.00pm. The Telephone
Operator shall be required to perform related clerical duties from 1.00pm to 2.00pm and shall

continue thereafter to perform telephone operating duties from 2.00pm to 4.00pm.

HOURS OF WORK AND WORK WEEK- SECURITY
1. |t is recognized and agreed that the Authority's operations is a public service requiring
twenty-four (24) hour coverage and in order to fulfill this service, the work shall be done

on a shift basis.

5 The normal hours of work for
per day and the normal work week shall be forty (40} hours.

consecutive days off each week in rotation.

an Estate Police Officer shall not exceed eight (8) hours
There shall be two

3. Meal period shall be provided over the eight (8) hour tour of duty.
A. An Estate Police Ofiicer should not leave his/her post until he/she is relieved or has
been sa permitted by his /her sDO.

Supervisor's Responsibility
1. Supervisors are responsi
=nd for controlling abssnteeism and tardiness.

ble for monitoring their charges’ attendance and timekeeping

9. Each Supervisor must kesp an accuraie record on the individual employee's late coming

and absentesism.

3. A general rule of thumb that Supervisors will use to determine if absence is excessive s
at least two (2) days per month over a six-month period.

o disciplinary action including dismissal

4. Excessive unauthorised absences are subject {
is riof taken in a timely manner.

and Supervisors will be held responsible if action

2008 TO 2010 PSA Collsciive Agreement

Date of First fssue:
3005 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement
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ATTENDANCE AND ABSENCE

POLICY
Policy Numiber: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responaibla Officer: HRO ~- Employee Benefits Date Reavised: December 2, 2010

znd Services

AUTHCRISED TIME-OFF
Employees must not take time-off at will. All time-off from an employee’s regular schedule must
be authorized.

1. Supervisors/Heads of Department must authorize all time-off.
2. No employee must take it upon himsel/herself to take time off when he or she feels like
it.

3. If there is an emergency, employees must make every efiort io contact the Authority fo
advise that they will be late or unable to attend work.

UNAUTHORISED ABSENCE
1. All absences without the expressed approval of the Supervisor/i-ead of Depariment are
deermed {0 be unauthorised. ,

2. Such absances by zn employee should not be approved unless a justifiable explanation
is given.

3. Ceontinued unzauthorized absence from work is subject to disciplinary action
Supervisor's Responsibility

Each instance of unauthorized absence should be submiited to €he Human Resources
Department within three (3) days of its occurrence.

1. Each instance of unauthorized absence should be queried by the Supervisor. Where the
reason given by the employee is unacceptable, the Supervisor must advise the

employee.

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Colleciive Agreement
2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agresment Page 64
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FLEXIBLE TIME POLICY

HR: C00G Revision Number:

Policy Number: 000
Respensible Cfficar: HRO — Employee Benefits Date Revised:
and Services
CONTENTS
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Date of First issue:
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FLEXIBLE TIME POLIGY

Revision Number: 000

Policy Number: HR: 0000

Responsible Cificer: HRO — Employee Benefits Dale Revised:
and Services

POLICY STATEMENT

The Autherity has introduced flexible working hours for iis daylight staif as this facility will
improve the utilisation of employees’ skills and capabilities, reduce employment costs and
‘increase productivity. Trafiic congestion and employses’ own individual circumstances have
contributed to the infroduction of the flexible time schedule.

tt should be noted that flexible time is not a contractual right but rather an arrangement that is

facilitated on a discretionary hasis.

POLICY

Core Hours
Care hours are the hours when all employees are requir

heen identified as 9.00am to 3.00pm.

ad to be ai woik. The core hours have

Flexible Time Schedule Application
This flexible time arrangement must be agree
Human Resources Depariment. This would be documen

d to by the Supervisor, Department Head and the
ted and signed by all parties.

Flexible Time Schedule Options
Employees can choose either one of

the following as their flexible working schedule:

7 00am to 3.00pm (with funch from 11.00am to 12.00pm)
9.00am to 5.00pm (with lunch from 1.00pm to 2.00pm)

The hours are flat hours - there will be no half hour options eg. 7.30am to 3.30pm.

ELIGIBILITY
1. Staff working daylight hours.

CONDITIONS
1. The exigency of the depariment is a priority. Therefore, in selecting and approving
flexible tima for employees, consideration must be given 10 the impact it would have on
the operational efficiency of the department and if ahy other employees wouid be

subjected fo undue pressure &s a result.

ged without discussion and agreement with

9 A flexible time arrangement cannot be chan
the Human Resources Departmert.

the Supervisor and/or Department Head and

Date of First Issus:
Page 67



FLEXIBLE TIME POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000

Responsible Officer: HRO — Employee Benefits Date Revised:
and Servicas

3. Employees who have opted for a flexible working schedule are expecied to bz punctual
as any time after the hour selected means that the employee is late. Note that abusa of
the flexible fime arrangement could lead o the facility being withdrawn and/or
discipiinary action taken against the employee.

REVIEW AND BAONITORING
The programme would be monitored and reviewed every six monihs with a report to employees
and the Public Services Association on the progress and/or continuation of the facility.

Date of First Issue;
Page 68
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ILLNESS AND INJURY

POLICY
Palicy Number: HR: 00C0 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Cfficer: HRO — Employee Benzfits  Date Revised: December 8, 2010
and Services

CONTENTS
POLICY STATEMENT ..ot 71
ACCIDENT/INJURY ..ottt 71
INJURY LEAVE (MONTHLY PAID STAFF) .o 72
INJURY IN THE EXECUTION OF DUTY (SECURITY STAFF) ..o 72

Date of First Issue; 2008 TO 2010 PSA Colieciive Agraemenit
2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement Page 70
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ILLNESS AKD INSURY

eOLICY
HR: 0000 Reyision Number: 000

Policy Number:

HRO — Employee Benefits Date Revised: December 8, 2010

Responsible Officer:
and Services

POLICY STATEMENT :
This is intended to ensure that incidents are reported so that investigations could be a carried

out with the aim of putiing controls in place to prevent recurrence as well as satisfy
requirements of the Workmen's Compensation (1 060) and the Occupational Health and Safety

(2004) Acts.

ACCIDENT/INJURY
Employaes must iake the following steps in the event that they fall ill, injury is sustained or an

accident occurs during tha course of their duties.

brought to the attention of the

1. All injuries/accidents of ilness on the job must be
nt as soon as practicable.

employeg’s immediate Supervisor or Head of Deparime

2 In cases where injury resuits from an apparent sccident, or the illness warranis
immediate action, the =efacted employee must be taken to the Arima Medical Facility Tor
examination by the Autharity’s Internal Medical Provider (currently performed by the Red

Cross Society).

3. The Internal Medical Provider will complete the Aedical Response Form.

able after the accident ihe employee must

4, inihe case of an accident, as soon as praciic
dent o his/her Supervisor or Head of

provide a brief written account of the acci
Department.

the Accident Report Form based on the information

5. The Supervisor would complete
attach a report if necessary pefore forwarded to the

provided by the employes and
Health and Safety Department.

6. The resulting injury/accident area should be preserved and kept in its original state to
facifitate proper investigations by the Health and Safely Depariment.

i investigate the circumstances

7 The Health and Safety Depariment personnel W
the findings and recommendations

surrounding the injury/accident and forward a copy of
1o the Manager — Human Resource.

7008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreament
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ILLNESS AND INJURY

POLICY
Palicy Mumber: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Raspensikle Ciicer:; HRO — Empicyee Benefits Date Revisad: Bec=mber 8, 2010
and Services
MONTHLY PAID STAFF

INJURY LEAVE — (Collective Adgreement, Articlé 13)

In all matters dealing with injury, the Workmen's Compensation Act shall apply.

SECURITY STAFF

INJURY IN THE EXECUTION OF DUTY — (Collective Agreement, Articie 13)

1.

insurance coverage under the Workmen's Compensation Act shall extend to all Estate
Police Officers in the same manner and to the same extent, as it is applicable to other
employees of the Authority.

The Authority will pay for all reasonable medica! expenses connected with an injury
incurred on the job until such tims as the accident compensation is determined and
seftled. Sick leave taken arising out of such injury shall be treated as separate and
distinct from the nommal sick leave and shail be treated as Injury Leave.

The Authority shall bear the cost of reasonable arrangements to facilitate rehabilitation of
the Estate Police Officer.

If an Estate Police Officer sustains injury during the execution of duty and such injury
results in partial or permanent disability, such person shall appear before a medical
panel to determine the extent of injury and the Estate Police Association shall be atiowed
to nominate a Medical Officer to sit on such a panel,

Damage of Property

* In the event an Estate Police Officer sustains damage to property arising out of
his/her duties the Authority shall compensate the Estate Police Officer the full cost of
the property to replace same. .

o Property shall mean the standard requirement of the uniform dress code.

In the event of death of an Estate Police Officer, the Authority shall pay four (4) fimes the
Officer's annual salary to his/her bensficiary. After the retirement age of the Estate
Poilice Officer, he/she will enjoy this facility up to the age of seventy (70) years and
amendments thereto.

Date of First Issue; 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
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LEAVE POLICY
{(Monthly Paid Staff)

Policy Number HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer HRO — Employee Benefiis Date Revised:

and Services
POLICY STATEMENT

This policy will guide users on the different types of leave and eligibility to ensure that
consistency in the standards will be maintained.

SICK LEAVE (Collective Aareement, Article 12)
1. An employse shall be eligible for up to fourteen (14) deys sick leave with iull pay per
annum provided that hefshe fenders a medical certificate from an approved Medical

Practiticner.

2 Absence from work due to illness for a period not exceeding wo (2) days may not
normaly require the provision of a Medical Ceriificate.
(However, the Authority may at &y time, at its discrefion require an employes o provide
a Medical Certificate from a Medical Practitioner for such absence. Where an
employee’s frend of absences tends (o suggest that he/shie may be suffering from an
ifiness of a recurring nature that may subsequently resuft in intermittent absences froim
dufy, the employee may be required to submit fo an examination by a Medical

Practitioner).

3. Absences from work due to iliness for a period of three days and more warrant the
pravision of a Medical Certificate.

4. An employes who is absent on the work day immediately preceding two (2) off days and
is agsin absent on the work day succeeding the two (2) off days shall be required to
sroduce a medical cerifficate for the entire period of absence.

5. Any absence from work for which iiness is the reason give, and is in excess of the
fourteen (14) days provision as indicated in 1 above must be supported by Medical
Ceriificates. Likewise, absences due to iliness thet are sericus in nature andfor warranis
the institutionalization of the employee must be supported by appropriate medical
documentation. Such absences may be regarded as extended sick leave with pay at the

discraiion of the Authority.

8. Any payment for exiended sick leave may be that sum which when added to an
entitement due to the employee under the provisions of the National insurance Scheme
relative 1o sickness bensill, would maintzin the employee’s full pay. The Authority may
howaver, arrange to advance the employes on the normal pay day, the sum equivalent
io the National Insurance Entitlement. This amount advanced by the Authority to provide
the employee with full pay over ihe extendad sick lsave period shall be reclaimed by the
Authority immediately upon the employes's resumption of duy or upon receipt of the
National Insurance Entitlement, whichever comes first.

Date of First issuer 2008 TO 20110 PSA Coliective Agreement
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LEAVE POLICY

(Monthly Paid Staff)
Policy Number; HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO ~ Employee Benefits Date Revised:
and Services

7. Absences due to illness must be accounted for on the prescribed form immediately upon
resumption of duty. Whenever possible an employee should contact the Authority on the
same day he is unable to report for duty.

EXTENDED SICK LEAVE (Collective Agreement, Aricle 12)
1. Sick leave in excess of the statutory number of working days per annum shail be
considered as Extended Sick Leave provided that the Employee has been employed on
a continuous basis for at least twelve (12) months.

2. The grant of Extended Sick Leave must be approved by the Authority.

3. Application for Extended Sick Leave may be approved as Sick Leave in any of the
foitowing ways:

e Full Pay

e Half Pay

+ Mo Pay

o  Or such absences may be offset against Vacation Leave entitlement with the

agreement of the Authority.

4. An employee, who is certified by a Medical Board to be suffering from Pulmonary
Tubercolosis, Leprosy, Cancer, Aids or other terminal ilness and unfit for auty, may be
granted Sick Leave on full pay for a period of six (6) months in the first instance. If at the
expiration of the above period of Sick Leave, a Medical Board recommends the grant of
further leave to such Officer, the employer shall decide on the merits of each individual
where such leave shall be granted, and if so, whether on full pay, half pay or without
pay. The grant of such leave is subjected to an examination of the Officer by a Medical
Board at quarterly intervals, or more frequently if necessary.

5. An Officer, who desires to leave Trinidad and Tobago during a period of Sick Leave shall
obtain approval from the Authority,

VACATION LEAVE (Collective Agreement, Aricle 10)
1. Employees of the Authority shall be eligible for the grant of vacation leave after twelve
(12) continuous months service calculated from their dates of first employment on the

following basis:

Salary Range 1-10 Years Service Over 10 Years Service
Under 28G 2tworkingdays - - - -28 working days
28G and Over 28 working days 35 working days
Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agresment
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(Monthly Paid Stafi)
Policy Number: HER: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO —Employee Benefits Dafe Revised:
and Services
Effective January 1, 2010
Under Grade 2A 21 working days 20 working days
Over Grade 2A 28 working days 35 working days

For purposes of clarification, it is agreed that Saturdays, Sundays and Public Holidays
shall not be counted in calculating the number of days vacation leave for which an

employee is eligible.

5 Should an employse fall ill while on Vacation Leave, the period of iliness shall not be
counted as vacation Jeave provided that the foliowing conditions apply:
o A medical certificate from a medical practitioner approved by the Medical Association
of Trinidad and Tobago is submitted to cover the period of illness.
"o The period of iliness shall then be considered as Sick Leave, subject to written

approval of the Authority.

3. An employee shall be eniiled to accumulate vacation up fo ihree (3) years. \Vhere,
however, an employee's vacation leave is deferred at the request cof the Authority or he
for any other reason approved by the Authority, he may

is unable to proceed on leave i
- accumtlate vacation leave in excess of the stipulated amount which accrues to him

during the period of deferment.

4. Should an employee’s annual leave become due and is approved in writing bui
subsequently deferred at the request of the Authority, such an employee shall be
reimbursed on production of evidence that he has incurred expenditure which is not
racoverable as a result of such deferment provided that claims are made by the

employee at the time of deferment.
5 V\acation leave once samed shall not be forfeited.

8. Application for vacation leave must be made at least one (1) month in advance on the
prescribed form and must be submitted via the immediate Supervisor.

sransferred from the Public Service {0 the service of
s#iad at the time of secondment or transfer shall
he proceeds on leave earned by virtue

7. Where an employes is seconded or
the Authority, any leave which he was en
be preserved to him and taken by him at any time
of his employment with the Authority.

INJURY LEAVE (Colleciive Adreement, Aricle 13}
In all matters dealing with injury, the Workmen's Compensation Act shall appiy.

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 20410 PSA Collective Agreement
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1. Injury leave is distinguished from sick leave if an employee is injured on the job.
The following is an excerpt used by NIB for injury benefit.
..."personal injury caused by an accident which arises out of and in the course of
his employment, or through a prescribed industrial disease caused by the nature
of his_job”.

o

An Accident Report Form must be completed and the steps followed as outlined
in the lliness and Injury Policy.

3. Injury lzave must be applied for on the Absence Report form and submitted to
the HR Depariment.

RATERNITY/PATERNITY LEAVE

Maternity Leave (Collective Agresment, Aricle 16)

1.

I

A female Estate Police Officer who has compieted one (1) year’s continuous service
shail be entitled to thirteen (1 3) weeks Maternity Leave with pay in accordance with the
Maternity Protection Act, No. 4 of 1998 and any amendments thereto.

Payment under this provision shall be the difference between the female Estate Police
Officer's pay and that to which she is entitled under the National Insurance Scheme.
The Authority may however, pay the Officer her normal salary and that part of such
payment equivalent to her eniitierment under the National Insurance Scheme shall be
recoverable from the Officer by mutual arrangement between the Officer and the

Authority.

At least eight (8) weeks prior to confinement, the pregnant Estate Police Officer shall
produce a Medical Ceriificate stating the probable delivery date.

Not fater than six (6) weeks prior to the date of confinement the pregnant Estate Police
Officer shall apply for authorization to proceed on Maternity Leave. The Officer,
however, shall cease work at least four (4) weeks before confinement. The female
Estate Pclice Officer shall not be permitted to work during the six (6) weeks following
confinement,

At least two (2) weeks prior to her return to work, the female Estate Police Officer shall
submit a Medical Certificate giving the date of confinement and certifying her fithess o
resume duties.

Date of First Issue; 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collactive Agreemant
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LEAVE POLICY

HR: 0000 Revision Mumber: 000

Policy Number:

HRO — Employee Benefils  Date Revised:

Resporisible Officer.
and Sefvices

od of maternity leave, where an Officer is unabie to return o
her part or that of the baby, she shall submit fo the Human
te from a registered practitioner stating that
d date. The intended daie of return

6. On completion of ihe peri
work due to ifl health on
Resources Department, a medical ceriifica
she will be unable to return to work on the require
must also be stated on the medical ceriificate.

Paternity Leave ( Collective Agreement, Ariicle 16)
A period of four (4) working days per annum shall be awarded io @ male Estate Police Officer

within a three (3) wesk period of his spouse’s delivery. This leave must be supported by the
relevant medical cerificates. For the purpecse of this Agreement, a spouse shall include a

common law refationship.

The name of the spouse must be submitted fo the Authority which will form part cf the Officer's

personal record.

%SUALIEMERGEF&CY L EAVE (Collective Agreement, Article 15)
All employees shall be eligible for a maximum of ten (10) days leave per annum at short nofice
for attending to urgent personal business. This leave shall not normally exceed two (2) working

days at any one time and shall be deducted from the employee's apnual vacation leave

entitfement.

Such leave will not normally be granted on working days immediately before or after a Public

Holiday, Annual Leave, Sick Leave or Garnival Days.

ast twenty four (24) hours in advance on the

Applications for this provision must be made &t le
lanation must be given where required to the

Absence Report Form and full and satisfactory exp
Supervisor before such leave can be approved.

Where in the case of exirame emergency an employee is unsbie to apply in advance, a full and
satisfactory explanation must be given to his Supervisor on his return to work and the employee

shall be required to complete the Absence Report Form.

ORPASSIONATE Coliective Agreement, Article 18
YCompassionale Leave with full pay may be granted to employses under
1o the preduction if required, of satisfactory evidence 10

EEREAVEMENTI/C
1. Bereavemen
she following conditions, subject

iustify the granting of sych leave:

o Death of immediate samily in Trinidad and Tobago — 3 days
s Deazth of immediate family outside Trinidad and Tobago — 5 days.

Iy

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
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. The term immediate family shall include only mother, father, spouse, brother, sister, son,

daughter, parents and in-laws of the employee, and any such person for whom the
employee has responsibiiity for and who lives in the same household.

. In cases where an application is made for Bereavement Leave to be spent outside

Trinidad and Tobago, the employee must, where required, furnish satisfactory evidence
io support such an application before such leave can be granted. \Where this is not
immediately possible, the application shall be held in abeyance, pending the provision of
supporting evidence.

Should request for Compassionate Leave be made for the aitention of iilness involving
immediate family or other person for whom the employee has responsibifity, and who
lives in the same household, such request may be granted by the Awthority.

STUDY LEAVE (Collective Agresment, Article 17)

1. The Authority agrees that the employea’s potential will be facilitated by proper on-the-job

training. Where, however, the Authority considers that on-the-job training would not
suffice, it may subject {o the exigencies of the Authority, grant an employee time-off as
appropriate to enable him fo obtain additional qualifications and training, provided that
such additional qualifications and training are relevant to the employee’s job
respansibifities and/pr present operations of the Authority. '

Upon an employee’s return from an appropriate course of study, consideration may be

- given to uiilize the newly acquired skills into the service of the Authority at a level

consistent with his/her new qualifications.

SPECIAL LEAVE

1. An eniployee selected to participate in a sporting, educational or cultural event approved

by the Authority and/or the Government of Trinidad and Tobago may for this purpose,
subject to the exigencies of the service, be granted special leave with full pay.

. Applications for Special Leave must be supported by ofiicial documents, which justify

and validate the application for such Leave.

Special Leave shall normally be granted to a maximum of ten (10) days per annum.

Employees who are appointed to National Boards shall be granted one (1) day per

. month with pay to perform such duties. - Similarly employees whio are appointed to

Regional Corporations shail be granted one (1) day per month with pay to perform such
duties.

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
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5. The Authority may grant additional {ime off with paﬂ( to individuals who are appointed to
National Boards and Regional Corporations upon written application from the
appropriate authority. Such time off may be granted subject fo the exigencies of the

Company's operations.

JURY DUTY
1. An employee who is summoned for Jury Service shall be excused from work on the days

on which he is required io serve on ajury. Shift employees will be assigned day work for
the duration of jury service. :

2. An employes who has been granted time off to do Jury Service, but is not required to
serve as a juror and is released by the Court before hoon on any day must report back

to work without delay.

3. In the event that an employee is on annual vacation [eave and is summoned for Jury
Servics, his Vacation Leave shali immediately be deferred. After the completion of the
employee’s Jury Service, the employee shall be afforded the opportunity to proceed on

normal vacation leave.

TRADE UNION PURPOSES (Collective Aareement. Article 19)

1. A) The Association shail noiify the Authority of the names of its representatives who are
employees of the Authority. An employee who is an accredited representative of the
Association should not suffer from any loss of pay when he is making external
representation on behalf of employees within the Bargaining Unit, provided that the
request for time-off is made at ieast one (1) week in advance and that the operations of
the Authority so allow. Time-off for making representation within the Authority shall be
granted upon prior request to the appropriate Supervisor and subject to the exigencies of

the Authority’s oparations.

1. B) Upon advanced application of st least one (1) week from the Association, an
employee who is a duly accredited official of the Association may be granted time off by
the Authority to attend mestings of the Annual Conference of Delegates and of the
General Council of the Association, subject fo the exigencies of the operations of the
Authority.

2. A} Upon application supporied by a certificate from the Association, an employee of the
Authority who is given full time employment by the Association may ba granted leave
without pay during the entire pericd of such employment which is notto exceed three (3)
years in the first instance. Exiension of this period may be granted upon application.

Dste of First lssue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
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2. B) An employee granted leave under 2(a) above, shall upon his return to work at the
Authority, be placed in a position and at a point in his salary scale not fess favourable
than he has been at the time he proceeded on leave. Such employee shall also be
eligible for promoation while on Leave.

3. The Authority may grant leave of absence with or without pay to an employee upon
application by the Association and approval by the Authority, to undergo Association
related training, subject to the exigencies of the Authorily’s operations.

However, where the Authority considers the requesied pericd of absence to be
excessive, such leave of absence with pay shall be at the Autherity’s discretion.

CORMPENSATORY TIME OFF
Compensatory Time Off is time granted to employees who work on a shift basis and whose of

day falis on a public holiday. Alternatively, Compensatory Time Off could also be granied {o
employees who work 8.00am o 4.00pm (Monday to Friday) in lisu of financial compensation for
overtime worked.

1. A shift employes would be eligible for Compensatory Time Off when he/she has not
worked on a public holiday. {t should be noted that employees who have worked the
10.00pm to 6.00am and 11.00pm to 7.00am shifs the night before would not be eligible
for compensatory time off.

2. Employees working 8.00am to 4.00pm would be eligible for Compensatory Time Off for
cvertime worked in lieu of financial compensation which would be calculated at overtime

rates.

3. The time off shall normally be granted to the employee within twelve (12) weeks from the
date he/she became so entitled.

4. Where the employee applies for Compensatory Time Off within the twelve (12) week
period and because of operational reasons, the application cannot be considered, the
Compensatory Time Off shall be awarded to the employee when proceeding on Annual
Vacation Leave.

5. Nothing contained in (3) and (4) above, shall debar the Departrmental Manager from
granting Compensatory Time Off outside the twelve (12} week period and/or before the
employee’s Annual Vacation Leave, if this is cperationally possible.

Date of First {ssue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Coliective Agreement
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6. When Compensatory Time i

s earned the Supervisor will complete the form (see sample
sitached) and forward to the Employee Benefils and Services.

Staff working 8.00zam to 4.00pm will use the same form if Compensatory Time Off is

7.
favoured in lisu of financial compensation and forward it to the Employee Benefits and
Services.
LEAVE WITHOUT PAY
1. Leave without pay will only be granted in cases of utmost urgency of where the reason
for such leave is due to abnormal circumstancss affecting the employee and hefshe has
no recourse o any other type of leave as stated herein.
2. 1eave without pay shali be granied solely on the merit of the application.
3. Applications for leave without pay must be in writing and must be recommended by the
Supervisor and approved by the Divisional Head in advance.
4. Prior authorisation must be ohtained from the Human Resource Depaitment before an
employee proceeds on such leave,
TIRE OFF FOR PAY (Collective Agreement, Article 9)
off in order to receive their salaries at the bank.

Employses shall be granted three (3) hours time

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
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However, if an Estate Pofice Officer accumulates vacation leave up fo the prescribed amount
and applies, but is not granted leave his accumulated leave shall not be forfeited.

INJURY LEAVE (Coliective Agreement. Asiicle 13)

1.

Insurance coverage under the Workmen's Compensation Act shall exiend to all Estate
Police Officers in the same manner and to the same extent, as it is applicable to other
empioyees of the Authority.

The Authority will pay for all reasonable medical expenses connected with an injury
incurred on the job until such time as the accident compensation is determined and
settled. Sick leave taken arising out of such injury shall be treated as separate and
distinct from the normal sick leave and shall be treated as Injury Leave.

The Authority shall bear tha cost of reasonable arrangements {o facilitate rehabilitation of
the Estate Police Officer.

ff an Estats Police Officer sustains injury during the execution of duty and such injury
results in pariial or permanent disability, such person shall appear before a medical
panel to dstermine the extent of injury and the Estate Police Association shalf be allowed
to nominate a Medical Officer to sit on such a panel.

Damage to Property

o In the event an Estate Police Officer sustains damage to properly arising out of
his/her duties; the Authority shall compensate the Estate Police Officer the full cost of
the property or replace same.

e Property shall mean the standard requirement of the uniform dress code.

In the event of death of an Estate Police Officer, the Authority shall pay four (4) times the
Officers annual salary to histher beneficiary. After the retirement age of the Estate
Police. Officer, he/she will enjoy this facility up to the age of sevenly (70) years and
amendments thereto.
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MATERNITY/PATERNITY LEAVE

Riaternity Leayve (Collective Agreement, Article 12i)
1 A female Estate Police Officer who has completed one (1) year's continuous service

shall be entitled to thirtesn (13) weeks Maternity Leave with pay in accordance with the
Maternity Protection Act, No. 4 of 1698 and any amendments thereto.

| be the difference between the female Estaie Police
Officers pay and that to which she is entitied under the National Insurance Scheme.
The Authority may however, pay ihe Officer her normal salary and that part of such

payment equivaient to her entitlement under the National Insurance Scheme shail be

recoverable from the Officer by muiual arrangement between the Officer and the

Authority.

2. Payment under this provision shal

3. At least eight (8) weeks prior {0 confinement, the pregnant Estate Police Officer shall
produce a Medical Certificate stating the probable delivery date.

ta of confinement the pregnant Estate Police
roceed on Matemity Leave, The Officer,
) weeks before confinement. The female
weeks following

A Not later than six (6) weeks prior to the da
Officer shall apply for authorization {0 p
however, shall cease work at least four (4
Estate Police Officer shall not be permitted to work during the six (6)

confinement.

rn to work, the female Estate Police Officer shall

5. At least two (2) weeks prior to her refu
ta of confinement and certifying her fitness 1o

submit a Medical Certificate giving the da
rasume duties.

8. On completion of the period of maternity leave, where an Officer Is unable to retumn to
work due to it health on her part or that of tha baby, she shall submit to the Human
Resources Depariment, a medical cettificate from a registered practitioner stating that
she will be unable to retumn to work on the required date. The intended date of retum

must also be stated on the medical certificate.

Paternity Leave (Collective Agreement, Aricle 12ii)

A period of four (4) working days per annum shail
within a three (3) week perjod of his spousa’s delivery. This leave must be supported by the
relevant medical certificates. For the purpose of this Agreement, a spouse shall include a
common lew relationship. The name of the spouse must be submisted to the Authority and

which will form part of the Officer’s personal record.

he awarded to a male Estate Eolice Officer

Drete of First lssue: 2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement
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LEAVE POLICY

(Security Staff)
Policy Number: HE: G000 Revision Number: 000
Responsibia Officer: HRO - Employee Benefits Daté Revised:

and Sarvices

LEAVE AT SHORT NOTICE {Coilective Agreement, Article 10i)

1.

All Estate Police Officers shall be eligible for a maximum of seven (7) days leave per
annum at short notice for attending to urgent personal business. This leave shall not
normally exceed two (2) working days at any one time, and shalf be deducted from the
Oificer's annual vacation leave entitfement.

Such leave shail not normally be granted on working days immediately before or after a
Fublic Holiday, Annual Leave, Sick Leave or Carnival Days.

Where practicable, the Estate Police Officer must make all atiempts to communicate
with the Authority within the first four (4) hours of the commencement of the particuiar
tour of duty. As soon as the Estate Police Officer resumes duty, this appiication shall be
made on the prescribed form 2nd a brief explanation as to the nature of the emergency
shall be give to the Authority.

BUSINESS LEAVE (Collective Agreement. Article 10ii)

1.

Business leave with full pay shall be granted to Estate Police Officers as and when
required to a maximum of three (3) working days psr annum.

Such leave shall not normally exceed two (2) consecutive days provided that such leave
is requested in advance.

Such leave shall not normally be granted on working days immediately before and after
a Public Holiday, Annual Leave, Sick Leave or Carnival Days.

BEREAVEMENT/COMPASSIONATE (Article 27)

1.

In case of death in the immediate family, an Estate Police Officer shall be granted jeave
of absence with full pay for three (3) working days where death has occurred within
Trinidad and Tobago and five (5) working days for death occurring cutside of Trinidad
and Tobago.

immediate family shall mean: spouse, children, brothers, sisters, motner-in-law and
father-inlaw. In such cases, the Officers may be required to furnish proof of relations

and death,

An Estate Police Officer who experiences death in the immediate family, may on request
be granted one (1) month’s salary for assisting in funeral expenses which is to be repaid
within one (1) year. This is at the sole discretion of the Authority and.subject to the
availability of funds.

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement

Page 30
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LEAVE POLICY

(Security Staff)
Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 0G0
Responsibls Ofiicer: HRO — Employee Benefits Date Revised:

and Services

STUDY LEAVE (Collective Agreement, Article 32)
1. Estate Potice Officers who are selected and granted approval by the Autharity shall be

granted Study Leave with full pay for a maximumn of three (3) months over the life of the
Agreement to attend the Association's related Training Programme and other job related

fraining programmes.

The Authority agrees that the Ofiicer’s potential will be facilitated by proper on-the-job
training. Whers, however, the Authority considers that on the job training would not
suffice, it shall grant an Officer time off as appropriate to enable him io obtain additional
qualification and tralning, provided that such additional qualifications and iraining are
relevant fo the Officer’s job responsibilities and/or present operations of the Authority.

[R8]

3. Upon an Officer's refurn from an sppropriate course of study, consideration shalt be give
to utilise the newly acquired skills into the service of the Authority at a level consistent

with his/her new qualifications.

LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOR NATIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL EVENTS {Collective

Agreement, Arficle 35)
1. Subject to the exigencies of service, leave of absence without loss of pay shall be
granted to an Estate Police Officer who is selected to represent Trinidad and Tobago in

national and international events such as Sports, Cuitural and similar aciivities organized
by an official recognized national body.

2. Applications for such leave must be accompanied by a writien request from the national
body.
3. The Authority will consider each case on its own merit in respect of applications made by

Officers who, while not being selected to represent Trinidad and Tobago, are required o
participate in the organizations or administrations of such an event.

JURY DUTY
1. Anemployee who is summoned for Jury Service shall be excused from work on the days

on which he is required to serve cn a jury. Shift employess will be assigned day work for
the duration of jury service.

2. An employee who has been granted time off to do Jury Service, but is not reguired to
serve as a juror and s released by the Couri before noon on any day must report back

to work witheut dslay.

Drate of First issue: 2006 TO 2008 EPA Colleciive Agreement
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LEAVE POLICY

. (Security Staff)
Palicy Number; HR: 0000 Ravision Number: 000
Responsikle Officer; HRO - Employee Benefits  Data Revisad:

and Servicss

3. In the event that an employee is on annual vacation leave and is summoned for Jury
Service, his Vacation Leave shall immediately be deferred. After the completion of the
employee’s Jury Service, the employee shall be afforded the opportunity to proceed on
normal vacation leave.

LEAVE OF ABSENCE ON_ ESTATE POLICE ASSOCIATION'S BUSINESS/PURPOSE
{Collective Agreement, Articie &)
1.

An Estate Police Officer who is 3 bona fide official or a delegate representative of the
Association who desires Leave of Absence to engage in any business pertaining
exclusively to the affairs of the Association, shall be granted Leave of Absence in
accordance with the Supplemental Police Regulations, Chapter 15:02, Section 18(1) or
anhy amendments thereto. :

2. An Estate Police Officer who is a branch representative of the Association with the
bargaining unit may be granted time off with pay when he or she is making
representation on behalf of the Estats Pofice Association for Officers within the
bargaining unit.

3. The Authority shall, and with a request from the Association for an Officer of the
Authority who is given full time employment by the Association granted leave without pay
during the entire period of such employment, which should not exceed one (1) year in
the first instance. Extension may be granted for further periods upon application.

4. An Estate Police Officer granted leave under three (3) above shall upon his/her return to
work, be engaged in a position at a point in his salary scale not less favourable than he
would have been had he not proceeded on such leave. Such an Estats Police Officer
should be given the opportunity for promotion.

5. The Authority may grant leave of absence without pay to Esiate Police Officers who are
selected by the Association to undergo training iocally or abroad in Trade Unionism fora
pericd of one (1) year or less. Applications for such leave shall be made in writing.

8. The Authority shall facilitate two (2) members of the Tobago Branch Board to attend alt
sessions of negotiations every three (3) years, by affording relevant airfare to and from
Tobago (Mote: that Subsistence and Transport Reimbursement (Article 8 of the
Collective Agreement) will apply. :

Date of First [ssue: 2008 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement
Page 92
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LEAVE POLICY
(Security Staft)

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Ravision Number: 000

HRO — Employes Beneits Date Revised:
and Services

ey

Responsible Officer:

COIPENSATORY THAE QFF
ees who work ch a chift basis and whose off

Compensatory Time Off is time granted to employ
day falls on a public holiday. Alternatively, Compensatory Time Off could also be granied to
employees who work 8.00am to 4.00pm (Monday to Friday) in lieu of financial compensation for

overtime worked.

1. A shiit employee would he eligible for Compensatory Time Off when helshe has not
worked on a public holiday. 1t should be noted that employees who have worked the
10.00pm to 6.00am and 11.00pm to 7.002m shifis the night before would not be eligible

for compensatory time off.

to 4.00pm would be eligible for Compensatory Time Qff for

2. Employess working 8.00am
ancial compensaiion which would be calcutated at overfime

sveriime worked in Heu of fin
rates.

3. The time off shall normally be granted to the employee within twelve {12) weeks from the

date he/she became S0 entitled.

4. Where the employee applies for Compensatory Time Off within the twelve (12) week
period and because of operational reasons, the application cannot be considered, the
Compensatory Time O¢f shall be awarded to the employee when proceeding on Annual

Vacation Leave.

5. Nothing contained in (3) and (4) above, shall debar the Deparimental Manéger from
granting Compensatory Time Off outside the twelve {12) week period and/or before the

employee’s Annual Vacation Leave, if this is operationally possible.

Time is earned the Supetvisor will complete the form (see sample

6. When Compensatory
loyee Benefits and Services.

sttacned) and forward to the Emp

7. Staff working 8.00am to 4.00pm will use the same form if Campensatory Time Off is
favoured in lisu of financial compensation and forward it to the Employée Benefits and

Services.

i EAVE WITHOUT PAY
1. Leave without pay wil only be granted In cases of uimost urgency or where the reason
sor such leave Is due to abnormal circumstances affecting the employee and hefshe hias
no recourse to any other type of leave as stated herein.

9. Leave without pay shall be granted solely on the merit of the apptlication.

////

3006 TO 2008 EFA Colleciive Agreement

Diate of First lesue:
Page 93
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LEAVE POLICY

(Security Staff)
Policy Mumber: MR 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO — Employee Bensfits  Date Revised:

and Services

' | 3. Appiications for leave without pay must be in wrifing énd must be recommended by the
o Supervisor and approved by the Divisional Head in advance.

' 4. Prior authorisation must be obtained from the Human Resource Depariment before an
’ employee proceeds on such leave.

Date of First Issus: 20056 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement
Page 94
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CONTENTS
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RETIREMENT AND PENSIONM

POLICY
Palicy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Resporisible Officer HRO - Employee Benefits  Date Revised:

and Servicas

POLICY STATEMENT
To maintain consistency in our Retirement Policy and in the administration of the Pension Plan

using the Trust Deed dated October 26, 1989 as well as the Aricles in the Collective
Agreements of both the Public Services Association and the Estate Police Association.

RETIREMENT AND PENSION ( RRONTHLY PAID STAFF)

Retirement (Collective Agreement, Article 2)
1. An Ofiicer shall normally be required to retire from the Authority compulsory on aitaining

the age of sixty (60} years.

o

However, an employee shall have the option of early retirement between the ages of fifty
five (55) and sixty (60) years.

)

3. Notwithstanding the above, the Authority, having regard o its operational requirements,
may proceed {o hire or retain in its employ any person above the compulsory retirement
age. However, the person must be a specialist in his field and shall be hired after

consultation with the Asscciation.

Pension (Collective Agreement, Article 2)
The Pension Plan will be administered according to the Authority's Trust Deed.

RETIREMENT AND PENSION PLAM ISECURITY STAFF)

Refirement (Collective Agresment, Article 18}
1. The retirement of an Estate Police Oficer shall be compulsory at age sixty (80 years.

2. However, retirement shail be optionat between the ages of fifty five (55) and sixty (60)

years and fifty (50) with ihe approval of the Authorily.

Digte of First ssue: Oclober 26, 1999 Trust Desc
2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement S
2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement g



RETIREMENT AND PENSION

POLICY
Policy Number: HR: D000 Revision Mumber; 000
Reasponsible Cfficer HRO - Emiployee Beneilts Date Revised:

and Services

Pension (Collective Agreement, Article 15)
1. All Estate Police Officers shall be covered by the Authority's existing pension plan and
any amendments thereto.

2. Pension contributions shall be deducted from an Estate Police Officer's salary after one
(1) year completion of duty/work with the Authority provided that hefshe has successiully
completed his/her probationary period.

Date of First issue: Gclober 26, 1999 Trust Deed
2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agresment Page 98
2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agresment ¢
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and Services
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EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAMME

POLICY
Poticy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Gificer: HRO — Employee Benefits  Date Revised:
and Services
POLICY STATEMENT

The Airpoits Authority's most valuable resource is its employees; and to ensure that their well-
being is given priority, the Employee Assistance Programme will provide the necessary support.
This support would be given fo employess who are experiencing challenges in both their
personal or work lives as these challenges could impact on job performance.

POLICY
Employess who are experiencing work or personal

programme to work towards resolving them.

challenges are encouraged fo use the

1. The programme is cpen o all employees and shall include their immediate family.
ve utlised the programme will be kept

2. Al files periaining to employees who ha
ntiality shall be deait with according to the

confidenitial and any breaches in this confide
Authority’s disciplinary policy.

3. Employees c¢an acCess “the programme on their own or Heads of
Depariments/Supervisors can refer employees who need assistance. :

AATT's COMMITMENT
1. The Airports Authority wili provide the necessary resou

rces and support for the EAP.

2. Employees’ current positions or their possibility for future promotions will not be
jeopardised if they have utilised the programme.

3 Once an employee's performance is on the decline and the employee does not
acknowledge that there is a challenge or initiate action 10 deal with it, then Heads of
Departments and Supervisors are responsible for referring amployees to the EAP if

deemed necessary.

Proper supervision would identify sub-standard performance. Therefors, Supervisors should
take the necessary steps to sesist employees in improving work performance. Heads of
Department and Supervisors would be responsible for providing the leve! of supendsion
necessary that would identiy any spomalies in employees’ perforrnance levels as eaily

detaction would lead to speedier resolutions.

Date of First Issue:
Page 101



EMPLOYEE ASSISTANCE PROGRAMME

POLICY
PPolicy Numbsr: HR: 0000 Revision Nurmnber: 000
L Respensitie Officer: HRO ~ Employee Benefits  Date Revisadd:
and Services
{ EMPLOYEE'S COMMITMENT

1. Employees utlilizing the programme would be expected to work through their issues until
resolved or at least can cope without a decline in work performance.

2. Employees would be responsible for correcting any sub-standard performance and
maintaining the desired levels.

It should be noted that employees would not be exempted from performance appraisals or
disciplinary actions as these are separate issues. Howeaver, consideration would be given to
each case on its own merit before appraisals are done or disciplinary action taken.

BENEFITS OF THE PROGRAMME
Employees can benefit in the following ways:
o Increased self-confidence
A feeling of well-being (weliness focused)
More appropriate interactions with co-workers and family members
Taking charge of one's life
Being more responsibie
Becoming more productive,

2 @ 0 O 9

ACCESSING THE PROGRAMME
The cocrdinator of the plan is as follows:

Mr. David Ramkissoon
Help Consultants
Oifice: 637-4834
Mobile: 684-0746

Dzte of First Issue:
FPage 102
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ALLOWANCES/LOANS POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number. 000

HRO —~Employee Benefils Date Revised: December 8, 2010

Responsible Cfficer.
and Services

PCLICY STATEMENT
The allowances outiined have been tzken from the Coilective Agreemenis for both the Public

Services Association and the Estate Police Asscciation.

ALLOWANCES — MONTHLY PAID STAFF

Meal Allowance/Subsistence ( Collective Agreement, Article 6}
1. An employee who is required to work through his lunch period shall be paid a Meal

Allowance as follows:

» in Trinidad with effect from January 1, 2008 - $35.00 per meal
a In Tobago with effect from January 1, 2008 - $37.00 per meal
o In Trinidad with effect from January 1, 2009 - $37.00 per meal
e In Tobago with effect from January 1, 2009 - $39.00 per meal

2. An employee who is required to work after his normal working hours shall be paid the

WMeal Allowance on tha following hasis
s On completion of the first two (2) hours
s For every four (4) hours thereafter

3. An employee who has been called back to work after having worked during his normal
work day shall be paid the Meal Aliowance as at (2) above.

Shift Allowance/On Call Aliowance (Coilecﬁve Aaresment, Aricle 8)
4~ A Shift Allowance of twenty five dollars (325.00) per day shall be paid to employees who

required io work @ contintious shift.
Payment of this allowance will only apply to employees who work evening and morning

shifts.
Payment will not apply to employees on day shift.

n a Public Holiday, that employes shall be
tieu of the Public Holiday.

2 Where an employee's ofiicial off day falis
eligible for one day compensatory time off in

- Cost of Living Allowance (Collective Agresment, Article 32)
A Cost of Living Allowance (COLA) at the following rate shall be paid:

- $450.00 per mornith.

With effect from January 1, 2008 1o December 31, 2010

@

Daie of First issus! 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreeiment

2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement Page 105



ALLOWANCES/LOANS POLICY

Palicy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000

Responsible Officer: HRO — Empioyee Benefits  Date Revised: December 8, 2010
and Services

Travelling Allowance/Upkeep (Coliective Agreement, Article 28)
1. The Authority agrees fo pay employees who are designated Travelling Officers, a
Travefing Allowance in the following amounts:

Upkeep (Commuted | $2,500.00 per month

Allowance)

Car Loan $160,000.00 (effective August 4, 2011)

Repayment of Loan Within six (6) years at six percent (6%) per annum
Repair Loan Up to $22,000.00 at four percent (4%) interest per

annum repayable within three (3) years (effective
August 4, 2011).

Travelling Allowance Travelling where a non-travelling officer is authorized
to use his motor vehicle in the performance of his
official duties. He shail be paid at the rate of $2.00
per kilometre,

2. The Authority further agrees that only employees who are currently in receipt of a $66.00
per month Commuted Travel Aliowance shall continue to do so. There shall be no
payment of this allowance to newly recruited employees.

Salary Loans to Officers Proceeding on Vacsation Leave (Coilective Aareement, Ariicle 11)
1. 1t is agreed that where an employes is granted Vacation L.eave, he shall be entitled on
application to a loan not more than the equivalent of his basic monthly salary.

2. Itis further agreed that in order to qualify for the loan, the employee must proceed on &
minimum ten (10} working days vacation.

3. The Authority shall be repaid over a period of twelve (12) months at 4% interest
commencing from the month following the month in which he resumed duties.

4. An employee who is proceeding on Vacation Leave may receive his salary before the
normat pay day for the whole month in which he proceeds on leave, provided the period
of leave extends beyond the end of the particular month and that the employee submits
an advance application in this regard.

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
2008 TO 2008 EPA Collectiva Agreement Page 106
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ALLOWANCES/AOANS POLICY

Poticy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000

Responsible Officer HRO — Employee Benefits Date Revised: December 8, 2010
and Services

Transfers to and from Tobago Allowances (Collective Agreement, Adicle 35) 3
Employees of the Authority who are required fo travel from Trinidad to Tobago and vice versa
and reside for any particular period in order {0 perform work on behaif of the Authority, shall

receive the following allowances:

1. Paid airfare ticket for the trip plus two (2) return tickets per monih. ]

2 A commuted displacement allowance shall be paid as follows where sccommodation is
not provided. »

o \With sffect from January 1, 2008 - $2,000.00 per month a

o With effect from January 1, 2009 - $2,100.00 per month {0 an employee transferred o
from Tobago to Trinidad. :

o With effect from January 1, 2010 - $2,200.00 per monéh fo an employee transferred "
from Trinidad {o Tobago. 3

Disptacement Allowance is o be paid for a maximum of two (2) years for a temporary transfer .

and six (6) months for a permanent transfer.- 0
.

Subsistence allowance shall be paid as follows: “‘)
o In Trinidad with effect from January 1, 2008 - $90.00 (per day) »

In Tobago with effect from January 1, 2008 - $100.00 (per day) “’w

With effect from January 1, 2009 - $100.00 (per day) ‘

wnd

wad

,}%
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ALLOWANCESiL@ANS POLICY

Palicy Number: HR: 06000 Revision Number: 000

Responsible Officer: HRO — Employee Benefits Dafe Revised: December 8, 2010

and Servicas

ALLOWANCES — SECURITY STAFF

Subsistence and Transport Reimbursemeant (Collectiva Agreement, Aticla 8)

1. The Estate Police Officer who is requirad to continue work for cne (1) hour or more after

his normal finishing time shall be reimbursed a meal! allowance of twenty nine dollars
{$29.00) on the following basis;

o  On completion of the first one (1) hour

e For every four (4) hours thereafter

An Estate Police Officer who has been recalled to work after having completed his
normal tour of duty shall be reimbursed the meal allowance as at (1) ebove.

When an Estate Police Officer attends to the Authority’s business and has not baen
provided with official transport he/she shall be reimbursed by the Airports Authority the
cost of route taxi fares.

Where without priorfadvance nofice, an Officer is assigned duties outside of the normal
work station and works through tha lunch break, a subsistence of twenty-nine dollars
($29.00) will be reimbursed.

Travelling Allowance (Collective Agreement, Article 30)

1.

Travelling and Car Loan Allowance

a) The Authority agrees to pay Officers who are designated Travelling Officers, a
traveliing allowance in the foliowing amount: .

Urkeep (Commuted | Amount paid on par with rate appiicable to

Allowance) designated Travelling Officers of the Authority.

Car Loan $85,000.00

Repayment of Loan Within six (8) years at six percent (6%) per annum

Repair Loan Up to $15,000.00 at six percent (6%) interest per
annum repayable within three (3) years.

The existing facility would continue to be applicable only fo-those Estate Police Officers
appointed prior o October 1, 2004 in positions which were designated travelling positions.

Data of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement

2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement Page 108
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ALLOWANCES/LOANS POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number. 000

Responsible Officer: HRO — Employee Benefits Date Revised: December 8, 2010

and Services

b) The sum of $1.80 per Kilomeatre will be paid tc non-travelling Officers who are
authorized to use their motor vehicles in the performance of their official duties.

2 An Estate Police Officer who is required to perform desk duties on a full time basis
outside the normai shift rotation shall be paid an aliowance of twenty dollars ($20.00).

3. All Estate Police Cfficers who have received the appropriate training and are actively
engaged In the “liit on/lift off” of passengers to and from airoraft shall be paid seventy
percent {70%} of the cost charged by the Authority. The seventy percent (70%) is to be
shared equally among the Estate Police Officers who actually performed this service.

Vacation Loan (Collective Agreement, Article 30}
1. 1t is agreed that an Estate Police Officer who is granted vacation leave shall be entitied

upon application to aloan not more than the equivalent of his basic monthly salary.

5 The Authority shail be re-paid over a period of twelve (12) months at four percent (4%)
interest, commencing from the month following the month in which he resumes duiies.

3. An Estate Police Officer who is proceeding on Vacation Leave may receive his/her
salary before the normal payday for the whole month in which he/she proceeds on
vacaticn leave, provided the period of leave extends beyond the end of the particular

month and that the Officer submits an advance application in this regard.

Shitt Allowance {Collective Agresment, Article 30)
An Estate Police Officer working on shift roster basis shall be pa

dollars ($20.00) for every shift.

id a Shift Allowance of twenty

Training Allowance (Colleciive Agreement, Article 30)
An Estate Police Officer who frains shali be paid an allowance of fifty dollars ($50.00) per day.

Clothing Allowance (Colleciive Adreerent, Article 30)
An Estate Police Officer who is required to work out of uniform shall receive as a clothing

allowance the provision of two thousand, eight hundred dollars ($2,800.00) over a period of
three (3) years o cover all items. '

| aundry Allowance (Collective Aaresment, Ariicle 30)
A Laundry Allowance of ong hundred and twenty doilars ($120.00) wiil be paid to ail Estate

Police Officars.

Dats of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
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and Services

Cost of Living Aliowance {Collective Aareement, Adicle 31) -«

it is agreed that with effect from January 1, 2006 and continuing throughout the life of this
Agresment ali Officers should be paid a Cost of Living Allowance of one hundred dollars
($100.00) per month.

Disturbance Allowance (Collective Agreement. Ariicle 34)

Temporary Transfer
Temporary Transfer shall be for periods of not more than six (6) months for which an Estate
Police Officer shall be considered for:

1.

Temporary Housing Allowance of not more than one thousand, five hundred doliars
{$1,500.00) per month. This allowance is intended to aliow the Officer {o obtain suitable
accommodations while on transfer without incurring any financial loss.

There shall be no payment of this Allowance where the Authority offers suitable
accommuaodation to the Estais Police Oriicer,

The Authority shall pay a daily aliowance of ninety dollars ($90.00) to an Estate Police
Officer who is temporarily transferred.

The Au‘ahbrity shall provide a maximum of two (2) return tickets moninly to an Estate
Police Officer to and from Trinidad and Tobago. This shali be applicable for a maximum
period of six (8) months.

The Authority shall undertake {o provide transport {o and from work. Where this is not
applicable, Subsistence and Transport Reimbursement, Ariicle 8 of the EPA Collective

Agreementd, shall apply.

Relocation Allowance — {not yet sstiled).

Date of First Issus: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
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TRAINING POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 0600 Revision Number:  0C0

Respensible Officer: HRO ~ Training znd Date Revised:

Development

POLICY STATEMENT

The Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago is dedicated to delivering pertinent training
programs to all of its employees to empowsr them to handile responsibility. With this in mind,
the Training and Development Section will work closely with Deparimental Managers to develop
and complete training needs analysis to facilitate completion of a comprehensive fraining plan
every year.

This plan includes internal customized fraining and external local and foreign training. The
AATT ftraining plan provides a road map fo the successful implementation of programs and
enables close monitoring to ensure that training objectives are achieved in a timely and
consistent manner. Moreover, i attempts {o create guidelines to employees.

PCLICY

1.

All training requests must be made through the Manager — Human Resources and the
Human Resource Officer — Training and‘ Development copied.

The ceordination and administering of approved training and development programs ars
the responsibifity of the Human Resource Department,

Training must be approved by any one of the foliowing, the Manager — Human
Resource, the Deputy General Manager — Corporate Services or the General Manager.

Employees will be given the opportunity to participate in programs that are offered by _
recognized external institutions.

Managers may recommend staif members to attend relevant external job training
seminars/courses which must be sccompanied by relevant organizational support.

Employees are selected by deparimental heads to atiend training abroad that may not
be available locally. All travel related expenses will be calculated on a per diem
allowance according to the rates provided by the Ministry of Finance. These non
accountable allowances are to cover the cost of hotel accommodation, mesals, ground
transportation and other refated expenses of official overseas fravel.

Every effort will be made by the Authority to schedule training during normal working
hours but at times it may be necessary to extend beyond these hours. As such, no
overtime payment will be applicable in such instances.

Al training sponsored by the AATT will cover expenses which include tuition and
materials, meals, accommodation, allowances and fravel costs (Crown Poin_t employees
if training is in Trinidad and Piarco employees if training is in Tobago).

Date of First Issue:
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TRAINING POLICY

Policy Number: HR: 00G0 Revision Number: 000
Responsibie Oificer: HRO — Training and Date Revised:
Development

0. Employees attending local external or foreign training must submit a report to the Human
Resourca Department.

10. Employees who atlend external training programmes must conduct a similar session
internally for members of their department or other departments if requested, within one

(1) month of their training.

TRAINING NEEDS ASSESSMENT
1. Training needs assessments are to he determined by the Managers in conjunction with

the Human Resource Depariment. Periedic Performance Appraisals for all members of
staff and review of the AATT's strategic plans will identify any deficiencies thus Snsuring
tha success of the assessments and the Authority meeting its objectives.

2. The Human Resource Department will assist Managers and Supervisors in prioritizing
training and development needs.

SHARING OF KNOWLEDGE AND SKILLS
The Human Resource Depariment reserves ali rights to request from participants of external
training to submit a “Training Report” along with all original material including hooks obtained in

the fraining programme. The participants can make a copy of the material for personal use.

Date of First Issue:
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POLICY FOR FINANCIAL AND ADVISORY ASSISTANCE
FOR EMPLOYEE INITIATED TRAINING

Policy Number: HR: 000 Revision Numher: 002
Responsibia Officer HRO ~ Training and Date Revised: Decamber 14, 2010
Deavelopment
i POLICY STATEMENT

To assist empioyees in the furtherance of their professional and technical davelopment in so far

as it relates to their present and/or future advancement in the Authority.

FINANCIAL AND ADVISORY ASSISTANCE FOR EMPLOYEE INITIATED

TRAINING AND DEVELOPRIENT

- 1.

The Authority shall, subject to the availability of funds, provide financial and advisory
assistance to empioyees wishing to enroll on their own initiative and on their own time in
an approved professional or technical programime at an accredited institution to increase
their knowledge base and compstence in their job and/or prepare themselves for future
advancement in the Authority.

Financial and advisory assistance shall be provided for courses which require fuli-ime /
part-time aftendance at an approved institution or through distance learning programmes
provided by reputable institutions.

All permanent and pensionable employees of the Authority with three (3) years service
are eligible for this benefit.

The Human Resource Depariment, in conjunction with the relevant Depariment Head,
shall offer advice on the choice of courss and institution to all applicants.

A Management Commitiee comprising the General Manager (or delegate), Manager,
Human Resource, Financial Controlier and the Department Head of the applicant shall
examine all applicants for prior approval and submission to the Board for final approval.

FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE POLICY

1,

All payments mads in respect of training awards will be made in the form of loans at a
) five percent (5%) interest rate.
; 2. The loan will be deemed to have been repaid in full if the employee completes the
- contracted period of further service. -
; 3. Each employee shall be required {o sign a bonding agreement providing service with the
— Authority in such capacity and at such remuneration as the Authority may determine for
; specified periods as follows: '
J PERICD OF AWARD PERIOD OF SERVICE

Date of First [ssue: February 24, 1982
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Policy Number” HR: 0000 nevision Numbar:  $02
Responsibie Offcern HRO - Tigining and Date Revised: Decembet 14, 2070
Davaloprinant
Six (8} months of less Sty (8) morins
Over six {8) months but not sxoeading Twelve (12) monihs
wvelve (12) months
Twelve {12) months and over Thirty six (38) months

4 Should the employes Tail to repoit for service with the Authority on complstion of hisfher
approved course of siudy or should hefshe iail to complete the period of service
specified hefshs will be required o repay the money (with interest at prevaifing market
rates) spent on his/her award or such propottion of the amount &8 the unserved part of
hisfuer obligatory service bears {o the entire peried for which heishe is coniracied.

Suspansion/Cancslietion of Award
3. the acsdemic authoriiies ai

Should en smployee fall to reach ihe standard requirsd by 1
sny point in his/her course of training, the award shell b
czncsliation at the sole discreiien of the Authorify and shou g
ha unable fo give a statement fo the Authority, all monies lent vAll b
repayable on the previously agread terms with the Authority as set cut inthe contract,

5. Should the employee:

s Abzndon hisfher studies without permission; of
s Chenge hig/her original course of studiss in any way without permission,
= sward shall be liabie io suspension o cancellation and all the meney lent angd interest
scorued thereon shall become immediztely repayable.

¥ The Authority ressrves the right i take legal action ageinst any ber
noficy should he/she defauli in meeting the terms of Agresment.

~oe 2t the institution of siudy shall be pal
al

8. All tuition and simifar fess in respect of sttenda d
has

by the Authority directly 0 the instifution (or refunded {o the employse if helst
siready paid the fees).
5 \Where the course of study is full-time or else not available in Trinidad and Tobzgo, the

Autherity may make a further loan direcily to the applicant in the form of an allowance
equivalent o ore half his/her basic salary for the duration of the programine te zssist

Date of First lssue! February 24, 1692
Page 118
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POLICY FOR FINANCIAL AND ADVISORY ASSISTANGE
FOR EMPLOYEE INITIATED TRAINING

Policy Number: HR: Q000 Revision Number: 002
Responsible Officer: HRO - Training and Dafe Revised: December 14, 2010
Developmant

with his/her accommodation. In this respect the Management Committee shall taks into
consideration the level of indebtedness of the applicant to the Authority.

10. Vacation Leave eamned prior to the approval of this policy for which an Officer may be
gligible, may at the discretion of the Authority, go towards a training award.

Date of First issue: February 24, 1992
Page 119
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GRIEVANCE AND DISCIPLIMARY PROCEDURE

Policy Numbar: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: HRO — Employes Date Revised:

Relations
POLICY STATEMENT

The following is also contained In the Collective Agreements of both the Public Services
Association and the Estate Police Association.

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE (MONTHLY PAID STAEF) — Article 22, Collective Agreement
Where an employee is dissatisfied with any ruling or decision of any Supervigor, the following

grievance procedure shail apply:

1. The employee, with or without the assistance of the Asscciation, may raise the
grievance with the immediate Supervisor within seven (7) working days of the incident
which gave rise to the grievance. The Supervisor shall give his response within two (2)

working days.

2. Failing a satisfactory solution at (1) above, the employee may within seven (7) working
days raise the matter with the Departmental Head or Duty Manager with or without the
assistance of the Association. The Head of Department or Duty Manager shall give his

response within four (4) working days.

3, Failing a satisfactory solution at (2) above, the employee may within seven (7) working
days raise the matter with the Divisional Manager with or without the assistance of the
Association. The Divisional Manager shail give his response within seven (7} working

days.

isfactory solution at (3) above, the employee may within seven (7) working
nager, Industrial Relations or his nominee with the
assistance of the Association. The Manager, Industrial Relations shall hear

representation from all concerned parties and shali give his response in writing fo the
worker and copied to the Association’s representative within ten (10) working days.

4. Failing a sat
days raise the mailer with the Ma

5. Failing satisfactory solution at (4) abovs, the employee with or without the assistance of
the Association, may approach the General Manager or his nominee, through the
Manager, Industrial Relations, within seven (7) working days of recsiot of the decision at
stage (4). The General Manager shall hear and determine the complaint or grievance
within fourieen (14) working days of receipt of same and shall give his response in

&

writing to the worker and copied to the Association’s representative.

6. Where there is no satisfactory sofution at (5) above, a dispute shall be deemed fo exisi
and either party may report same 1o the Ministry of Labour in conformity with Saction 51
(i) of the Industrial Relations Act.

5008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement

Dage of First [ssue:
2008 TO 2008 EPA Coliective Agresment
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GRIEVANCE AND DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

Policy Number: HR: 0000 - Revision Number: 000
Rezponsible Officer: HRO ~ Employee Dzie Revised:
Relations

SETTLEMENT OF DIFFERENCES — Article 23, Collective Agreement
Where there are differences between the parties over the interpretation, application,
administration or alleged violation of this agreement, the following procedure shall apply:

1. The matter shall first be discussed between the Authority and the Association.

2. Failing settfement batween the parties, either one may refer the matter to the Minister of
Labour for congiliation.

3. Failing settlement, either party may refer the matter to the Industrial Court.

DISCIPLINE AND DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE — Article 24, Gollective Agreement

1. RIGHT TO DISCIPLINE

Where it is aileged that an employee may have contravened any rule or reguiation or commits
any act of misconduct or indiscipline, the Authority shall take disciplinary action against the
offending employee in accordance with the procedure noted hereunder.

2. PROCEDURE

a) Where it appears to the Authority that a breach of discipline or any form of misconduct or
irregularity has been commitied by an empioyee, the matter shall be investigated by
Management,

b) The employee against whom the allegation has been made shali be communicated with in
writing and be requested to submit a writien statement indicating whether or not the allegation/s
is/are valid. :

¢) Where an employee admits guilt, the Authority may impose any disciplinary penalty it deems
appropriate in the circumstances. If however, the Authority wishes to interview the offending
employee, he shall have the right to representation of his choice including the Association or a
legal practitioner at this interview process.

d) Where an employee denies an allegation, he shall be afforded the opportunity of a
disciplinary hearing in which case:
i) The Authority shall give at least seven (7) working days writfen notice of the
ailegations and the date, time and place of the hearing and before whom he is to appear.
if) The empioyee shall be afforded the right to representation of this choice including the
Association or legal practitioner.

Date of First [ssue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Coliective Agresment
2006 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement Page 123
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GRIEVANCE AND DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number. 000
Respensible Officer: HRO - Employee Date Revised:
' Relations

I

g with all other relevant employment circumstances

g) The naiure of the offence alon
idered in arriving at the disciplinary penalty {o be

concerning the employee shall be cons
imposed.

f) The employee shall be advised of the result of the disciplinary hearing within seven {7)

working days of iis completion.

sult of any decision taken again him/her, he/she

g) Where an employee is aggrieved as a re
tined in the Grisvance Procedure.

shall have the rightio ufilise the mechanism cu

3. INTER!# DISCIPLINARY ACTION
Where an ailegation against an employee is of such a nature that it requires ihe immediate

removal of the employee from the job site, the employee shall be suspended from duties
pending final resolution of the disciplinary allegation. Such suspension shall be conveyed to the
or half pay according {0 the nature of

employee at the earliest opportunity and shall be on full

the allegation.

4. The Authority shall not enter any adverse report or 1atter into an employee’s records unless

copies are sent to the worker and the Associzafion.

-

2008 TG 2010 PSA Collective Agreement
Page 124
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GRIEVANCE AND DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsibla Officer; HRO — Employes Date Revised:
Ralations

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE (SECURITY) — Article 24, Coilective Agreement

Any Estate Police Officer or group of Estate Police Officers may, either aciing individually or
through the Association’s Branch representative present grievances or complaints fo the
Management of the Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago. If any Estate Police Officer has a
grievance or complaint, he/she may, within five (5) working days seek redress in the foliowing
manner:

Stage 1
The complaint or grisvance may be taken up by the aggrieved Estate Police Officer with the

immediate Supervisor/Sergeant and he shall give his reply within two (2) working days from the
date the complaint is iodged. if there is no solution at that state, the matter shall be forwarded
to the Inspector/Assistant Superintendent of Police for resolution within three (3) working days.

Stage 2 :
if there is no solution at Stage 1, the Estate Police Officer may within six days following the

decision at Stage 1 above, lodge the grievance or complaint in writing with the Chief Security
Officer {CSO) or Departmental Manager, who shali arrange a meeting fo discuss the grievance
or complaint within six (6) days from the date the complaint is lodged. The CSO or
Departmental Manager shall give his decision in writing within five (5) days of the hearing.

Stage 3
Failing a satisfactory solution at Stage 2 above, the Estate Police Officer may within seven (7)

days raise the matter with the Manager — Industrial Relations, who shali hear representations
irom all concerned parties and shall give his response in writing {o the Estate Police Officer
within seven (7) days thereafter. :

Stage 4

Failing satisfactory solution at Stage 3 above, the Estate Police Officer may approach the
General Manager within seven (7) days of receipt of decision at Stage 3. The General Manager
shall hear the complaint or grievance within eight (8) days of receipt of same, and shall give his
response in writing to the Estate Police Officer within eight (8) days thereatter.

Stage &
Failing satisfactory solution at Stage 4 above, the matter may be reported to the Ministry of

Labour by either party in accordance with the provision of the Supplemental Police Act.

SETTLEMENT OF DIFFERENCES

Where there arises any difference of opinion between the Authority and the Association over the
interpretation, ~ application, administration and/or alleged violation of this agreement, the
following procedure shall apply: :

Date of First Issue: 2008 TO 2010 PSA Coliective Agreement
2006 TO 2008 ERPA Collective Agreement . Fage 125
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GRIEVANCE AND DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

Revision Number: 000

Policy Mumber: HR: 0600
Responsible Cfficer: HRO - Employee Date Revised:
Relations

1. The matter shall first be discussed between the Authority and the Association.

Eziling Settlement of the Parties
2. Either party may refer the matter to the Minis

try of Labour for conciliation.

Failing Settlement at (2).
3. Ejther party may refer the matter to the industrial Court.

DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE — Article 25, Collective Agreement
1. Disciplinary action against a precepted Esiate Bolice Officer shall be in accordance with

the Supplemental Police Act, Chapter 15:02 or the Authority's rules and regulations.

2. Disciplinary action against an unprecepted Officer shall be in accordance with the
Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago Rules and Regulations.
Auihority's rules and regulation shall be given o

3. As soon as practicable a copy of the
each Officer within one (1) year of this agreement.

2008 TO 2010 PSA Collective Agreement

Date of First issue:
2008 TO 2008 EPA Collective Agreement
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CODE OF
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS PRACTICE

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer: Manager — Human Dzte Revised:

Resource
POLICY STATEMENT

A Code of Industriaf Relations Practice is essential in an effort to develop and maintain effective
work regulations consistency in disciplinary action and alsc to create and promofe harmonious
working relationships among employees in the organisation.

Primarily the Code would:

1. Establish rules and regulations for conduct in the work place; and
2. Establish and administer disciplinary measures.

The intention is to set standards of bshaviour, have uniformity in disciplinary action and fairness
of treatment fo individual employees. Managers and Supervisors are encouraged to use the
performance appraisal system to ensure employee alignment to the Authority’s goals, its rules
and regulations.

it would ba expected that where gaps exist, Managers and Supervisors would provide the
required coaching of employees to ensure work is at the required standard. Managers and
Supervisors are also required to guide employeces whenever there are instances of
inappropriate behavior, unsuitable work attire and poor work performance.

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE AUTHORITY _
1. The Airports Authority of Trinidad and Tobago (The Authority) is responsible for ensuring

that:

o Up-to-date rules are brought to the attention of all employees and placed on the
official Notice Boards for all to read.

o All employees are made aware of the standards of conduct that are expected of
them.

2. The Authority shall inform all new employses of iheir terms and conditions of
employment and the promulgated work rules regulating their conduct auring working
hours.

Date of First Issue;
Page 129
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CODE OF
INDUSTRIAL RELATIONS PRACTICE

Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Numbper: 000
Responsible Officer: Manager — Human Date Revised:
Resouice

DISCIPLINE AND DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURE

Riaht te Discipline

Where it is alleged that an employee may have coniravened any rule or regulation or commits
any act of misconduct or indiscipline, the Authority shall teke disciplinary action against the
offending employee in accordance with the procedurs noted hersunder.

Procedure
1. Where it appears fo the Authority that a breach of discipline or any form of misconauct or
irregularity has been commiited by an employee, the matter shall be investigated by

Management.

2. The employee against whom the allegation has been mads shall be communicated with
in writing and be requested to submit a written statement indicating whether or not the

allegation/s isfare valid.

3. \Where an employee admits guilt, the Authority may impose any disciplinary penalty it
deems appropriate in the circumstances. i however, the Authority wishes to interview
the employee, he shall have the right to representation of his choice including the
Assaciation or a legal practitioner at this interview process.

4. Where an employee denies an allegation, he shall be afforded the opportunity of a

disciplinary hearing in which case:

iy The Authority shall give at least seven (7) working days wriiien notice of the
allegations and the date, time and place of the hearing and before whom he

is to appesr.
i) The employse shall he afforded the right to representa

including the Association of legal practitioner.

tion of this cholice

all other relevant employment circumstances

5. The nature of the offence along with
dered in arriving &t the disciplinary penalty o be

concerning the employee shall be consi
imposed.

5. The e:ﬁptoyee shall be advised of the result of the disciplinary hearing within seven (7)
working days of its compietion.

any decisicn taken again him/ber, hefshe

7. \Where an employes is aggrisved as a resull of
tined in the Grievance Procedure.

shall have the right to utilize the mechanism out

Dzte of First lssue!
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Resource

INTERIM DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Where an allegation against an employee is of such a nature that it requires the immeadiate
removal of the employee from the job site, the empioyee shall be suspended from duties
pending final resolution of the disciplinary allegation. - Such suspension shall be conveyed fo the
employee at the earliest opportunity and shall be on fuil or haif pay according to the nature of
the allegation.

The Authority shall not enter any adverse report or ietter info an employee’s records unless
copies are sent to the worker and the Association.

DISCIPLINARY ACTICN
Disciplinary action is normally progressive with each step carrying a greater penalty for
continued indiscipline and takes the following form:-

1. Warmning the employee first orally;
2. Waming the employee in writing;
3. Suspension;

4. Dismissal,

By so doing the employee is punished for only the offence committed, not for anything else. Ii
should be noted that Management is not bound by a progressive disciplinary approach in cases
of serious offences. Cases of gross misconduct such as theft and dishonesty, assauit, stc, are
considered serious and no specific warning or prior discipiinary action may preceds dismissal.
Employees should know that such serious offences will lead to discharge.

Verbal Warning
If an employee is in breach of the terms of service or of fafling to meet the standard set, the

normal action, in the first instance, (sxcept in cases of gross misconduct) will be for the
Supervisor to give a verbal warning. The supervisor should take note of the time and date stc.
when such warning notice was given to the employes. '

Written Warning

If the verbal warning(s) has/have failed to bring improvement in the employee’s behaviour, the
employee will be liable to further disciplinary action such as, a written warning in case of 3
subsequent offence. A copy of such notics is to be sent to the relevant Department Head, that
is, the Manager, DGM Security, Assistant Superintendent of Police as well as to the respective
Union representative, i.e. P.S.A. or E.PA.

Date of First Issue:
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Policy Number: HR: 0000 Revision Number: 000
Responsible Officer. Manager — Human Date Revised:
Resource

Suspension/Disimissal
1. An employee may be dismissed after receiving due notice if, despite previous warnings

and having been advised of the disciplinary action which may be taken in the event of
subsequent failure t0 observe his ierms of employment of maintain the standard

expected of him, he still persists in this offence.

5 As an alternative 10 disrnissal, suspensi
for any one (1) offence, may be applied. An employee ma
misconduct in accordance with the procedures outlined in Article 24 of the Memorandum

Agreement between the Authority and the Public Service Associaticn (P.8.A.) for Estate
Police Officers in accordance with the Section 19 (2) of the supplemental Police Act and

Article 25 of the Estate Police Association (E.P.A.).

pe away from the work place during

3 For offences that require the employee fo
il pay or half pay according to the nature

investigation, he/she shall be suspended on fu
of the allegaticn.

4. A Supsrvisor will discuss with the Departmental Manager any ofience which may
warrant suspension withiout pay or dismissal. In all cases, a wiitten record should be

made and the facts of the matter examined before a decision is taken.

o Bianager also discuss intended disciplinary action with the

it is recommended that th
ndustrial Relations Manager.

Human Resources kianager/i

RIGHT OF REPRESENTATION
The aim of the grievance procedure shall be ssible

at the point of origin. It should be simple and rapid in operation.

o setile the grievance fairly and as far as po

The grievance will normally be discussed befween the immediate Supewisor/Departmeniai

Head and the employee who has the right io Union Representation.
er case and to take histher maiter

The employes MUST be given {he opportunity to state his/h
through the various stages of the Grigvance Procedure, if necessary. The Memorandum of

Agresment between the Authority and P.S.A. provides under arficle 22 and 23 for the procedure
to be foltowed in resolving disputes arising between the pSA and the Authority. A similar
procedure is outlined in Article 24 of ihe Memorandum of Agresment between Estate Police

Association. These are also outlined in the Authority's Grigvance Procedure.

Dsfe of First ssue!
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CFFENCES BY WORKERS OUTSIDE THE AUTHORITY/CONVICTION IN COURT

1. Where it is proven that the worker ‘has committed a serious offence outside the
Authority, i.e. not connected with the worker's employment or promuigated work rule that
is fiable to impair the Authority image, such worker may be disciplined on the basis of the
circumstance of each cass, notwithstanding an acquiitance by the Court.

2. A worker convicted of charges such as:
» Possession and smoking of marijuana and/or other prohibited drugs;

¢ Possession of ammunition and firearm;

= Harbouring a wanted criminal:

o Larceny, fraud, etc.;

* Failure to pay maintenance dues on a warrant and is senienced to
imprisonment by the Court, thereby being unable to fulfil employmenit
obligations, will be dismissed as the performance of the confract of
employment has become impossible and iherefore has automatically come to

an end by frustration of contract. However, before the decision is made the
facts of the case will be examined.

OFFENCES THAT WILL RESULT IN DISCIPLINARY ACTION

Gambling :
Gambling is strictly prohibited in any of the Authority’s premises either during or after working

hours. Any employee found gambling on any part of the Authority premises shall be subject to
disciplinary action.

Gambling on the Authority's premises will include gambling in the Awthority’s vehicles,
irrespective of where they are located.

Use of Alcohol and Prohibited Drugs

Use of alcoholic beverages is strictly forbidden on any of the Authority’s premises during
warking hours. Use of prohibitive drugs is strictly forbidden at anytime on the Authority’s
property. In both instances, use of alcoholic beverages and prohibitive drugs on the Authority’s
property shall include vehicles.

Any employee found to be violating such regulations will be subject to disciplinary action.

Bate of First Issue;
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TYPES OF INDISCIPLINE
Types of indiscipiine ‘dentified as being most characteristic or current are:-

Insubordination

Insolence

Abusive Language Assauilt

Liming Malingering

Willful damage fo property Unlawful possession or appropriation of property
Loitering Unsatisfactory performance

Absenteeism Tardiness

Violation of Work Rules and Procedures Violation of Safety Rules and Procedures.

Absent Without Permission

Employees who often absent themse
by submitting leave application forms would be subject to disciptinary action.

jves without permission or without accounting for absence

Signing In_or Out the Register
Any employee who does not sign in oF
disciplinary action as follows:-

out without reasonable cause will be subject to

1. For the first offence the employee will be called in with the Shop Steward/Association
Representative for his Department and he will be spoken to. The respective Association
(P.S.A. or E.P.A.) should be informed of this misdemeanor.

5 For the sacond offence the employee will be warmed and a copy of the warning notice

sent to the Union.

For the third offence, the employee will be suspended for one day without pay.

0

4. For the fourth cffence, the employee will be suspended for three (3) days without pay.

For the fifih offence, the employee will be suspended for seven (7) days without pay.

o

6. For the sixth offence, the employee will be suspended for fourteen (14) days without

pay.
7. For the seventh cffence, the employee will be liable fo dismissal.

At sach stage the employee will be informed of the next stage of action. This discipiinary action

will apply over periods of cne year.

Sny employee who signs in oF aut for another employee would be dismissed.

Dziz of First Issue:
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Unpunctuality

1.

if an employee is “late” seven (7) or more times in two consecutive calendar months, he
will receive a Warning Notice which will specifically state that if he is “Iate” seven or more
times during the next twelve (12) months, he will be suspended.

it during the twelve (12) months subsequent to the Warning Notice, the employee is
“late” again on seven (7) or more times during any two (2) consecutive months, he will
be suspended for five (5) days without pay and told that if he is again “late” seven (7) or
more times during any two (2) consecutive months during the next twelve (12) months,
he will be suspended for two (2) weeks without pay.

if during the twelve (12) calendar months subsequent to this suspension, he is again
‘late” seven (7} or more times during any fwo (2) consecutive months, he will be
suspended for two (2) weeks and his case reported to the Human Resources Manager/
Iindustrial Relations Manager, who will advise on what further disciplinary action
including dismissal should be taken if unpunctuality continues.

For purposes of Disciplinary action refeired to above, “late” micans any worker
who arrives at work five {5) minutes after his nonmal starting time.

PERSONS ENTITLED TO TAKE DISCIPLINARY ACTION

The normal day-to-day disciplinary actions e.g., verbal warnings and reprimands are expected
to be carried out by the immediate supervisor concerned. This will include office supervisors,

Estate Ssrgeants and Corporals.

All other disciplinary action/s shall be carried out as follows:

For ail staff within the Bargaining Unit in the P.5.A. or E.P.A. respeciively

ACTICN PERSONS TO TAKE ACTION
Written Warning Departmental Manager, Inspector/Sergeanis.
Suspension Departmental Manager, Assistant Superiniendant

of Police on advice from Manager of Human
Resources/ Industrial Relations Manager.

Dismissail for any cause Deputy General Manager/Manager, Human
Resource/industrial Relations Manager.

Date of First lssue:
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Managerial StatfiHeads of Department

VWritten Warning The General Manager

Suspension The General Manager

Dismissal for any cause General Manager/The Board
Any form of disciplinary action The Board

against a Deputy General
Manager and General Manager.

GUIDELINES FOR ASSISTING MANAGERS/SUPERVISORS
Basically the purpose of discipline should be 1o obtain compliance with established Rules of
conduct. There is, however, no precise mechanical formula or

Conduct i.e. to correct improper
fixed pattern of penalties which can be given as representing proper application of corrective

discipline for all situations.

The Authority will ensure that consistency in the application of disciplinary procedures is always

adhered to.

=ach instance of misconduct must be viewed and judged individually. Consequently, the
following procedure should be used for guidance in handling disciplinary matters:

1. Investigate and ensure that 2l the facts have been obtained. As far as is practical, try
to reconstruct the incident and to establish exactly what happened. Investigations

should be conducted &s scon as possible afier the incident.

2. Determine what rule, procedure, condition of employment, etc, was breached.
/

3. Ensure that the evidence gathered can stand scrutiny before & third party. Most of
the disputes in disciplinary ¢ases arise over the facts of the case.

4. Give the employee zmple opportunity to explain with the union representation if

desired.

5 Decide the nature of the disciplinary action L.e. warning, suspension, dismissal.

5. Before issuing disciplinary aciion, review previous warnings, suspension, etc. for
misconduct over the last wwelve (12) months.

Dzte of First Issue.
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7. Suspension pending investigations should be considered in the following
circumstances;

e Where it is unwise or unsafe to aliow the employee to continue to work during the
investigations.

o Where the offence is one of gross misconduct.

« VWhere the event of instant dismissal could create tension or industrial action.

In such cases the employee should be written o and summoned to attend the
investigation which should be held as expeditiously as possible after the incident.

Employees’ suspended pending investigation should be paid in full or half pay.

8. In cases of dismissal, ensure that Senior Authority that is, the General Manager,
Deputy General Manager-Corporate Services, the Humzan Resources Manager
and/or the Industrial Relations Manager, has been consulted. -

9. Departmental Managers and Supervisors are advised to consult with the Human
Resources Department before issuing any written correspondence of a disciplinary
nature to employees. Copies of all fstiers of a disciplinary nature shall be forwarded
to the Human Resources Division to be placed in the employee’s personal file. The
Representative Bargaining Agent, e.9. P.S.A. and E.P.A. must also be sent a copy of
such letter in accordance with the requirements of the Memorandum of Agreement,

CONCLUSION
Dismissal for misconduct can be divided into two (2) categories:-

1. Gross misconduct which may resuit in instant or summary dismissal for acts of theft or
dishonesty, physical violence, swearing, drunkenness, refusal to cocperate with
management or some gross violation of an established work rule.

2. Other forms of misconduct which are serious ehough to merit dismissal such as
persistent absenteeism or lateness, carelessness, negligence, idieness or misconduct

outside work.

it should be noted that in most disciplinary cases and particularly in dismissal cases, the
Industrial Court unusually adopts the position that the onus is on mznagement to prove
the guilt of the wrong doing. ' :

Dafe of First Issue:
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proef required is sclear and convincing” evidence. However, a higher
tly required where the alleged misconducts of a kind recognized and
punished by criminal law or is regarded as morally reprehiensible. In such cases, the common
law standard of “proof beyond a reasonable doubt” has been required. The most common of
such cases are those involving theft of company property where the Court demands clear

evidence of guilt.

Usually the degiee of
degree of proof is frequen

this fact careful and proper handiing of disciplinary action in cases of
ed. The "Guidelines for Assisting Managers/Supervisors” of

ded for the Managers/Supervisors’ assistance in handling
tiined in the “Schedule of

in recoghition of
misconduct cannot be overstress
ihis document are therefore provi
such cases. Guidelines for work rules, offences and penaliies are ou

Disciplinary Action, Offences and Penalties”.

Date of First issue:
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PROCUREMENT
PROCEDURES

e Open Tender
e Selected Tender
* Sale Tender

ALL OF THE ABOVE ARE INCLUDED IN THE
AUTHORITY’S POLICY AND PROCEDURES FOR TENDERS
AND AWARD OF CONTRACTS FOR GOODS, SERVICES
AND WORKS WHICH IS INCLUDED IN THIS SECTION OF
THE REPORT
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=

1.0 DEFINFTIONS:

below:
“Authority”

MBOHrd -2 g
“Chalrman”
“Commitiea”

*Contractor”

I “Corporate Secretary”

“Relative™
“Relevant Division™
“Secretary’”

) “Services ™

In this eocument, the fo

de . Fachine

Howing terms shall have the fespactive meanings ascribed

AzﬁfpoﬁsAufh@rﬁy of Trinidad and Tabago.

FReans the Board of the Airports Authority of Trinidad ang
Tobago

the Chatrman of either of the Committees established hy
the Board.

the Committee charged with gl matters relating o tenders
within its financial authority.

Means a petson, firm of company Included op the
Autkiority’s register of approved contractors or Specifically
approved by the Board,

means the Secretary of Alrports Authority of Trinidad and
Tobago, ‘

el andtedals; parspradns

. 'Y, equipment, vehic]
of alf kinds

means spouse (including common taw Spouse), father,
mother, brother, sister, halt-brother, half-sister, son,
daughter, son-in-law, daughter-in-law, barent(s) of 4
Spouse as well as foster gnd step relationships of every
degree,

means the division requesting andfor execuling tha
procurement ef goods, services and works,

means the Secretary to the specific Commitiea

Feans assistance in daing things or getting things done
and  includes administrative, engineering, financial
rrarketing, alrport Operations, f'echm'-c‘éif;."pr@?ession*aﬂ' and
Cerstitancy services,
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b

“Tendear” means an offer or quotation or group of offers or quotations
made by a Contractor(s) in response fo a request by the
Autherity to conduct specified works or services or to
supply goods. This also includes requests for pronosals.

“Tender Documents”  includes scope of works, specifications and drawings,
instructions to tenderers, bills of quantifies or price
schedules; draft items and conditions of confract. '

“Tenders Rutes” means these policles and procedures and any modification
or amendment thereof:
SIATY means Value Added Tax in accordance with the Act-Ng, 37

of 1889 of the Laws of Trinidad and Tobago.

“Works” meens  building, engineering, construction and
maintenance works of all kinds,

In this document words imporiing the singular only aleo include the plural and ths
masculine Includes the feminine and vice-versa as the context requires.

All values specified in this document are exclusive of Value Added Tax (VAT).
However, all approvallimits are sabjec’t fo VAT.

e S S D b ot ey by RN s o e e T e e BT, ¢ v R B i

POLICY STATEMENT

The Authorify in the fulfillment of its mandate will procure goods, services and works in
accordance with the procedures set forth below which are designed to encourage
competition, economy, efficiency and fransparency.

The Board may establish Tender Committees to do the following:

a. Invite and consider, and efther directly procure goods and ssrvices necessary for
the Authority's efficlent functioning or alternatively make recommendations for
the procurement of goods or the undertaking of services or works necessary for
the carrying out of the functions of the Authority; and

b.  Either dispose directly of unserviceable or surplus goods or properfy ahandoned

on the Authorlty's estales or make recommendations to dispose of unservicaable
or surpius goods belonging to the Authority or vehicles deamed o he abhandonad
on the estates of the Authority. .
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3.0

3.2

© 33

3.4

. Confracts for Good's, Services and Works 2012

CONSFITU TION, POWERS AND FINANCIAL AUTHORITY OF TENDER
COMMITTEES

The Board may establish the following Tender Commiitees:

The Board Tenders Commities which shall consider tenders and recommend to. the
Board the award of contracts exeeeding TT$300,000.00,

a. The_ B@a-rd Tenders Commitiee shali comprise of four members of the Board not
including the Chatrmian of the Alrports Authority. The Committes’s Chairman
shzll be setected by the Board,

b. The Corporate Secretary or in his absence his designate shall be the Secratary
of the Board Tenders Committes.

The Management Tenders Committee which shall consider tenders ang award
confracts not exceeding TT$300,000.00.

a. Thie Management Tenders Committee shall comprise of the following:
(i} The Genera! Manager as Chairman

(i The Deputy General Managers
(i) The Financial Genfrolier

of the Management Tenders Committee,

The Board delegates jts power to invite, consider, accept or reject tenders not
exceeding $200,000.00 irt accordance with these rules as follows:

() General Manager - Contracts not exceeding TT$200,000.00

(i) Deputy General Managers - Contracts not exceeding TT$50,000.00.

r

(if) Managers Contracts not exceeding TT520,000.00

The Committees and the persons prescribed with financial authority o award
contracts shall not for the purpose of giving themselves authorty to act subdivide the
quantity of goods to be supplied or services and works fo be undertaken into two or
more portions so that the values of the subdivided portions falls within their sfipulated
financiat authority.

ale Seore WH&hiSasenGehlSTeS!gD-afeShaH"betheecreta”
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4.8

4.1

4.2

4.3

4.4

4.5

4.6

4.9

410

= 5.0

PROCEEDINGS

Each of the Commitiees shall meet at least cnce a month and additionally at such
times as its Chairman may request,

At meetings of the Commitiees, a quorum shall be as foliows:

() Board Tenders Commiitee - 3 Members
(i) Management Tenders Committee - 4 Members

The notice and agenda for meetings shall be circulated at least five working days
before the time fixed for such mestings.

‘The General Manager and the Deputy General Manager, Corporate Services shall be
required to attend all meetings of the Board Tenders Committee but shall have no
right to vote.

Where a matter is before any Committee for consideration, the appropriate Deputy
General Manager or Manager may be invited to the mesting for the purpose of
providing information where clarification s required.

in the absence of the Chairman for any Commities meeting or part thereof, the
Committea may elect from among the members present a person to petform the
function of Chalrman. ' ' '

ST S e e S e T T TR S i e et T R

The decisions of the Committess shall be by a ma}ér]‘ay of votes and for thé{ }D_urpose
the Chalrmen shall have both an original and a casting vote.

Only in exception_ai cases as determined by the Chairman shall decisions be taken by
round rebin Via ihe circulation of papers. The comments of each member shall be
reflectad in one document in relation to each matter so dealt with.

Minutes of the meeting of the Committees shall be recorded and circulated at the next
ensting meeting for confirmation/certification.

The confirmed decisions and minutes of the Commitiees must be submitted menthly
to the next ensuing rmeeting of the Board,

DUTIES OF THE SECRETARY OF THE COMMITTEES

The Secretary of sach Commilftee shall have the folfowing responsibiiities:

a. Provide guidahce and advice to the Commitise in order to promote adharence to
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h. | Advise the appropriate head of division ordepartme

these policies and procederas;

b. Prepgre and clrculate notices angd agendas of mestings fo members af least five
working days before fhe fixed time for such meelings or as directed by the
Chairman from time ta time;

c.  Maintain reglster of aIE tenders and prepare a monthly repert to he distributed o
members of the commites Summarizing the tenders processed for the month
under review;

d. Prepare minutss of each meeting in proper form, which shall be confirmed by
that Commiifes at the next ensiing mesting;

: g the Secretary on
to urnsuccessiul tenderers;

I Subinit to the Cormmittee each month, project reports on the progress of
contracts awarded by the relevant Committeas:

g. The Secretary shall be responsible for ensuring that il confractors that supply
goods fo, and undsrtake services and works for the Authority comply with the
regii r’emeﬂ-t-s:s_ﬁfei-fe_d*iﬂ—f-h*e--@enér_a—l— Ferms-and Conditions of Cortract;

g

- et AL ST S

18 . nt of the relevan: decisions
teken at Tender Commitiss Meetings,

CONFLICT OF INTEREST

A member of the Board Tenders Commitiee or the Management Tenders Committes
who:

(i} Isa rnemberofa cornpany or other body; or

(th lsa partnerof a firm, or partnershio; or

(i) Is errployedby a eornpany, other bady, firm or partrnership; or

(v} Has afinancial interestin a company, other body, firm or partnership; or
(v) Has arelative

that has submitted an offer for the Supply or purchase of goods or the underiaking of
woiks or setvices or who has responded to g request for propésals which is the
subfect of consideration by one of the Committees, shall disclose the fact and shall net
teke part In the consideration or discussion of the offer, nor Vote on any qusstion
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6.2

6.4

7.6
7.1

7.2

concerning the cffer,

Alt persons in the Authority empowered by faw or delegated financial authority to
award corracts are not precluded from placing tenders for the purchase of surplus or
unserviceable goods, but where such disposal is by a method ofher than public
tender, even where the condifions of 6.1 are met, either of the commitiees is
empowered fo refuse to grant an award to the member % in the opinien of that
eoemmittes, an appearance of impropristy ks likely to arise,

A member of the rB-‘@ard;, officer or employee of the Authority shall not enter into any
conteact for the stpply of goods or the undertaking of any servicss or works for the
Authority without the express approvatl of the Board.

- Where papers are to be elrcutated under clause 4.9 above, the Chairman shall direct

that the papers are not cireulated 1o any persen empowsred by law and delegated
finanefal athotity to consider tenders and award contracts who through a declared
inferest is precluded from taking part in the consideration, discussion and voting on
the matier.

(=)

INVITATION TO TENDER

Whenever goods, services and works are'requ'xred to be supplied to or undertaken on
cehalf of the Authority the value of which is In_excess of $200,000.00, the General
Mangger or-the divistonal head trough the Gensral Manager shall maks a request to

&4

a.  ajustification for the project;

b. scope of works/specifications in sufficient detall to ensure that responsive
tenders. are recelved;

an estimette of the cost to be incurred for the project;

the sotirce of avallable funding;

a justification for the form of tendering {sole, selective or public);

the evalusiion criteria and;

a recornmended evaluation team.

@ moao

Prior to authorising an invitation to tender, the relevant Committes shal|

a. ensure thattheactivily is consistent with the Authority's mandate:
b. approve the form of tender fo be usad.

tittes to nvite fendars: e the Tollotiiag =
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7.3

—r

i

744

7.4.2

7.4.3

The invitation to tender shall be signsd by the Corporate Secrstary or his designate
and shall contain:

2. & precise description of the goods required or tha §Cope of services or works to

| el vhenever noeessary, also contain the place where and
when additionali ition refating thereto can be obtainad:
the farm or Hhannz Fin: Henderisto be stbmitted:

Hich-the offeris fo be subriited;

nier in which the offér is be submitied;
ents which must aceompany the tender
omme téx and value added tax cerlificates
SINSSs entity the appropriate cerfificate of registration
ity ofthe tendérer:
respett fo the payment of tender fees and deposits and

© oo

petformance de 61 bonds;
g. the date and fime for the opening of tenders; and

n.  any other essential matter

All nvitations to tender faor the procurement of goods and the unidertaking of Services
and works on behdlf of the Authority shal be issued from the office of the Corporate
Secrefary. For this purpose af completed tender documents should be submitted to
the office of the Corporate Secretary together with the invitation to tender.,

Where the selective form of tendering s used, such invitations shall be restricted o
the Authorily’s list of approved Contractors. A copy of the tender invitation, the fender
documents and a Hsting of contraciors to be invitad shall be forwarded to the office of
the Corporate Secratary for issuance where the tenders are above TT$300,000.00,

The relevant division shall be responsible for the seleciion of confractors to be invited
to tendsr and the number of invitees shali be determined as follows:

(if  Tenders greator than TTS 100,000.00 3 minimum of seven (7) coniractors;
iy Fenders less than TT$100.000.00 4 minimum of fhrea (3) contractors,

Tie number of invitees shall ony be reduced whers there exists fewer than the
specified number of contraciors on the Authority's list of approved contractors for the
particular category of goods, services ot works.

Where any category has more thar the specified number of approved Confractors,
every effort shall be made to ensure that all the approvad confractors, are giver by
rotation, equal opperiunity to tend ar, .
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7.5

7.5.1

752

8.0

8.1

8.2

8.3

PRE-TENDER MEETINGS/SITE VISITS

The Authority may arrange mandatory pre-tender mestingsfsite visits where it considers
it to be appropriate. Invitation to such meelings/site visits shall be extended in the
invitation to tendar. A subsequent mandatory pre-tendetr/site visit may be arranged prior
fo the date Tor the submisskon of tenders. Invitations to such meetings/site visit shall be
extended to altinvited fenderers in the case of selective tendering or by public notice in
the case of opéen or public t&rdering.

At such mandatory meelingFs/site Visits, a representative of the relevant division shall be
in atteridance to clar Isstkes raised as well as those issues which in the opi nion of the

yF. The meeting shell be minuted and the minutes shall be
6riérs whether in a¥taridance or not,

Where, the Authority cowsiders it appropriate to arrange a mandatory pre-tendar
meeting/site visit, only tendkerers in atteridance shall be eligible to subniit a tender.

Where any varfation in the scope of works or in any part of the fender documenis is
recuired, each tenderer shall be netified in wiiting before the closing date for the
submission of the tender end where necessary all tenderers shall be further notified in
writing of a postpanement of the closing dats for the submission of tenders.

All requests for clarification must be submitted in writing to the Authority. The
Auahor ity shatl respond fo all wiitten requests prior to the period speciiled in the tender
ment asthe defadlm‘e" for submission of the tenders. ms will be sent g
- writte rég e ests HekElved- h-the- Authefity Tor-clafficationahid tha
rasponses given o the Fec;ues’ts

TENDER FEE/TENDER DXEPOSIT OR BOND

The Authority may require Penderers to pay non-refundable tender fees, int such sums
as may be defermined by the relevant Committse, prior 1o the collection of tender
documents.

The Authority may require tendsrers who wish to submit a tender to deposit with the
Authority such stims as nray be determined by the relevant Commitiee, prior to the
submissiory of tenders.

The Authority may forfelt any sum deposited upon the ocourrence of the foflowing:

a. the person whose tender is accepted faills or refuses io enfer into = formal

confract;
b, thepersonsubmiiting g lenderwithdraws sarme.

-10 -
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8.0

4.1

9.2

9.3

9.4

10.0

104

T0.5

- 110

412

Each box shall be mrarked “'f'en‘g‘:e;_r:'?c:;x”, and shalf b@'ﬁf@hﬁ"f_@ specific

0X.

SUBMISSION OF TENDERS

A Tender shall be rmade on the appropriate form specified n the tender documanis
and shall be signed by the person submitfing the tender or inthe cass of 5 business
entity, a duly authorised officer and shall pa enclosed In a seslad envelope addressed
to the Secretary of the relevan Commitiee. '

Ever;}{ terder shall where applicable be accompanied by velid Income Tay and VAT
Ge-rfﬁzﬁear&es both conﬁrmfng that the tenderar has compliad with the provisions of and
discharged his or fts obligafions under the Income Tax and VAT Tex legistations.

Any alteration or erasure in any tender shall ba initialed by the Person making the offor
or, in the case of a busiess entity, a duly authorised officer thereof.

The relevant Committee may refect any offer which does not comply with any of the
provisions of this clauss,

TENDER BOY

The Authority shall Keep, at its office, specially constructed baxes in which all Tendarg

shall be placed. The boxes may also be kept in such other places as may be desmed
necessary or appropriate by tha Corporate Secretary.

capatly-ands

the“*sewnfyf“‘fhe“deumniﬁpla

Each box shall have two independent tocks that control the opening of the box, the
key for one lock shall be kept by the Corporate Secretary and the ofher key shall pe
kept in the custody of the Generaf Manager.

The Corperate Secretary shall be custoian of alf spare keys.

Where a box has been assigned for the receipt of tenders on any matter, it shall pe
marked so that it may be readily identifighle by persons delivering tenders,

RECEIPT OF TENDERS

Atender shall be placed in a sealed envefope and deposited in the appropriate tender

box before the time and elosing date for submission.

Subject to the clause 1 1.3, a tender is fegarded ag having besn recelved whan # has
been deposited in the tender box,

S 11 .
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Ga

Where tenders cannot be placed In the tender box due fo the size of the tender
document, or where they are posted from overseas, such tenders must be lodged with
the Secretary of the Commiiice or his designate who shall record the name of the
tenderer, the date and time of delivery and the signafure of the person delivering the
tender where practicable and issue this infermation to all tenderers.

When the time and date for submission of tenders have expired, the box or hoxes
assigned shall be sealed by the Corporate Secketary or in his absence his nomines
so that no further tenders may be inserled, and the box or boxes shall be removed tc;
such seeure place, as may be designated by the Corporate Secretary from time to
time, untit they may be operied,

Late Submissions

All tenders subritfed late shall be rejected and the tenderers shall be officially
informed in writing by the Secretary of -the Committee. Each tenderer is fully
responsible for ensuring that his tender submission meets the stipulated date and
time. Any variation from the stipufated method of submission will be at the tenderer's
risk.

WITHDRAWAL OF TENDERS

Atender may be withdrawii b
Géntitittes -and ‘shall bewg ;
authorised officer of the business eritity that subniitted the tender.
letter shalt reach the Secretary before the dats snd time for submission of tenders,

y a letfe

The lstter may be deposited in the assignsd tander box or where it is addressed 1o the
Secretary of the relevant Committes, that officer or his designate shali receive and
sign for same, recording the time and dale of receipt of the lstter of withdrawal.

OPENING OF TENDERS
On the date and fime fixed for the opening of tenders, the Secratary of the relevant
Commities of his designate and the General Manager or his designate shall unlock

the fender box and remove the tenhders found thereln.

The Secretary of the relsvant Committee or his desigrate and the Gensral Manager or
his designate shall open the sealed tenders and shalt cause a note fo be taken of

a. the names of the tenderers
b, fthe original and number of copies ef each Tender
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13.3

14.0

4.1

14.2

c. thetender surns quoted
d.  the depositreceibt or bid bond If regetired
.  such further information as the Beard or either of fhe relevant Committee directs,

The tenders shall be Placed in a safe place to the satisfaction of the Corporate
Secreﬁagy and shall bo kept there inf they are delivered to the evaltation committes
for consideration.

EVALUATION OF TENDERS

An Eyaluation Comrniftee as recommended and approved prior to the Issuance of the
Invitation to Tender shalfbe established to consider and evaluate the Tenders.

Wh.erg‘ there is no significant difference in the quality of goods being offered or i the
capacity fo underake the serviees or works between competing tenderers, the lowest
cordpliant tender shali be accepted by the Board. Where this is not the case, in
selecting the tender fo be accepted, the following shall be taken into account-

a.  Forthe consideration and evaluatior: of tenders for goods to be supplied:
(i) total contract price; and terms of payrent:

(i) evidenee of refiability of performance;
(i) any warranty or guarantse given;

(iv) m 8FICe OF FSpaiF service od
- (V) ras N e o i, L

(V) compafibility with other goods used by the Authority including future
economlies of scale;

(vi)) adequacy of siock of Spares held in Trinidad and Tobago and/or
accessibitity of spares in general;

{vill) currency of payment and risk of price increasss during a supply period; and

(ix} any other matterrelated o the quality and adequacy of the goods.

b.  Forthe consideration and evaluation of tanders to undertake services or WOorks

{i)  Such matters as listed atf 14.2 {a) above as may be relevant

(i} evidence of previous performance of similar services or works

(i) techmical skiffs, adequacy of supporting staff, managemesnt SUPPOrt systems,
supporting financlat and contractyal arrangemesnts avallable to the tenderer.

(V) proposed execution strategy including schedule; and

(v} orany other matter related to the quality of the performance of the services
and works

- 13-
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3

i

14.3

15.0

16.1

10.2

15.2.4

15.2.2

1523

1524

16,0

16.1

During the process of tender evaluation, if it is thought necessary, to convene a
mesting with a tenderer fo confirm the tenderer's technical, economic and human
resource capabitities and fo establish that the quoted price fully covers the scope of
wark ottlined in the tender specifications, an appropriate minute of the meeting must
be prepared representing the discussions and signed by both parties.

TWO ENVELOPE SYSTEM

Tenders may be invited requiring the tenderer to satisfy iechnical requirements before
condiderafiorn is given to financial submissions. As such every tenderer shall be
regiired to submit tivo (2) envelopes. Envelope 1 shall contain the technical
proposals and. Envelope 2 shall contain the financial proposals.

Opening and Evaluation of Tenders by two envelopes

Only Envelope 1 shall be opened and forwarded via the Corporate Secretary to the
appointed evaluation committee for a detailed analysis of all submitted technical
proposals and for a recommendation to the appropriate financial authority as to which
of the tenderers satisfy the technical capability or requirements of the project. The
evaluation comrmities will also rank the tenderers by order of meril.

The evaluation cammittee shall consist of the members approved prior io the issuance
of “ﬁhﬁé’ffleﬁ"d:éi‘. ’ T -

On]y Er'wél-‘c}:pe 2, corresponding to Envelope 1 of the tenderers determined to capable
by the appropriate financial authority shall be opened.

Ernvslope 2 of the fenderers not deemed capable shall be returned unopened to the
tenderers by the Corporate Secretary or his designate. '

15244 Envelops 2 of the capable tenderers shall be evaluated io determine
compliance and accuracy and the lowest evaluated tender may be
Eecqmmended for acceptance.

15942 The lowest evaluated tender may be recommended for acceptance.

ACCEPTANCE GF TENDERS

VWhere a fender has been aceepted, the tendersr shall be notified In wiiting of its
acceptarice and i appropriate cases, of the requirement to enter into a formal
coniract with the Authority and provide security In the manner and to the extent as the
Authotlty determines.

S14 -
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162 Unsuccessful tendsrers shall be notified of the non-acceptance of thelr tenders,

. 170 FoRMOF CONTRACT
71 A format contract shall be i such form and shall contain such terms and condifions ag
! the Authority may determine and shall specify inter alia whenever applicablg:

a. A desecription of the goods to be supplied, or the Services or works to pe
uRde It

b. Theferms of payment.

c. The Drice to be paid for the provision ef such goods or the undertaking of such
Serv >Sor works. _

d. The petiod within which the matters contemplated by the confract are to pe
petformed,

e. Boih the damages payable by the contractor for delay or non-complatior; of the
confraet within the peried stipulatsd and the bonuses applicable for Completion of
cotitract befora schedule.

f.  Provision for damages in the event of breach of such contract by the Contractor.

17.2 The terms and conditions of contract shall be referred to and form part of any award.,
7.3 Before work commences, every confragtor is requested to produce (where applicable)
eVidence of Workmen's combanaat and such other Msurance covergge ag may be
=“‘=____‘__:.‘_F__ o 7:{, 5 f@r [, iﬁ;ﬁ%ﬁrz‘:‘:‘:‘:-::nf_.—.-:-r:-n;a:.-r.:-»: e e —?-—.—.-é:-;.-.-.r:;.«._:-:-;_.-‘.r--f-f-.:n:_:.i—qe-~-»-::‘-:-;vz‘:-,‘_-» -

16.0 EMERGENCIES

181 In cases of emergency where the safsty of people, property, plant and eqUipment are
- i Jeopardy or where the continuity of the Authorlty's operations demands that o
: Comtrect be awarded, the Chairman of the Authority may authorise the Genargl
L Manager, without invifing terders 1o procure goods, services and works, the valye of
: which does nof excead $1,000,000.00.

182 Notwithstanding 8.1 above the following process shall ba observed:

a.  within tweﬂty.féjur hours of the award of contract, an appiication seeking
ratiilcation of the action taken must he Submitted to the Chafrman of the relevant
Committee or relevant fimancial authority. Such report must include:

L & statament of the emergency circumstance that prevalled

i the Authority's estirnate
iii.  the astual cost and

-15-
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18.0

19.1

199

iv. reasons why the particular Contractor was chosen.
v. the aftempts made to convene the appropriate financial authority and the
restilts of such atfempts.

applications for ratification of contracts awarded in an emergency shali be dealt
with at the ensuing Committee Meefing.

NON COMPETITIVE PROCUREMENT

Al contracts for the supply of goods or the undertaking of services or works must be
awarded on the basis of competitive bidding except as provided hersunder:

a.
b.

Q.0

where goods are spares or replacement parts for equipment in use;
Where the purchase of similar type equipment alfeady in use is more cost

wh, re-goods services or works are available through a sole source or supplier:
where the works to be caried out on a site where the employment of another
contractor will hinder the pregress of the works already being performed by the
existing eontractor, taking due account of the cost effectivenass if this approach
is adopted;

where the services or works are carried out by the contractor who is already In
possession of relevant information and data and it would be more cost effactive
for such comntractor to perform the reguired services or works: and

in the case of eMergency as descnbed in clause 18 above
e orks When
Titation to evaluatio

;e@pardtse thé pmgréss‘
Work normally periormed by specialist contractors or where one contractor has
eamed a reputation through successful bidding and providing more efficient
service and supervision than his competitors. As a matter of principle, in these
cases, it Is advisable o invite tendsrs on an annual basis in order to maintain the
element of competiliveness.

To commence such jobs, the following must be done:

A recommendation must be compleled and submitted to the relevant committes
or financial authority for approval;

Such recommendation must include a description with the goods, services or
works and a certification that the contraclor is ths onfy ong possessing the
necessary capabitiiies locally, or the partictiiars of the cwcum&ar}oeq surrounding
the recommendation of the contracior;

The recomrendation should also indicate that by comparison of the Aethority's
gstimate the price appears reascnable.

-16-
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20,0 VARIATIONS

281 Where @ variation is praposed fo a contract subsequent to the commencement of work
which results from a change in scope, change in specifications, change in method of
pefformance or accelerating worl performance, approval may be given by the relevant
Committee after eblaini ng the relevant professional advice and enstiring that the funds

are avaliable before institictions io effect the variation ara g

.

iven fo the contractor,

202 All requests for variations must be supported by documentation which states the
foffowine:
the eriginal contract price;
Pprevious curmulgtive revised coniract price;
Imtiiative revised conract price;
on price;
: Sverrun to date;
the apsroved budgsted contract sum;
a detaiied explanation of the circumstances giving riss to the variation ;
approval of the Manager concerned.

S N

203 Proposad varigtions in respect of contracts originally awarded by the Generg]
~ Manager shall be approved by the General Manager Upon recommendation of the
Deputy General Manager of the relevant division.

ect of contracts originally awarded by a Committee Shalj

- 204 Varlations proposed in resp

b referred to {38 relevant Commiftee for approval,

21.0  DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

211 Where the General Manager determinas that goods which are the property of the
Authorlty are unserviceable or are surplus to the requirements of the Authority, the
General Manager shall estimate the value of such property and shall refer the same fo
the relevant committee or financial authority for recommendation for disposal,
212 The Authority may sell and disposs of unserviceablie or surplus goods by public
auction or may adopt such other method of disposal as e Board Tenders Comrnittee
may recommend (sealed bids, dumping, destroying).

213 The Board may agree on the recornmendation of the Board Tenders Committes that
sueh surplus or unserviceable goods shalf be:

A, D*o-na’ze;d to any Governrment Division, Youth Camp, ‘Technlical School, charitable

instietien or non-profit com pany or any shiilar body recetving public funds: or

b, Desfroyed.

-17.
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21.4

21.5

21.6

22.0

23.0

24.0

25.0

251

252

These Rules shall also apply to the disposal of assets.

A Member of the Authority's staff may be nominated by the Chairman on the advice of
the Genera! Manager fo aftend every sale of unserviceable or sumplus goods and
report trough the Generat Manager fo the Board the résults thereof. :

The proceeds of such sales less all expenses shall be deposited into the appropriate
revenue itermn of the Awthority’s accounts.

CONFIDENTIALITY

Every person having an official duty ar being employed in the work of the Committees
shall regard and deal with all documents and information relating thereto as
corfidential. -

IVPROPER INDUCGEMENTS

Any person, firm, company partnership or employee or agent thereof  who, with the
interition of gaining any advantage or concession for himself or &ny other pérson, firm,
company or pafinership difeclly or indirectly, offers any member of a committee or
officer of the Authority or any employes, agent or relafive of such member, officer or
employse, a ¢ift of moriey or other thing, or improperly approaches such person with
respact to any matter that is before any committes or financlal authority conceming

aqy tofider Or confract shall be disqualified from the tender process or award of

ADOPTION OR AMENDMENT OF RULES

These Rules may be adopted, rescinded or amended by resolution of the Board, due
notice having been given of the proposat to adopi, rescind or amend these Rules.

PROCUREMENT OF GOODS, SERVICES AND WORKS NOT EXCEEDING
$200,000.00 IN VALUE

Subject o clauses 18 artd 18 above, ali procurement of goods, services and works not
excesding $2‘OO,.OOG.G€}: must be done on a compstitive basls and n accordance with
the Autharity's purchiasing policies and procedures,

A Manager is delegated financial authority to invite tenders and award confracts up fo
the sum of $20,000.00 in ascordance wiih his financial authority and shall submit {o
the Generzl Manager on & monthly basis a summary of these tenders reccaived and
contracts awarded. '

.18 -
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A Deputy Generaf Manager is delegated financiaj authority to invite fenders and award
contracts up to the sum of $50,000.00 and shall submit to the General Manager on g
monthly basis, a summary of thesa tenders recefved and contracts awarded,

The General Manager is delegated finaneial authoriy to. issue tenders and award
centracts up f@fh‘e sum of $200,680.00 in accerdance with his financial aufhority and
shall stibmit to the Management Tenders Committes on a monthly basis, g Surmary
of these tenders recsived and contracts awarded,

Receipt of Tenders

Tendets for goods, senvices or works not exceeding $200,800.00 shall be sealed in an
envelope and placed in a tender box which shall ba located in the relevant divisions or
depaftments.

Late submissions shallnot be considered under any circumstance.

Opening of Tenders

The Tender box shali be opened mmediately after the closing of the Tender as
Tollows:

in the case of tendars not exceading $50,000.00 in the presence of:
a. the appropridte Depufy General Manager

b. Corporate Secretary or in his absence his designate

c. Financial Contralier orin his absence his desighats

Inthe case of tenders not exceeding $20,000.00 of

a.  The appropriate Manager

b.  Corporate Secretary or in his absernce his designate

G. The Financlal Cortroller or in his absence his designate
The number of tenders received shalt be recorded.

Evaluation of Tenders

The Tenders recelved shall be svaluated by a tagm comprising the following
members: N

~10.
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2591 In the case of the fenders not excesding $200,000.00, the General Manager or his

25.9.2

25.9.3

260

26.1

263

284

265

diesignate and at least two other members selected by the General Manager with the
relevant competence in the subject matier fo be evaluated.

Ly the case of tenders not exceeding $56,000.00, the appropriate Deputy General
Nanager, and at least two other members selected by the appropriate Deputy General
Manager with the relevant competence in the subject matter fo be evaluated.

In the case of tenders not exceeding $72G,OBG.OG, the appropriate Manager and at
least one member of the relevant department and one member nominated from the
Puichesing er Finance Department.

REGISTRATION AND DE-REGISTRATION OF CONTRACTORS

The Commniittee
There shall be established a Registration Commitise which shall comprise of the
following raembers:

The Deputy Genesral-Manager — Corporate Services as the Chairman

The Peputy General Manager — Estates Planning and Business Development
The Deputy General Manager, Operations, PIA

The Deputy General Manager, Operations, CPIA

Ths Financiat Controlier

00T

D — T Gorsbtate Setretaty oriivdetignits st be e S soratEn ot the ComATss.

Finctions of the Comimittes
T he functions of the Registration Commities are:

a. To approve fhe registration of new confraciors and all other matters incidental to
their status.

b. Totake disciplinary asiion against contractors.

c. Toapprove fhe de-registration of contractors

A quorum shat be two members and the Chairman.

Iy the absence of the Deputy General Manager, Corporate Services, the members
shall select one of the attending members fo chalr the mesting.

Fegistration

£t applications for registration as a Centractar shall be submitted to the Corporate
Secretary.
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28.7 The Corporate Secretary shall fssue g pre-qualiiication questionnaire fo the applieant,
The guestionnaire shalf be cempleted and refurned to the Corparate Secretary

26.8  The applicant shall be issued with an acknowledgement indicating the time frame for
progessing.

. 289 A copy of the questiennaire shall be forwarded to the refevant division er tepartment

n to verify the applicant's resources and make the necessary recommendations with
respect to the calegory and financial Capacity. The recommendation must be cerlified
by the head of the deparimient.

2610 All eomploted cguqﬁ-iom&ﬁres and recommendations shal] be submitted 1o the
Registration Carnmittes for its deliberation and decision,

;26,11  The decision of the Registration Committes shal] be communicated to al applicants,

26.12  Successful applicants will be assigned a contractor registration number and placed on
the Authority's L.ist of Registered Contractors for the purpose of selsciive tendering.

List of Registered Contiactors
26.13  The Authority shall maintain a list of the Registered Contractors.

26.14  Where selactive tendering has been approved for the procurement of goods, services
Orworks the contractors shall be selected from the List of Registered Contractors,

T 3 [elrtiosy frac:fﬁ?’s’ “"“‘”“““’““““‘“” EEA *“—"“““‘“’“-”“” TR
26.15  Where more thian the required number of contractors s listed for a relevant catagory

for thie purpose of Inviting selective tenders, the contractors will be divided into

) batches of the requisite numbers and rotated to ensure that each contractor listed hag
an equal opportumity to tender for goods, services or works at the Authority.

28.16  [twil bs the discretion of the Corporate Secretary to declide whether Contractors who
have existing confracts for a category of services or works are invited to tender for the

i same category of services or works with fhe Authority.
Change of Narme

1 2847 A conbactor may apply to have its name changed on the List of Registered
Contractors by submitting the following docuiments, where appiicable:

a,  Cerificate of Amendment and Articles of Amendment

b.  Alstler signed by a parineror principal indicating the name change and the date
of change.

G Aletier signed by the owner, indicating the name change and dafa of change.

. 26,18 All changes must be reviewsd by the lsgal depariment before submission to the

-21 -
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Registraztion Commitiee for approval.

De-registration B
26.19 The Rexgisiralion Commiltee shall make recommendations to the Board Tenders
Committee for the removal of confractors frem the List of Registered Coniractors.
26.20 The Regristration Commitlee in iis deliberation may refer to the following:

a. Failure to submif a tender on three (3) consecutive oceasions of invitation having
been invited by the Authority so to do. :

‘b, Urisatisfactory performance of contract

c. 'Refusing to exscute a contract at tendered prices

d. Fallure {o provide insurance coverage for the durafion of the contract.
a. Failure fo observe the agreed ferms and conditions of coniract.

f. Non-adherence fo the Au‘fhority's safely regulations

g. Notification of the Contractor's bankruptey by the Registrar of Companies.
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